On September 23, 2014, the City Commission authorized the issuance of Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds – Series 2014 (Series 2014 bonds), per City Ordinance No. 2014-50. The Series 2014 bonds were subsequently issued on September 26, 2014. The Series 2014 bonds were issued for the purpose of providing funds sufficient to accomplish the current refunding of the City's outstanding Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2006B, which had an outstanding balance in the amount of \$17,945,000. As a result of the refunding the Series 2006B bonds are considered fully refunded and the outstanding balance has been removed from the financial statements. The City has pledged future water and sewer customer gross revenues, net of specified operating expenses (net revenues), to repay the Series 2014 bonds. The bonds are payable solely from water and sewer customer net revenues and are payable through 2020. The interest on the Series 2014 bonds is 1.68% through July 1, 2020, the scheduled maturity of the bonds.

CITY OF POMPANO BEACH,
BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of OX CACOACO No. 2014—50

#### CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA

WATER AND SEWER REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2014

**ORDINANCE NO. 2014-50** 

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 1.	AUTHORITY FOR THIS ORDINANCE; DEFINITIONS
SECTION 2.	FINDINGS
SECTION 3.	APPROVAL AND AUTHORIZATION OF REFUNDING OF REFUNDED BONDS; APPROVAL AND AUTHORIZATION OF THE 2014 BOND; AUTHORIZATION OF REDEMPTION OF REFUNDED BONDS AND CONDITIONAL NOTICE OF SUCH REDEMPTION; AUTHORIZATION OF APPLICATION OF AMOUNTS ON DEPOSIT WITH RESPECT TO THE REFUNDED BONDS; :LATE CHARGES AND DEFAULT RATE
SECTION 4.	REDEMPTION PROVISIONS
SECTION 5.	EXECUTION OF THE 2014 BOND; APPROVAL OF ESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENT
SECTION 6.	SALE OF THE 2014 BOND; ROLE OF LENDER11
SECTION 7.	APPLICATION OF THE PROCEEDS OF THE 2014 BOND 12
SECTION 8.	APPOINTMENT OF PAYING AGENT AND BOND REGISTRAR 13
SECTION 9.	PARTICULAR COVENANTS
SECTION 10.	TAX COVENANT
SECTION 11.	GENERAL AUTHORITY
SECTION 12.	SEVERABILITY AND INVALID PROVISIONS
SECTION 13.	BOND ORDINANCE TO CONTINUE IN FORCE
SECTION 14.	EFFECTIVE DATE
	EXHIBITS
EXHIBIT B EXHIBIT C EXHIBIT D	FORM OF 2014 BOND

#### **ORDINANCE NO. 2014-50**

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF ITS NOT EXCEEDING \$19,000,000 CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA WATER AND SEWER REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2014 AS ADDITIONAL PARITY OBLIGATIONS UNDER ORDINANCE NO. 87-35 ENACTED BY THE CITY ON APRIL 21, 1987, AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME, FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING FUNDS, TOGETHER WITH OTHER LEGALLY AVAILABLE FUNDS OF THE CITY, TO REFUND, ON A CURRENT BASIS, THE CITY'S OUTSTANDING WATER AND SEWER REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2006B AND PAY COSTS OF ISSUANCE OF THE 2014 BONDS; AUTHORIZING THE REDEMPTION OF THE OUTSTANDING SERIES 2006B BONDS; AUTHORIZING APPLICATION OF AMOUNTS ON DEPOSIT IN THE FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS ESTABLISHED FOR THE SERIES 2006B BONDS IN CONNECTION WITH THE REFUNDING THEREOF: FIXING CERTAIN TERMS AND DETAILS OF THE 2014 BONDS; AUTHORIZING EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE 2014 BONDS; APPROVING THE FORM, AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY, OF AN ESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENT AND APPOINTING AN ESCROW AGENT THEREUNDER; AUTHORIZING THE NEGOTIATED SALE OF THE 2014 BONDS TO REGIONS CAPITAL ADVANTAGE, INC. (THE "LENDER"); DIRECTING THE APPLICATION OF THE PROCEEDS OF THE 2014 BONDS; PROVIDING CERTAIN TERMS FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE LENDER: APPOINTING THE INITIAL PAYING AGENT AND BOND REGISTRAR FOR THE 2014 BONDS; AUTHORIZING OTHER REQUIRED ACTIONS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA:

SECTION 1. AUTHORITY FOR THIS ORDINANCE; DEFINITIONS. The City of Pompano Beach, Florida (the "City") is authorized to adopt this ordinance (the "2014 Ordinance") under the authority granted by the City Charter of the City, the Constitution and Statutes of the State of Florida, including particularly Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, as amended, and other applicable provisions of law. In consideration of the acceptance of the 2014 Bond (hereinafter defined) by those who shall own the same from time to time, the Bond Ordinance

(hereinafter defined) and this 2014 Ordinance shall be deemed to be and shall constitute a contract between the City and such Owners of the 2014 Bond. All capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Bond Ordinance or herein, unless otherwise provided or unless the context otherwise clearly requires. To the extent necessary to effectuate the terms and conditions hereof, the Bond Ordinance is hereby incorporated herein by this reference.

#### **SECTION 2. FINDINGS**. It is hereby found and determined that:

- A. The City owns and operates the System. Ordinance No.87-35 duly enacted by the City Commission of the City (the "City Commission") on April 21, 1987 (the "Original Bond Ordinance"), as amended by Ordinance Nos. 92-74 and 2000-65 duly enacted by the City Commission on September 29, 1992 and June 27, 2000, respectively (the "Amending Ordinances"), provides for the issuance of Bonds and Additional Parity Obligations for the purpose of financing the construction and/or acquisition of additions, extensions and improvements to the System and for refunding purposes.
- B. The Original Bond Ordinance, as amended by the Amending Ordinances, is referred to herein as the "Original Ordinance." The Original Ordinance, as amended by the hereinafter defined 2014 Amending Ordinance, is referred to herein as the "Bond Ordinance."
- C. The initial series of Bonds issued under the Original Bond Ordinance has matured. The City has previously issued its Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2006B as Additional Parity Obligations issued for refunding purposes under the Original Ordinance (the "Series 2006B Bonds"). The Series 2006B Bonds are currently outstanding in the

aggregate principal amount of \$17,945,000 (the "Refunded Bonds"). The Refunded Bonds are the only Additional Parity Obligations currently outstanding under the Original Ordinance.

- D. The City's Financial Advisor has previously advised the City that, based on current market conditions, there is an opportunity to realize present value debt service savings by accomplishing the current refunding of the Refunded Bonds through the issuance of the 2014 Bond. In furtherance thereof, the City invited qualified financial institutions to submit proposals to make a loan to the City by purchasing the 2014 Bond.
- E. The City Manager of the City and the City's Finance Director, in consultation with the City's Financial Advisor, determined that the proposal submitted by Regions Capital Advantage, Inc. (together with its permitted successors and assigns, the "Lender") provided the most favorable terms and conditions to the City with respect to the loan to be evidenced by the 2014 Bond. The Lender's proposal is in the form of a term sheet submitted to the City. Due to the present volatility of the market for tax exempt bonds such as the 2014 Bond, and the complexity of the transactions relating to the 2014 Bond, it is in the best interest of the City to sell the 2014 Bond to the Lender by a delegated, negotiated sale, rather than at a specified advertised date, in order to obtain the best possible interest rate for the 2014 Bond.
- F. The City deems it to be in its best interest to issue its Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 in the aggregate principal amount of not exceeding \$19,000,000 (the "2014 Bond") pursuant to the Bond Ordinance and to apply the proceeds thereof, together with other legally available funds of the City, to accomplish the current refunding of the Refunded Bonds and to pay costs of issuance of the 2014 Bond.

- G. The 2014 Bond shall be payable from and secured by a first lien on and pledge of the Net Revenues, on a parity with any Additional Parity Obligations that are hereafter issued under the Bond Ordinance in accordance with the terms and requirements thereof and Outstanding thereunder.
- H. All of the provisions, covenants, pledges and conditions in the Bond Ordinance, as supplemented hereby, shall be applicable to the 2014 Bond herein authorized and such 2014 Bond shall constitute "Additional Parity Obligations" issued for refunding purposes within the meaning of the Bond Ordinance.
- I. The Lender has not required, as condition to making the loan to be evidenced by the 2014 Bond, that the City make a deposit in connection with the 2014 Bond to the Reserve Account established under the Bond Ordinance. In view of the foregoing, and to provide the City with flexibility to determine whether any Additional Parity Obligations other than the 2014 Bond will be secured by a subaccount in the Reserve Account, and, if so secured, the amount to be deposited in such subaccount, the City will enact an ordinance (the "2014 Amending Ordinance") amending certain provisions of the Original Ordinance. The 2014 Amending Ordinance permits the 2014 Bond to be issued without being secured by the Reserve Account and provides flexibility for the City to determine whether to fund a subaccount in the Reserve Account in connection with the issuance of any Additional Parity Obligations other than the 2014 Bond and, if so funded, the amount to be deposited to such subaccount. The 2014 Amending Ordinance will become effective upon the issuance of the 2014 Bond.
- J. It is now appropriate to authorize the issuance of the 2014 Bond and to determine the terms and details thereof.

K. The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the 2014 Bond herein authorized and all sinking fund, reserve and other payments provided for in the Bond Ordinance shall be payable solely from the Net Revenues and, to the extent provided in the Bond Ordinance and herein, from the monies on deposit from time to time in the funds and accounts created under the Bond Ordinance (excluding any amounts on deposit in the Reserve Account, which shall not secure the 2014 Bond, and any amounts on deposit in the Rebate Fund) and it will not be necessary nor has there been authorized the levy of taxes on any property in the City to pay for same, and the 2014 Bond shall not constitute a lien upon any of the properties of the City, except the Net Revenues and the funds and accounts created under the Bond Ordinance (excluding any amounts on deposit in the Reserve Account, which shall not secure the 2014 Bond, and any amounts on deposit in the Rebate Fund), nor shall the 2014 Bond be secured by the credit or taxing power of the City or the general funds of the City not expressly pledged under the Bond Ordinance and hereunder.

SECTION 3. APPROVAL AND AUTHORIZATION OF REFUNDING OF REFUNDED BONDS; APPROVAL AND AUTHORIZATION OF THE 2014 BOND; AUTHORIZATION OF REDEMPTION OF REFUNDED BONDS AND CONDITIONAL NOTICE OF SUCH REDEMPTION; AUTHORIZATION OF APPLICATION OF AMOUNTS ON DEPOSIT WITH RESPECT TO THE REFUNDED BONDS; LATE CHARGES AND DEFAULT RATE.

(a) The City hereby approves and authorizes the current refunding of the Refunded Bonds.

- (b) Subject to the provisions of this Section 3 and the provisions of Section 6 hereof, the City hereby authorizes and approves the issuance of a series of Additional Parity Obligations in the initial aggregate principal amount of not exceeding \$19,000,000 to be known as the "City of Pompano Beach, Florida Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2014" for the purpose of providing funds, together with other legally available funds of the City, to refund the Refunded Bonds on a current basis and pay costs of issuance of the 2014 Bond. The 2014 Bond shall be secured by a first lien on and pledge of the Net Revenues, on a parity with any Additional Parity Obligations hereafter issued and outstanding under the Bond Ordinance. All provisions, covenants, pledges and conditions of the Bond Ordinance shall be applicable to the 2014 Bond. Prior to the issuance and delivery of the 2014 Bond, all of the requirements of the Bond Ordinance, including Section 17.R thereof, relating to the issuance of Additional Parity Obligations shall be satisfied.
- (c) The Lender is not requiring the City to secure the 2014 Bond by the Reserve Account or a subaccount therein and, accordingly, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Bond Ordinance, the 2014 Bond shall not be secured by the Reserve Account and there shall be no reserve account deposit in connection with the 2014 Bond.
- (d) The 2014 Bond shall be in substantially the form set forth as Exhibit A hereto. The 2014 Bond shall be issued as one fully registered Term Bond without a coupon in an authorized denomination equal to the outstanding principal amount of the 2014 Bond from time to time. The 2014 Bond shall mature on July 1, 2020 (the "Maturity Date"). Amortization Installments on the 2014 Bond shall be payable annually in accordance with the amortization schedule to be attached to the 2014 Bond, commencing on July 1, 2015 and each July 1 thereafter through the Maturity Date, subject to the earlier redemption in whole of the 2014

Bond. Interest on the outstanding principal amount of the 2014 Bond shall be payable on each January 1 and July 1 (each, an "Interest Payment Date") commencing on January 1, 2015 through the Maturity Date or earlier date on which the 2014 Bond is redeemed in whole. Interest on the 2014 Bond shall accrue at the fixed rate of 1.68% per annum (the "Tax-Exempt Rate"), subject to adjustment to the Tax-Exempt Rate upon an "Event of Taxability" (as defined in the 2014 Bond), all as shall be more fully set forth in the 2014 Bond.

- (e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Bond Ordinance, the 2014 Bond shall not be held in book-entry only form.
- (f) The Refunded Bonds shall be redeemed by the City at the earliest practicable date following the issuance of the 2014 Bond at a redemption price of par, plus accrued interest, and without premium. The City hereby authorizes such redemption and authorizes, ratifies and confirms the delivery on behalf of the City of the letter, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, directing the escrow agent named in Section 5 hereof to give holders of the Refunded Bonds conditional notice of redemption prior to the date of issuance of the 2014 Bond.
- deposited to the escrow fund established for the Refunded Bonds (the "Escrow Fund") pursuant to the Escrow Deposit Agreement referred to in Section 5 hereof, including from moneys on deposit in the funds and accounts established under the Bond Ordinance for the Refunded Bonds. The final par amount of the 2014 Bond and the specific amounts to be applied as aforesaid shall be as set forth in a certificate (the "City Certificate") of the Mayor of the City or his designee (the "Mayor") and/or the City Manager of the City or his designee (the "City Manager") delivered on the date of issuance of the 2014 Bond.

(h) With respect to all amounts payable to the Lender pursuant to the 2014 Bond, the Bond Ordinance or this 2014 Ordinance which are not paid on the due date, in the case of amounts payable on a specified date, or which are not paid within ten (10) days of written notice to the City, in the case of amounts payable on demand, the City agrees to pay to the Lender on demand (i) a late charge of five percent (5%) of any such amount or amounts which shall not have been paid within fifteen (15) days of the due date as specified above and (ii) interest on such amount or amounts at an interest rate equal to the Default Rate (as hereinafter defined) for each day from the specified date of payment, or the date of written demand for payment, as the case may be, to the date such payment is made. For purposes of the foregoing, the term "Default Rate" shall mean, as of any date of determination, a per annum rate of interest equal to the Lender's Prime Rate (as hereinafter defined), plus three percent (3.00%), provided, however, the Default Rate shall never exceed the maximum rate of interest permitted by law and the term "Prime Rate" shall mean the per annum rate which the initial Registered Owner's affiliate Regions Bank announces from time to time to be its prime rate as in effect from time to time, which each change in the Prime Rate being effective from and including the date such change is announced as being effective.

**SECTION 4. REDEMPTION PROVISIONS**. The City may prepay the principal amount of the Outstanding 2014 Bond, in whole or in part, on any date, at a redemption price equal to the par amount of the 2014 Bond to be prepaid, without premium, together with accrued interest thereon to the date of prepayment.

In the event of any partial redemption of the 2014 Bond, each partial redemption shall be applied first to accrued interest, and then to reduce Amortization Installments coming due in inverse order of maturities. Notice of such redemption, specifying the desired redemption date, shall be sent to the Registered Owner of the 2014 Bond at least thirty (30) business days prior to the date of redemption (the "Redemption Notice"). Notwithstanding any provision of the Bond Ordinance to the contrary, no other notice of redemption of the 2014 Bond is required, nor is any optional redemption of 2014 Bond required to be made on an Interest Payment Date or in any specified minimum amount. The City may revoke any Redemption Notice, once given, up to five (5) business days prior to the redemption date specified in the Redemption Notice; thereafter such Redemption Notice shall be irrevocable. In the event of any optional redemption of 2014 Bond in accordance with their terms, the City shall, in accordance with the Bond Ordinance, prior to the redemption date, withdraw from the Bond Amortization Fund and/or Sinking Fund and set aside in separate accounts (which may include subaccounts in the Bond Amortization Fund and/or Sinking Fund established for the 2014 Bond) the respective amounts required for paying the interest on, and the principal of, the 2014 Bond so called for redemption.

**SECTION 5. EXECUTION OF THE 2014 BOND; APPROVAL OF ESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENT.** The Mayor and City Manager are each hereby authorized and directed to execute, and the City Clerk of the City or his or her designee (the "City Clerk") is hereby authorized to attest, the 2014 Bond and such officers are further authorized to cause the corporate seal of the City to be imprinted or reproduced thereon and to deliver the 2014 Bond to the Bond Registrar for authentication and delivery. Execution of the 2014 Bond by the Mayor and City Manager shall constitute conclusive approval thereof. The Escrow Deposit Agreement relating to the Refunded Bonds, substantially in the form submitted at this meeting and annexed

hereto as Exhibit C (the "Escrow Deposit Agreement"), is hereby approved, with such insertions, modifications and changes as may be approved by the Mayor, in consultation with the City Attorney and Bond Counsel. Upon such approval, the Mayor is authorized and directed to execute, and the City Clerk is authorized and directed to attest, the Escrow Deposit Agreement and such officers are authorized and directed to cause the corporate seal of the City to be imprinted or reproduced thereon. The execution of the Escrow Deposit Agreement by the Mayor shall constitute conclusive evidence of the approval thereof. U.S. Bank National Association is hereby appointed to serve as escrow agent under the Escrow Deposit Agreement.

#### SECTION 6. SALE OF THE 2014 BOND; ROLE OF LENDER.

- awards the sale of the 2014 Bond to the Lender on a negotiated basis. The 2014 Bond is authorized to be sold to the Lender at a purchase price equal to the original aggregate principal amount of the 2014 Bond. As a condition to the delivery to the Lender of the 2014 Bond, the Lender shall deliver to the City a purchaser's letter, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D hereto, and submit to the City the Disclosure Statement and Truth-in-Bonding Statement required by Section 218.385, Florida Statutes, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E.
- (b) In connection with the purchase of the 2014 Bond, the Lender shall act solely as purchaser of the 2014 Bond for its own account (without a present intent to reoffer), and neither the Lender nor any of its affiliates shall act as a fiduciary for the City or in the capacity of broker, dealer, municipal securities underwriter or municipal advisor. Neither the Lender nor any of its affiliates has provided, and will not provide, financial, legal, tax, accounting or other

advice to or on behalf of the City with respect to the proposed issuance of the 2014 Bond. By enacting this 2014 Ordinance, the City hereby represents to the Lender that the City has sought and obtained financial, legal, tax, accounting and other advice (including as it relates to structure, timing, terms and similar matters) with respect to the proposed issuance of the 2014 Bond from its financial, legal and other advisors (including Public Financial Management, Inc., its financial advisor) and not the Lender or any of its affiliates.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the City acknowledges that (i) neither the Lender nor any of its affiliates have or are recommending an action to the City; (ii) neither the Lender nor any of its affiliates is acting as an advisor to the City, and none of the Lender and its affiliates owes a fiduciary duty pursuant to Section 15B of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, to the City; (iii) the Lender and its applicable affiliates are acting for their own respective interests; and (iv) the City has been advised and understands that it should discuss any information and material concerning the 2014 Bond with any and all internal or external advisors and experts that the City deems appropriate.

In connection with the Lender's purchase of the 2014 Bond, the City acknowledges and agrees that the Lender did not provide advice regarding the structure, timing, terms, and similar matters with respect to letters of credit, direct loans, municipal securities, or other extensions of credit that extends beyond the 2014 Bond, which the Lender will certify as a purchase for its own account.

SECTION 7. APPLICATION OF THE PROCEEDS OF THE 2014 BOND. The proceeds derived from the sale of the 2014 Bond shall be applied simultaneously with the

delivery thereof for the purposes stated in, and in a manner consistent with the City Certificate. The proceeds of the 2014 Bond used to pay costs of issuance of the 2014 Bond shall be deposited on the date of issuance of the 2014 Bond to a separate account, which account is hereby created and designated as the "2014 Bond Cost of Issuance Account." The specific amounts to be deposited into the 2014 Bond Cost of Issuance Account shall be set forth in the City Certificate. Any amounts remaining on deposit in the 2014 Bond Cost of Issuance Account on the date which is 180 days from the date of issuance of the 2014 Bond shall be transferred to the Bond Amortization Fund and/or Sinking Fund to pay the interest and Amortization Installment on the 2014 Bond next coming due.

U.S. Bank National Association is hereby appointed to serve as initial Paying Agent and Bond

SECTION 8. APPOINTMENT OF PAYING AGENT AND BOND REGISTRAR.

Registrar for the 2014 Bond. The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute, and the City

Clerk is hereby authorized to attest, without further act of the City, an agreement with such

Paying Agent and Bond Registrar as necessary to reflect the obligations of such Paying Agent

and Bond Registrar to accept and perform the respective duties imposed upon each, and to

effectuate the transactions contemplated by the Bond Ordinance, as supplemented hereby.

**SECTION 9. PARTICULAR COVENANTS.** While the 2014 Bond is Outstanding and the Lender is the Registered Owner thereof:

(a) notwithstanding the provisions of Section 16 of the Bond Ordinance, no modification or amendment of the Bond Ordinance, this 2014 Ordinance or of any resolution or

ordinance amendatory thereof or supplemental thereto or hereto may be made except with the

written consent of the Lender;

- (b) the City shall deliver to the Lender its comprehensive annual financial report no later than 210 days following the end of each Fiscal Year of the City and its annual budget within 30 days following the date of adoption thereof by the City Commission of the City;
- (c) the City shall provide the Lender with such additional information as may be reasonably requested by the Lender in connection with the Revenues, the System and the 2014 Bond;
- (d) the City knowingly, voluntarily, and intentionally waives any right it may have to a trial by jury, with respect to any litigation or legal proceedings involving the Lender based on or arising out of the Bond Ordinance, this 2014 Ordinance or the 2014 Bond, including any course of conduct, course of dealings, verbal or written statement or actions or omissions of any party which in any way relates to the Bond Ordinance, this 2014 Ordinance or the 2014 Bond;
- the City hereby ratifies, acknowledges and confirms all agreements, covenants and terms of the Bond Ordinance applicable to the 2014 Bond as Additional Parity Obligations and the obligations, covenants and agreements of the City under the 2014 Ordinance and the Bond Ordinance, including but not limited to the covenants in Section 17 thereof, shall be absolutely, unconditional and irrevocable, and the City covenants and agrees to timely pay in full in strict accordance herewith and therewith all amounts which may become due and owing and to timely observe and perform all agreements and covenants to be observed and performed by the City thereunder, such payment, observance and performance to be made hereunder under all circumstances. The City acknowledges that no act or omission of any kind at any time on the part of the Lender in respect of any matter whatsoever shall in any way affect or impair

any right, power or benefit of the Lender as a Bondholder under the Bond Ordinance or under this 2014 Ordinance;

- (f) the reference to "this Ordinance" in subsection M(3) of Section 17) of the Bond Ordinance shall be deemed to mean the Bond Ordinance, as supplemented by this 2014 Ordinance, for all purposes of the Bond Ordinance and this 2014 Ordinance with respect to the 2014 Bond; and
- (g) the City shall provide to the Lender (i) immediate notice by telephone, promptly confirmed in writing, of any event, action or failure to take any action of which the City has actual knowledge which constitutes an Event of Default under subsection M of Section 17 of the Bond Ordinance; and (ii) within thirty (30) days after service of process, written notice of all actions, suits and proceedings before any governmental authority, domestic or foreign, against the City relating to the System which, if such litigation were determined adversely, could have a material adverse effect on the System or the Revenues.

SECTION 10. TAX COVENANT. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Bond Ordinance, the City covenants with the holders of the 2014 Bond that it shall comply with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") necessary to maintain the exclusion of interest on the 2014 Bond from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation, including the payment of any amount required to be rebated to the U.S. Treasury pursuant to the Code, and, in particular, that it shall not make or direct the making of any investment or other use of proceeds of such 2014 Bond (or amounts deemed to be proceeds under the Code) in any manner which would cause the interest on such 2014 Bond to

be or become subject to federal income taxation, nor shall it fail to do any act which is necessary to prevent such interest from becoming subject to federal income taxation. The City further covenants that neither the City nor any other person under its control or direction will make any investment or other use of the proceeds of the 2014 Bond (or amounts deemed to be proceeds under the Code) in any manner which would cause the 2014 Bond to be a "private activity bond" as that term is defined in Section 141 of the Code (or any successor provision thereto), or an "arbitrage bond" as that term is defined in Section 148 of the Code (or any successor provision thereto) and that it will comply with such sections of the Code throughout the term of the 2014 Bond.

SECTION 11. GENERAL AUTHORITY. The Mayor, City Manager, City Clerk and any other proper officials of the City are hereby authorized to do all acts and things required of them by this 2014 Ordinance, the Bond Ordinance, the Escrow Deposit Agreement, or the 2014 Bond, or that may otherwise be desirable or consistent with accomplishing the full, punctual and complete performance of all the terms, covenants and agreements contained in any of the foregoing (including the purchase of investments for the Escrow Fund) and each member, employee, attorney and officer of the City is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver any and all papers and instruments and to cause to be done any and all acts and things necessary or proper for carrying out the transactions contemplated thereby.

SECTION 12. SEVERABILITY AND INVALID PROVISIONS. If any one or more of the covenants, agreements or provisions herein contained shall be held contrary to any express provision of law or contrary to the policy of express law, but not expressly prohibited or against public policy, or shall for any reason whatsoever be held invalid, then such covenants, agreements or provisions shall be null and void and shall be deemed separable from the

remaining covenants, agreements or provisions and shall in no way effect the validity of the other provisions hereof or of the 2014 Bond.

SECTION 13. BOND ORDINANCE TO CONTINUE IN FORCE. Except as herein expressly provided as to the 2014 Bond, the Bond Ordinance and all the terms and provisions thereof, are and shall remain in full force and effect.

**SECTION 14. EFFECTIVE DATE**. This 2014 Ordinance shall be effective as the date of its passage and enactment.

PASSED AND ADOPTED on first reading this 9th day of September, 2014.

PASSED AND ENACTED on second reading this 23rd day of September, 2014.

Bv

Presiding Office

City Clerk

My Z. CK

	FIRST READING	SECOND READING
MOTION	Comr. R. Hardin	Comr. R. Hardin
SECOND	Comr. B. Dockswell	Comr. C. Burrie
	Comr. C. Burrie	Comr. B. Dockswell
	Comr. W. Poitier	Comr. W. Poitier
	Vice Mayor G. Brummer	Vice Mayor G. Brummer
	Mayor L. Fisher	Mayor L. Fisher

STATE OF FLORIDA	)
	) SS
COUNTY OF BROWARD	)

l, Mary L. Chambers the duly qualified and acting City Clerk of the City Commission of the City of Pompano Beach, Florida, do hereby certify according to the official records of said City in my possession that the above and foregoing constitutes a true and correct excerpt from the minutes of the public meeting of the City Commission of said City held on September 23, 2014, including an Ordinance adopted at said meeting, insofar as said minutes pertain to the matters above set out.

I further certify that the yeas and nays taken on the passage of said Ordinance have been or will immediately be entered on the minutes of said City Commission and that provision has been made for the preservation and indexing of said Ordinance which is open for inspection by the public at all reasonable times at my office in said City.

WITNESS my official signature and the official seal of the City of Pompano Beach this 25th day of September, 2014. By: Z. Clerk

[SEAL]

#### EXHIBIT A

#### FORM OF 2014 BOND

REGISTERED NO. 1

\$			
Τ-	 	_	 

# UNITED STATES OF AMERICA STATE OF FLORIDA COUNTY OF BROWARD CITY OF POMPANO BEACH WATER AND SEWER REFUNDING REVENUE BOND, SERIES 2014

INTEREST RATE

MATURITY DATE

DATED DATE

1.68%

July 1, 2020

September 26, 2014

(subject to adjustment as provided herein)

REGISTERED OWNER: REGIONS CAPITAL ADVANTAGE, INC.

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: MILLION DOLLARS

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the City of Pompano Beach, Florida (hereinafter called "City"), for value received, hereby promises to pay to the registered owner designated above, or registered assigns, solely from the Net Revenues and other special funds hereinafter mentioned, on the Maturity Date specified above (unless this 2014 Bond, as hereinafter defined, shall have been called for redemption prior to maturity and payment of the redemption price shall have been duly made or provided for), the Principal Amount shown above and to pay, solely from such special funds, interest thereon from the Dated Date shown above at the Interest Rate per annum specified above (the "Tax-Exempt Rate"), subject to adjustment as provided herein), payable on January 1, 2015 and semiannually thereafter on July 1 and January 1 in each year through the Maturity Date shown above or earlier redemption in whole of this 2014 Bond. The interest due hereunder shall be computed based on a 360 day year of twelve (12) thirty (30) day months. The City shall pay to the Registered Owner on each July I, commencing July 1, 2015, payments of Amortization Installments sufficient to fully amortize the Principal Amount shown above through the Maturity Date or earlier redemption in whole of this 2014 Bond, based on the amortization schedule attached hereto, at which time the unpaid and outstanding Principal Amount, together with all accrued interest shall be due and payable. The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on this 2014 Bond are payable in lawful money of the United States of America.

Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, if for any reason the interest on this 2014 Bond becomes includable in the gross income of the Registered Owner for Federal income tax purposes as a result of an Event of Taxability (hereinafter defined), interest on the outstanding principal amount of this 2014 Bond shall bear interest from the earliest effective date of such Event of Taxability at a rate per annum equal to 2.35% per annum (the "Taxable Rate").

For purposes of the foregoing paragraph and this 2014 Bond, the term "Event of Taxability" shall mean, and shall occur when, (i) the Registered Owner receives written notice from the City, supported by a written opinion of bond counsel to the City, that interest on this 2014 Bond is Taxable (as hereinafter defined) or (ii) the Internal Revenue Service (the "Service") shall issue a final determination in writing that interest on this 2014 Bond is Taxable; provided, that an Event of Taxability shall not be deemed to have occurred until and unless the City is afforded reasonable opportunity (at the expense of the City and for a period not to exceed 2 years) to pursue any judicial or administrative remedy available to the City with respect to such determination and avail itself of such opportunity by appropriate proceedings diligently pursued.

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Taxability, the City shall pay to the Registered Owner:

- (1) additional interest on this 2014 Bond in an amount by which (i) the interest which would have accrued on this 2014 Bond at the Taxable Rate during the period beginning on the Taxability Date (hereinafter defined) and ending on the earlier to occur of the date of conversion to the Taxable Rate or the date of payment in full and retirement of this 2014 Bond, exceeds (ii) the interest actually paid on this 2014 Bond for such period; and
- (2) all costs, expenses, interest, penalties, attorneys' fees and other losses which shall have been paid or are payable by the Registered Owner as a result of such Event of Taxability.

For purposes of the foregoing, (i) the term "Taxable" shall mean that interest on this 2014 Bond is includable in gross income in the computation of federal income tax liability; provided that interest on this 2014 Bond shall not be deemed "Taxable" because interest is includable in any calculation of income for purposes of an alternative minimum tax or any other type of taxation other than the regular federal tax imposed on income; and (ii) the term "Taxability Date" shall mean the earliest date from which interest on this 2014 Bond is determined to be Taxable.

The obligation of the City to pay such additional interest and such other costs, expenses, interest, penalties, attorneys' fees and other losses shall survive, and remain in full force and effect from and after, the payment in full and retirement of this 2014 Bond and the termination of the Ordinance (as hereinafter defined).

The City shall promptly advise the Registered Owner in writing of any notice or inquiry received by it from the Service questioning the exemption from Federal income tax of the interest on this 2014 Bond and the Registered Owner shall promptly advise the City in writing of any such notice or inquiry by the Service received by it.

This 2014 Bond represents all of an authorized issue of "Additional Parity Obligations" of the City designated as its Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 (the "2014 Bond"), in the aggregate principal amount of \$\\$ of like date, tenor and effect, except as to number, interest rate and date of maturity, issued as Additional Parity Obligations for refunding purposes under the Ordinance (as hereinafter defined), for the purpose of providing funds, together with other legally available funds of the City, to: (i) refund, on a current basis, the City's outstanding Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2006B and (ii) pay the costs associated with the issuance of this 2014 Bond. The 2014 Bond is being issued under the authority of and in full compliance with the City Charter of the City, the Constitution and Statutes of the State of Florida, including particularly Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, as amended, and Ordinance No. 87-35 duly enacted by the City on April 21, 1987, as amended from time to time (the "Bond Ordinance"), as supplemented by Ordinance No. 2014-50 duly enacted by the City on September 23, 2014 (the "Series Ordinance" and together with the Bond Ordinance, the "Ordinance") and other applicable provisions of law, and is subject to all the terms and conditions of the Ordinance, the terms and conditions of which are hereby incorporated herein by this reference. Capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Ordinance, Modifications or alterations of the Ordinance or of any ordinances or Ordinances supplemental thereto may be made only to the extent and in the circumstances permitted by the Ordinance.

This 2014 Bond is issued as a registered Additional Parity Obligation without a coupon in an Authorized Denomination equal to the Outstanding principal amount of this 2014 Bond from time to time. This 2014 Bond and the interest thereon is payable solely from and secured by a first lien upon and pledge of the Net Revenues and the amounts on deposit in the funds and accounts established under the Bond Ordinance, excluding amounts on deposit in the Reserve Account which does not secure this 2014 Bond, and in the Rebate Fund, in the manner provided in the Ordinance.

The full faith and credit of the City is not pledged for the payment of this 2014 Bond and this 2014 Bond does not constitute an indebtedness of the City within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory provision or limitation. It is expressly agreed by the holder of this 2014 Bond that such holder shall never have the right to require or compel the levy or pledge of ad valorem taxes for the payment of the principal of and interest on this 2014 Bond or for the making of any sinking fund or other payment provided for in the Ordinance. This 2014 Bond and the indebtedness evidenced hereby shall not constitute a lien upon any other property of or in the City, but shall constitute a lien only upon the Net Revenues and the amounts on deposit in the funds and accounts established under the Bond Ordinance, excluding amounts on deposit in the Reserve Account which does not secure this 2014 Bond and the Rebate Fund, in the manner provided in the Ordinance.

Additional Parity Obligations on a parity with this 2014 Bond may be issued by the City from time to time upon the conditions and within the limitations and in the manner provided in the Bond Ordinance.

No deposit to the Reserve Account shall be made in connection with the issuance of this 2014 Bond and no subaccount in the Reserve Account shall be established under the

Ordinance for this 2014 Bond. This 2014 Bond shall not be secured by, or entitled to any benefit from, amounts held in the Reserve Account or any subaccount Reserve Account created therein for the benefit of Additional Parity Obligations issued under the Bond Ordinance.

The City may prepay the principal amount of this Outstanding 2014 Bond in whole or in part on any date, at a redemption price equal to the par amount of the 2014 Bond to be prepaid, without premium, together with accrued interest thereon to the date of prepayment. In the event of any partial redemption of this 2014 Bond each partial redemption shall be applied first to accrued interest, and then to Amortization Installments coming due in inverse order of maturities. Notice of redemption shall be given as provided in the Series Ordinance. On the date so designated for redemption, notice having been given in the manner and under the conditions hereinabove provided, and, monies for payment of the redemption price being held in separate accounts by an Authorized Officer or the Paying Agent in trust for the holders of this 2014 Bond or portion thereof to be redeemed, all as provided pursuant to the Ordinance, this 2014 Bond or portion thereof so called for redemption shall become and be due and payable at the redemption price provided for redemption of such 2014 Bond or portion thereof on such date, interest on this 2014 Bond or portion thereof so called for redemption shall cease to accrue, such 2014 Bond or portion thereof shall not be deemed to be Outstanding under the Ordinance and shall cease to be entitled to any lien, benefit or security under the Ordinance, and the holder of such 2014 Bond or portion thereof shall have no rights in respect thereof, except to receive payment of the redemption price thereof, including accrued interest to the date of redemption.

The original Registered Owner, and each successive Registered Owner of this 2014 Bond, shall be conclusively deemed to have agreed and consented to the following terms and conditions:

- (1) The Bond Registrar shall maintain the books of the City for the registration of this 2014 Bond as provided in the Ordinance. Further, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Ordinance, this 2014 Bond may only be transferred or assigned in whole, but not in part, provided that the proposed transferee or assignee delivers to the City a purchaser's certificate in form and substance identical to that delivered to the City by the initial Registered Owner hereof.
- (2) The City, the Paying Agent and the Bond Registrar shall deem and treat the person in whose name this 2014 Bond shall be registered upon the books kept by the Bond Registrar as the absolute owner of such 2014 Bond, whether such 2014 Bond shall be overdue or not, for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal of and interest on such 2014 Bond as the same becomes due, and for all other purposes. All such payments so made to any such Registered Owner or upon his order shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such 2014 Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid, and the City, the Paying Agent and the Bond Registrar shall not be affected by any notice to the contrary.
- (3) If less than all of this 2014 Bond is redeemed or defeased the City shall execute and the City, as Bond Registrar, shall authenticate and deliver, upon the surrender of this 2014 Bond, without charge to the Registered Owner, for the unpaid balance of the principal amount of this 2014 Bond so surrendered, a registered 2014 Bond in the appropriate Authorized Denomination.

Reference is made to the Ordinance for a more complete statement of the provisions thereof and of the rights and duties of the City and the Registered Owners. Copies of the Ordinance are on file and may be inspected at the office of the City Clerk. By the purchase and acceptance of this 2014 Bond, the Registered Owner hereof signifies assent to all of the provisions of the Ordinance.

This 2014 Bond is and has all the qualities and incidents of a negotiable instrument under the laws of the State of Florida. This 2014 Bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any security or benefit under the Ordinance until the Certificate of Authentication hereon shall have been executed by the Bond Registrar.

It is hereby certified and recited that all acts, conditions and things required to exist, to happen and to be performed, precedent to and in the issuance of this 2014 Bond exist, have happened and have been performed in regular and due form and time as required by the statutes and Constitution of the State of Florida applicable thereto; and that the issuance of this 2014 Bond, is authorized by and is in conformity with, and does not violate, any constitutional, statutory or charter limitation or provision.

[This Space Intentionally Left Blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Pompano Beach, Florida, has issued this 2014 Bond and has caused the same to be executed by the manual or facsimile signature of its Mayor and City Manager and its corporate seal or a facsimile thereof to be affixed, impressed, imprinted, lithographed or reproduced hereon and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of its City Clerk, all as of the Dated Date shown above.

(SEAL)	CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA		
	Mayor		
	City Manager		
ATTEST:			
City Clerk			

#### BOND REGISTRAR'S CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

This Bond represents the 2014 Bond delivered pursuant and described in to the within-mentioned Ordinance.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Bond Registrar
Ву:
Name:
Title:

DATE OF AUTHENTICATION: September 26, 2014

#### AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE

#### EXHIBIT B

#### DOCUMENTS RELATED TO CONDITIONAL NOTICE OF REDEMPTION

[LETTERHEAD OF CITY]

#### DIRECTION TO MAIL NOTICE OF REDEMPTION AND TO REDEEM

U.S. Bank National Association 200 South Biscayne Blvd. Suite 1870 Miami, FL 33131

Re: City of Pompano Beach, Florida Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2006B (the "2006B Bonds")

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned authorized representative of the City of Pompano Beach, Florida (the "City") hereby directs you, as the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent for the 2006B Bonds issued under Ordinance No. 87-37 enacted by the City on April 21, 1987, as amended, as supplemented by Ordinance No. 2005-57 enacted by the City on June 14, 2005 (collectively, the "Bond Ordinance"), to deliver to the holders of the outstanding 2006B Bonds a conditional notice of redemption in the form attached hereto (the "Redemption Notice"). The Redemption Notice shall be given at least thirty days prior to October 10, 2014 (the "Redemption Date"). You are directed to deliver such additional notices of redemption of 2006B Bonds at the times and to the parties as shall be required by the Bond Ordinance Indenture. The City further directs you to redeem the outstanding 2006B Bonds on the Redemption Date, subject to the deposit of moneys for that purpose with the escrow agent for the 2006B Bonds as described in the Redemption Notice.

All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Redemption Notice.

Dated this day of September, 2014.	·
	CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA
	By:
	City Manager

#### CONDITIONAL NOTICE OF REDEMPTION

City of Pompano Beach, Florida
Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2006B (the "2006B Bonds")
Dated Date: May 18, 2006
Original Aggregate Principal Amount: \$35,915,000

#### Outstanding 2006B Bonds To Be Redeemed:

Maturity			
(July 1)	Principal Amount	Interest Rate	CUSIP No.
2015	\$2,695,000	4.000%	732223DF6
2016	\$2,800,000	4.125%	732223DG4
2017	\$2,915,000	4.125%	732223DH2
2018	\$3,040,000	4.500%	732223DJ8
2019	\$3,175,000	4.500%	732223DK5
2020	\$3,320,000	4.500%	732223DL3

THIS CONDITIONAL NOTICE OF REDEMPTION IS HEREBY GIVEN pursuant to the provisions of Ordinance No. 87-37 enacted by the City on April 21, 1987, as amended (the "Master Ordinance"), as supplemented by Ordinance No. 2005-57 enacted by the City on June 14, 2005 (the "Series Ordinance" and, collectively with the Master Ordinance, the "Bond Ordinance") under which the 2006B Bonds were issued and secured that the outstanding 2006B Bonds shown above to be redeemed (the "Refunded Bonds") have been conditionally called for redemption on October 10, 2014 (the "Redemption Date") at a redemption price equal to 100% of such Refunded Bonds to be redeemed (the "Redemption Price"), plus interest accrued on the Refunded Bonds to the Redemption Date, and without premium, subject to the following paragraph.

As contemplated by Section 5 of the Series Ordinance, the redemption of the Refunded Bonds on the Redemption Date is expressly conditioned upon the deposit with U.S. Bank National Association, as escrow agent, on or prior to the Redemption Date, of moneys sufficient to pay, on the Redemption Date, the Redemption Price, plus interest accrued on the Refunded Bonds to the Redemption Date. This notice will be of no force and effect unless such moneys are so deposited.

Refunded Bonds held in book-entry form need not be presented. To receive payment of the Redemption Price, plus interest accrued on the Refunded Bonds to the Redemption Date, you must present your certificate(s) to us on or prior to the Redemption Date. The certificate(s) should be delivered to the following addresses:

By Mail: US Bank National Association Corporate Trust Services PO Box 64111 St. Paul, MN 55164-0111 By Hand or Overnight Mail: US Bank National Association Corporate Trust Services 111 Fillmore Ave E St. Paul, MN 55107

Important: The provisions of the Jobs and Growth Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2003 (the "Act") require Owners to submit their Taxpayer Identification Number, (either their social security or employer identification number, as appropriate) with each Refunded Bond presented for payment (whether by purchase or redemption). Failure to comply will subject the payment of the principal portion to the withholding of twenty-eight percent (28%) of such principal portion. To avoid being subject to such withholding, Owners should submit an IRS Form W-9 at the time the Refunded Bonds are presented for payment. Form W-9 is available from your local bank or broker.

\*CUSIP numbers are included solely for the convenience of owners of the Refunded Bonds. Neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall have any responsibility with respect to the selection or use of any CUSIP number, nor is any representation made as to the correctness or accuracy of any CUSIP Number, either as printed on the Refunded Bonds or as contained in this Conditional Notice of Redemption.

Dated as of this	day of	, 2014.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Bond Registrar and Paying Agent

#### **EXHIBIT C**

#### FORM OF ESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENT

## ESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENT DATED AS OF SEPTEMBER 26, 2014

**BETWEEN** 

THE CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA

AND

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
AS ESCROW AGENT

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>Pag</u>	<u>e</u>
SECTION 1.	RECITALS; SCHEDULES	2
SECTION 2.	CREATION OF ESCROW FUND	2
SECTION 3.	DEPOSIT OF MONEYS AND INVESTMENT AND REINVESTMENT THEREOF	2
SECTION 4.	ESCROW FUND CONSTITUTES IRREVOCABLE TRUST FUND	3
SECTION 5.	TRANSFERS FROM ESCROW FUND	3
SECTION 6.	REINVESTMENT OF CERTAIN MONEYS REMAINING IN ESCROW FUND.	3
SECTION 7.	PAYMENT TO ESCROW AGENT; LIABILITY OF ESCROW AGENT	4
SECTION 8.	INDEMNIFICATION	5
SECTION 9.	RESIGNATION, DISCHARGE, REMOVAL, MERGER OF ESCROW AGENT	6
SECTION 10.	NOTICES	7
SECTION 11.	TRANSFER OF FUNDS AFTER ALL PAYMENTS REQUIRED BY THIS AGREEMENT ARE PROVIDED FOR OR MADE	8
SECTION 12.	TERMINATION	8
SECTION 13.	AMENDMENTS	8
SECTION 14.	MISCELLANEOUS	9
	SCHEDULES	
SCHEDULE A SCHEDULE B	Schedule of Debt Service on Refunded BondsExhibit A-Notices of Defeasance and RedemptionExhibit B-	

#### ESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENT

This **ESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENT** (the "Agreement") is dated as of September 26, 2014 and is entered into by and between the **CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA**, a municipal corporation of the State of Florida (the "City") and **U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION**, Miami, Florida, as escrow agent (the "Escrow Agent").

#### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the City is a municipal corporation of the State of Florida; and

WHEREAS, the Escrow Agent is a national banking association with fiduciary powers, having a designated corporate trust office in Miami, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the City has previously issued and sold its Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2006B currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of \$17,945,000 (the "Refunded Bonds") pursuant to Ordinance 87-35 enacted by the City on April 21, 1987, as amended (the "Master Ordinance") as supplemented by Ordinance No. 2005-57 enacted by the City on June 14, 2005 (the "Series Ordinance" and, collectively with the Master Ordinance, the "2006 Bond Ordinance"); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Master Ordinance, as supplemented by Ordinance No. 2014-50 enacted on September 23, 2014 (the "2014 Ordinance") with respect to the 2014 Bonds (hereinafter defined), City has authorized the current refunding and redemption of all of the Refunded Bonds; and

WHEREAS, in order to provide for the payment of the Refunded Bonds, the City has authorized the issuance of its \$17,355,000 Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 (the "2014 Bonds") pursuant to the Master Ordinance, as supplemented by the 2014 Ordinance (collectively, the "2014 Bond Ordinance"); and

**WHEREAS**, a sufficient portion of the proceeds of the 2014 Bonds, together with other funds of the City lawfully available therefor, will be deposited in the trust fund created herein and used to satisfy the obligations of the City evidenced by the Refunded Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the moneys deposited in the trust fund created herein will be sufficient to pay the principal and interest coming due on the Refunded Bonds by optional redemption thereof on October 10, 2014, after giving requisite conditional notice of redemption as required by the Bond Ordinance (the "Redemption Date"), such payment and redemption to be irrevocably provided for herein; and

**WHEREAS**, the City and the Escrow Agent desire to enter into this Agreement to provide for the taking of certain actions so as to accomplish the payment of the Refunded Bonds;

**NOW, THEREFORE,** in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby covenant and agree as follows:

**SECTION 1. RECITALS; SCHEDULES.** The City represents that the foregoing recitations are true and correct and are hereby incorporated into this Agreement by reference thereto. All Schedules annexed hereto shall without further referral be deemed incorporated herein and made a part hereof.

#### SECTION 2. CREATION OF ESCROW FUND.

- (a) Receipt of a copy certified in writing by the City to be a true and correct copy of the 2006 Bond Ordinance and the 2014 Bond Ordinance are hereby acknowledged by the Escrow Agent. Reference or citation herein to any provisions of the 2006 Bond Ordinance or the 2014 Bond Ordinance shall be deemed to incorporate the same as a part hereof in the same manner and with the same effect as if the same were fully set forth herein.
- (b) The City hereby exercises the right granted by the 2006 Bond Ordinance to refund and defease the Refunded Bonds and to discharge and satisfy its obligations to the Owners (as defined in the 2006 Bond Ordinance) of the Refunded Bonds.
- (c) There is hereby created and designated a special and irrevocable escrow fund to be known as the "Pompano Beach, Florida Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2006B Escrow Fund" (the "Escrow Fund"). The Escrow Fund shall be held in the custody of the Escrow Agent, in its capacity as a fiduciary and escrow agent, as a trust fund for the benefit of the holders of the Refunded Bonds. The Escrow Fund shall be held by the Escrow Agent separate and apart from other funds of the City or the Escrow Agent.

### SECTION 3. <u>DEPOSIT OF MONEYS AND INVESTMENT AND REINVESTMENT THEREOF.</u>

- (a) Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, the City herewith deposits and the Escrow Agent hereby acknowledges receipt from the City of \$18,157,470.16 (which consists of \$17,290,565.47 of the proceeds of the 2014 Bonds and \$866,904.69 in the Sinking Fund established under the Master Ordinance). The foregoing amounts are hereby referred to as the "Total Cash."
- (b) The Escrow Agent is hereby directed to hold the Total Cash uninvested, except as otherwise provided herein. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Total Cash held by the Escrow Agent will be deemed invested for purposes hereof at the federal funds rate in effect from time to time during the period during which the Escrow Agent holds such Total Cash, all or in part, and the amounts deemed earned thereon shall be treated as Escrow Agent fees payable to Escrow Agent hereunder.
- (c) The City represents that the Total Cash will be sufficient to pay, upon the redemption thereof, the principal and interest on the Refunded Bonds in accordance with the

schedule set forth on Schedule A attached hereto and, accordingly, the Refunded Bonds shall be deemed refunded and defeased and no longer entitled to the covenants, agreements, obligations and liens of the City under the 2006 Bond Ordinance. The Escrow Agent makes no representations regarding the adequacy of any deposit under the Escrow Agreement, and, provided the Escrow Agent has complied with its obligations hereunder it shall not be liable for any deficiencies in any deposit under the Escrow Agreement, and shall not be required to make disbursements from the Escrow Fund except from funds deposited therein by the City.

## SECTION 4. ESCROW FUND CONSTITUTES IRREVOCABLE TRUST FUND.

The Escrow Agent shall apply the Total Cash in accordance with the provisions hereof. The Escrow Agent shall have no power or duty to invest any cash held hereunder or to sell, transfer, substitute or otherwise dispose of the Escrow Securities held hereunder, except as provided in this Agreement. The Escrow Agent, acting in its capacity as escrow agent, agrees that the Total Cash on deposit in the Escrow Fund will be held in trust for the holders of the Refunded Bonds and kept separate and distinct from all other funds of the City and Escrow Agent. The Escrow Fund created hereby shall be irrevocable and the holders of the Refunded Bonds shall have an express lien on and security interest in all amounts deposited in the Escrow Fund, until used and applied in accordance herewith. The City shall take or cause to be taken all action necessary to preserve the aforesaid security so long as any of the Refunded Bonds remain unpaid.

SECTION 5. TRANSFERS FROM ESCROW FUND. The City hereby directs, and the Escrow Agent hereby agrees, to take all actions required to be taken by it under the 2006 Bond Ordinance in order to effectuate this Agreement and to pay the Refunded Bonds, in the amounts and at the times provided in Schedule A attached hereto. The Escrow Agent shall, no later than the interest or principal payment or redemption date for the Refunded Bonds, transfer solely from funds on deposit in the Escrow Fund to the paying agent for the Refunded Bonds amounts sufficient to pay, when due, the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Refunded Bonds, all as specified on Schedule A hereto.

# SECTION 6. REINVESTMENT OF CERTAIN MONEYS REMAINING IN ESCROW FUND.

- (a) At the written direction of an authorized officer of the City, and upon compliance with clause (b) hereof, the Escrow Agent may invest in direct obligations of the United States of America (the "Escrow Securities"), from time to time, any uninvested cash in the Escrow Fund not immediately needed to make payments of principal and interest on the Refunded Bonds as specified on Schedule A hereto. Subject to compliance with clause (b) hereof, any interest income resulting from investment of monies pursuant to this clause (a) shall be transferred to the City as its absolute property, free from the trust created by the 2006 Bond Ordinance, the 2014 Bond Ordinance and this Agreement.
- (b) The foregoing transaction may be effected only if: (i) in the opinion of counsel with expertise in the field of tax-exempt finance such transactions will not, under the statutes, rules and regulations then in force and applicable: (A) cause the interest on the Refunded Bonds and 2014 Bonds not to be excluded from gross income for federal income

tax purposes; or (B) violate any provisions of Florida law or of any documents, instruments or resolutions of the City relating to the Refunded Bonds; and (ii) a nationally recognized firm of independent certified public accountants shall certify to the City and Escrow Agent that the cash remaining on hand in the Escrow Fund after the transactions are completed, together with the maturing principal of the Escrow Securities and interest due thereon, will be sufficient to pay when due the Refunded Bonds, upon the redemption thereof, all of the principal of and interest on the Refunded Bonds. The City shall pay the costs of providing such opinions and certifications together with all fees and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses) incurred by the Escrow Agent in connection with such foregoing transactions (it being agreed that additional Escrow Agent fees will be due and payable to Escrow Agent if the amounts in the Escrow Fund are invested).

(c) The Escrow Agent covenants to take no action in the investment, reinvestment or security of the Escrow Fund other than as provided for in this Agreement; provided, however, the Escrow Agent shall be under no duty to inquire whether the Escrow Securities as deposited in the Escrow Fund are properly invested under the Code, and provided further that the Escrow Agent may rely in good faith on and shall have no liability for following any or all specific directions in this Agreement or otherwise given by the City or bond counsel in the investment or reinvestment of the Escrow Fund.

# SECTION 7. PAYMENT TO ESCROW AGENT; LIABILITY OF ESCROW AGENT.

- (a) The City hereby appoints the Escrow Agent as escrow agent under this Agreement and, by execution of this Agreement, the Escrow Agent accepts the duties and obligations as escrow agent hereunder. The Escrow Agent further represents that it has all the requisite power, and has taken all corporate actions necessary, to enter into and execute this Agreement.
- (b) The Escrow Agent agrees to pay solely from moneys on deposit in the Escrow Fund, the principal, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Refunded Bonds as aforesaid notwithstanding any failure by the City to pay when due any fees or expenses of the Escrow Agent or any paying agent relating to the Refunded Bonds. It is expressly understood that any such fees or expenses incurred by the Escrow Agent acting as escrow agent hereunder will be reimbursed by the City.
- (c) In consideration of the services rendered by the Escrow Agent under this Agreement, the Issuer agrees to and shall pay a one-time fee of \$250 to the Escrow Agent, and any other fees and expenses as agreed to in writing by the parties hereto.
- (d) The Escrow Agent shall not be liable in connection with the performance of its duties hereunder except for its own gross negligence or willful misconduct or failing to comply with any of its obligations hereunder. The Escrow Agent shall not be liable for any loss resulting from any investment made pursuant to the terms and provisions of this Agreement. The Escrow Agent shall not incur any liability with respect to: (i) any action

taken or omitted to be taken in good faith upon advice of its counsel or counsel to the City given with respect to any questions relating to the duties and responsibilities of the Escrow Agent hereunder; or (ii) any action taken or omitted to be taken in reliance upon any document, including any written notice or instructions provided for in this Agreement, not only reliance as to its due execution and the validity and effectiveness of its provisions but also as to the truth and accuracy of any information contained herein, which the Escrow Agent shall in good faith believe to be genuine, provided that such document has been signed or presented by the purported proper person or persons and conforms with the provisions of this Agreement.

- (e) The Escrow Agent acknowledges that it has no lien, security interest or right of set-off whatsoever upon the cash and Escrow Securities in the Escrow Fund for any such payment.
- (f) The Escrow Agent may act in reliance upon any signature believed by it to be genuine, and may assume that any person purporting to give any notice or receipt of advice or make any statements in connection with the provisions hereof has been duly authorized to do so.
- (g) The Escrow Agent may act relative hereto in reliance upon advice of counsel with expertise in the field of tax-exempt finance in reference to any matter connected herewith.
- (h) On or before November 15, 2014, the Escrow Agent shall submit to the City a report covering all money it shall have received and all payments it shall have made under the provisions of this Agreement. Such report shall also list any Escrow Securities on deposit with Escrow Agent on the date of the report and all cash held by it as proceeds of the collection of principal of and interest on any Escrow Securities on deposit in the Escrow Fund.

by law, to indemnify the Escrow Agent and hold it harmless from any and all claims, liabilities, losses, actions, suits or proceedings at law or in equity brought by third parties, or any other expenses, fees or charges of any character or nature which it may incur or with which it may be threatened by reason of such third party threats or proceedings, except in the case of Escrow Agent's own willful misconduct or gross negligence; and in connection therewith to indemnify the Escrow Agent against any and all expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees and the costs of defending any action, suit or proceeding or resisting any claim, including appellate proceedings.

The Escrow Agent shall not be required to institute or defend any action or legal process involving any matter referred to herein which in any manner affects it or its duties or liabilities hereunder unless or until requested to do so by the City and then only upon receiving full indemnity in an amount and of such character as it shall reasonably require, against any and all claims, liabilities, judgments, attorneys' fees and any other expenses of every kind in relation thereto,

including appellate proceedings. The indemnification described in this Section shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

# SECTION 9. <u>RESIGNATION, DISCHARGE, REMOVAL, MERGER OF</u> ESCROW AGENT.

(a) The Escrow Agent may be removed at any time by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing, executed by the Owners of not less than fifty-one percent (51%) in aggregate principal amount of the Refunded Bonds then outstanding, such instruments to be filed with the City, and notice in writing given by such Owners to all of the Owners of the Refunded Bonds, not less than sixty (60) days before such removal is to take effect as stated in such instrument or instruments. A copy of any instrument filed with the City under the provisions of this paragraph shall be delivered by first-class, postage prepaid mail by the City to the Escrow Agent.

The Escrow Agent may also be removed at any time for any breach of trust or for acting or proceeding in violation of, or for failing to act or proceed in accordance with, any provisions of this Agreement with respect to the duties and obligations of the Escrow Agent by any court of competent jurisdiction upon the application of the Owners of not less than five percent (5%) in aggregate principal amount of the Refunded Bonds then outstanding.

- (b) The Escrow Agent may be removed at any time with or without cause upon written notice by the City to the Escrow Agent delivered not less than sixty (60) days before such removal is to take effect.
- (c) The Escrow Agent may resign and be discharged of its duties hereunder provided that the Escrow Agent has given at least sixty (60) days' written notice to the City of such resignation, specifying the date when such resignation will take effect, but no such resignation shall take effect unless a successor Escrow Agent shall have been appointed in accordance with clause (d) below and the requirements of clause (e) below have been met, in which event such resignation shall take effect immediately.
- (d) If at any time hereafter the Escrow Agent shall resign, be removed, be dissolved or otherwise become incapable of acting, or shall be taken over by any governmental official, agency, department or board, or taken under the control of a receiver, or for any other reason, the position of Escrow Agent shall become vacant, the City shall immediately appoint an Escrow Agent to fill such vacancy. No successor Escrow Agent shall be a corporation with trust powers organized under the banking laws of the United States.
- (e) Every successor Escrow Agent appointed hereunder shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor and to the City an instrument in writing accepting such appointment hereunder and thereupon such successor Escrow Agent, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become fully vested with all the rights, immunities,

powers, trusts, duties and obligations of its predecessor. Such predecessor Escrow Agent nevertheless, on the written request of the City, shall execute and deliver an instrument transferring to such successor Escrow Agent all the estates, properties, rights, powers and trust of such predecessor hereunder. Furthermore, every predecessor Escrow Agent shall deliver all escrowed documents, cash and Escrow Securities held by it to the successor Escrow Agent; provided, however, that before any such delivery is required to be made, all fees, advances and expenses of the retiring or removed Escrow Agent shall be paid in full. Should any transfer, assignment or instrument in writing from the City be required by any successor Escrow Agent for more fully and certainly vesting in such successor Escrow Agent the estates, rights, powers and duties hereby vested or intended to be vested in the predecessor Escrow Agent, any such transfer, assignment and instruments in writing shall, on request, be executed, acknowledged and delivered by the City. The Escrow Agent shall not be responsible or obligated to act pursuant to this Agreement after the effective date of its removal as Escrow Agent hereunder.

(f) Any corporation into which the Escrow Agent, or any successor to it in the trust created by this Agreement, may be merged or converted or with which it or any successor to it may be consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any merger, conversion, consolidation or reorganization to which Escrow Agent or any successor to it shall be a party shall, if approved in writing by the City (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld), be the successor Escrow Agent under this Agreement without the execution or filing of any paper or any other act on the part of any of the parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding.

**SECTION 10. NOTICES.** The City hereby confirms its direction dated September , 2014 to U.S. Bank National Association, as Bond Registrar and Paying Agent for the Refunded Bonds to send, and the Escrow Agent hereby confirms that the conditional notice of redemption (the "Redemption Notice") in the form annexed hereto as Schedule B has been sent. The City hereby directs the Escrow Agent to send, and the Escrow Agent hereby agrees to send, the notice of defeasance (the "Defeasance Notice") in the form annexed hereto as Schedule B. The Redemption Notice was sent and the Defeasance Notice will be sent at the times and to the persons required by the Bond Ordinance, and containing the information set forth therein. The Redemption Notice was sent not less than thirty days and not more than sixty days prior to the Redemption Date by mailing a copy of the notice by first class mail, postage prepaid, to the registered Owners of the Refunded Bonds at their addresses appearing on the registration books of the Bond Registrar for the Refunded Bonds. The Defeasance Notice shall be delivered by mailing a copy of the notice by first class mail, postage prepaid, to the registered Owners of the Refunded Bonds at their addresses appearing on the registration books of the Bond Registrar for the Refunded Bonds. The City shall pay all costs associated with giving the Redemption Notice and Defeasance Notice as provided herein and the 2006 Bond Ordinance. The Defeasance Notice shall be sent promptly following the date hereof, but in no event later than ten (10) Business Days after the date hereof. The Escrow Agent confirms that additional redemption notices were given by U.S. Bank National Association to Owners of the Refunded Bonds and other parties as required by the 2006 Bond Ordinance.

THIS AGREEMENT ARE PROVIDED FOR OR MADE. Whenever all principal of, redemption premium and interest on all the Refunded Bonds have been paid, all excess cash and Escrow Securities in the Escrow Fund shall, at the written request of the City, be transferred by the Escrow Agent to the Trustee for deposit to the Bond Amortization Fund and/or Sinking Fund, to be applied as provided in the 2014 Bond Ordinance, free from the trust created by this Agreement. The Escrow Agent shall not invest or reinvest any of the cash or Escrow Securities to be so transferred until such transfer is complete.

**SECTION 12.** <u>TERMINATION</u>. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, this Agreement shall terminate when the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on all Refunded Bonds have been paid by the Escrow Agent to the Paying Agent. The Escrow Agent shall thereupon be released and discharged with respect hereto.

SECTION 13. <u>AMENDMENTS</u>. This Agreement is made for the benefit of the City and the Owners from time to time of the Refunded Bonds and it shall not be repealed, revoked, rescinded, altered, amended or supplemented in whole or in part without: (a) the written consent of the Owners of one hundred percent (100%) in principal amount of the unpaid Refunded Bonds at the time such proposed change is made; (b) the written consent of the Escrow Agent; and (c) the written opinion of counsel with expertise in the field of tax-exempt finance that such action will not materially adversely affect the rights of the Owners of the Refunded Bonds; provided, however, that the City and the Escrow Agent may, without the consent of, or notice to, such holders, enter into such agreements supplemental to this Agreement as shall not adversely affect the rights of such holders and shall not be inconsistent with the terms and provisions of this Agreement, for any one or more of the following purposes:

- (i) to cure any ambiguity or formal defect or omission in this Agreement; or
- (ii) to grant to or confer upon the Escrow Agent for the benefit of such holders any additional rights, remedies, powers or authority that may lawfully be granted to or conferred upon the Escrow Agent; or
  - (iii) to subject to this Agreement additional funds, securities or properties.

The Escrow Agent shall be entitled to rely exclusively upon an opinion of bond counsel with expertise in the field of tax-exempt finance with respect to compliance with this Section 13, including the extent, if any, to which any change, modification, addition or elimination affects the rights of such holders or that any instrument executed hereunder complies with the conditions or provisions of this Section 13. The City shall pay the costs of providing such opinion.

## SECTION 14. MISCELLANEOUS.

(a) All notices, demands or other communications given hereunder shall be in writing and shall only be deemed duly given upon mailing by United States registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

If to the City: City of Pompano Beach, Florida

100 W. Atlantic Boulevard Pompano Beach, Florida 33060

Attention: City Manager

If to the Escrow Agent: U.S. Bank National Association

200 S. Biscayne Boulevard, Suite 1870

Miami, Florida 33131

Attention: Corporate Trust Department

- (b) This Agreement may be signed in several counterparts. Each will be an original, but all of them together constitute the same instrument.
- (c) If any one or more of the covenants or agreements provided in this Agreement on the part of the City or the Escrow Agent to be performed should be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, such covenant or agreement shall be deemed and construed to be severable from the remaining covenants and agreements herein contained and shall in no way effect the validity of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.
- (d) All the covenants, promises and agreements in this Agreement contained by or on behalf of the City or by or on behalf of the Escrow Agent shall bind and inure to the benefit of their respective successors and assigns.
- (e) This Agreement shall be governed by the applicable law of the State of Florida.
- (f) This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, legatees, assigns and transferees, as the case may be. The Escrow Agent shall not be charged with notice or knowledge of any ancillary document, fact or information not specifically set forth herein. The Escrow Agent shall undertake to perform only such duties as are expressly set forth herein and no additional or implied duties or obligations shall be read into the Escrow Agreement against the Escrow Agent.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have each caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized officers and, in the case of the City, its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed and attested, in each case, as of the date first above written.

Attest:	CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA
	By:
City Clerk	Mayor
[SEAL]	
	U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Escrow Agent
	By:
	Title: Assistant Vice President

## **SCHEDULE A**

## SCHEDULE OF DEBT SERVICE ON REFUNDED BONDS

Period Ending

(Redemption Principal

<u>Date)</u> <u>Interest</u> <u>Redeemed</u> <u>Total</u>

10/10/14 \$212,470.16 \$17,945,000.00 \$18,157,470.16

### **SCHEDULE B**

#### FORMS OF NOTICES

#### NOTICE OF DEFEASANCE

City of Pompano Beach, Florida
Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2006B (the "2006B Bonds")
Dated Date: May 18, 2006
Original Aggregate Principal Amount: \$35,915,000

## Outstanding 2006B Bonds:

Maturity			
<u>(July 1)</u>	Principal Amount	Interest Rate	CUSIP No.
2015	\$2,695,000	4.000%	732223DF6
2016	\$2,800,000	4.125%	732223DG4
2017	\$2,915,000	4.125%	732223DH2
2018	\$3,040,000	4.500%	732223DJ8
2019	\$3,175,000	4.500%	732223DK5
2020	\$3,320,000	4.500%	732223DL3

**NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN** that for the payment of all unpaid principal and interest on the above-referenced outstanding 2006B Bonds (the "Refunded Bonds") there has been deposited in escrow with U.S. Bank National Association, Miami, Florida, as escrow agent, refunding bond proceeds and other funds which are held in cash.

Such cash has been calculated to be adequate to pay the unpaid principal and interest on the Refunded Bonds as same become due by optional redemption on October 10, 2014 (the "Redemption Date").

The Refunded Bonds are deemed to have been paid within the meaning of Ordinance No. 87-37 enacted by the City on April 21, 1987, as amended, as supplemented by Ordinance No. 2005-57 enacted by the City on June 14, 2005, under which the 2006B Bonds were issued and secured.

Important: The provisions of the Jobs and Growth Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2003 (the "Act") require Owners to submit their Taxpayer Identification Number, (either their social security or employer identification number, as appropriate) with each Refunded Bond presented for payment (whether by purchase or redemption). Failure to comply will subject the payment of the principal portion to the withholding of twenty-eight percent (28%) of such principal portion. To avoid being subject to such withholding, Owners should submit an IRS Form W-9 at the time the Refunded Bonds are presented for payment. Form W-9 is available from your local bank or broker.

*CUSIP numbers are included solely for the convenience of owners of the Refunded Bonds.
Neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall have any responsibility with respect to the selection or use of
any CUSIP number, nor is any representation made as to the correctness or accuracy of any CUSIP
Number, either as printed on the Refunded Bonds or as contained in this Notice of Defeasance.

Dated as of this \_\_\_\_ day of September, 2014.

**U.S. Bank National Association,** as Escrow Agent

### CONDITIONAL NOTICE OF REDEMPTION

City of Pompano Beach, Florida
Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2006B (the "2006B Bonds")
Dated Date: May 18, 2006
Original Aggregate Principal Amount: \$35,915,000

Outstanding 2006B Bonds To Be Redeemed:

Maturity			
(July 1)	Principal Amount	Interest Rate	CUSIP No.
2015	\$2,695,000	4.000%	732223DF6
2016	\$2,800,000	4.125%	732223DG4
2017	\$2,915,000	4.125%	732223DH2
2018	\$3,040,000	4.500%	732223DJ8
2019	\$3,175,000	4.500%	732223DK5
2020	\$3,320,000	4.500%	732223DL3

THIS CONDITIONAL NOTICE OF REDEMPTION IS HEREBY GIVEN pursuant to the provisions of Ordinance No. 87-37 enacted by the City on April 21, 1987, as amended (the "Master Ordinance"), as supplemented by Ordinance No. 2005-57 enacted by the City on June 14, 2005 (the "Series Ordinance" and, collectively with the Master Ordinance, the "Bond Ordinance") under which the 2006B Bonds were issued and secured that the outstanding 2006B Bonds shown above to be redeemed (the "Refunded Bonds") have been conditionally called for redemption on October 10, 2014 (the "Redemption Date") at a redemption price equal to 100% of such Refunded Bonds to be redeemed (the "Redemption Price"), plus interest accrued on the Refunded Bonds to the Redemption Date, and without premium, subject to the following paragraph.

As contemplated by Section 5 of the Series Ordinance, the redemption of the Refunded Bonds on the Redemption Date is expressly conditioned upon the deposit with U.S. Bank National Association, as escrow agent, on or prior to the Redemption Date, of moneys sufficient to pay, on the Redemption Date, the Redemption Price, plus interest accrued on the Refunded Bonds to the Redemption Date. This notice will be of no force and effect unless such moneys are so deposited.

Refunded Bonds held in book-entry form need not be presented. To receive payment of the Redemption Price, plus interest accrued on the Refunded Bonds to the Redemption Date, you must present your certificate(s) to us on or prior to the Redemption Date. The certificate(s) should be delivered to the following addresses:

By Mail: By Hand or Overnight Mail:

US Bank National Association Corporate Trust Services PO Box 64111 St. Paul, MN 55164-0111 US Bank National Association Corporate Trust Services 111 Fillmore Ave E St. Paul, MN 55107

Important: The provisions of the Jobs and Growth Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2003 (the "Act") require Owners to submit their Taxpayer Identification Number, (either their social security or employer identification number, as appropriate) with each Refunded Bond presented for payment (whether by purchase or redemption). Failure to comply will subject the payment of the principal portion to the withholding of twenty-eight percent (28%) of such principal portion. To avoid being subject to such withholding, Owners should submit an IRS Form W-9 at the time the Refunded Bonds are presented for payment. Form W-9 is available from your local bank or broker.

\*CUSIP numbers are included solely for the convenience of owners of the Refunded Bonds. Neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall have any responsibility with respect to the selection or use of any CUSIP number, nor is any representation made as to the correctness or accuracy of any CUSIP Number, either as printed on the Refunded Bonds or as contained in this Conditional Notice of Redemption.

Dated as of this \_\_\_\_ day of September, 2014.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Bond Registrar and Paying Agent

#### EXHIBIT D

#### FORM OF INVESTOR LETTER

2.0, 0	 270011, 1701100					
Re:	 City of Pompano	•	Water and	Sewer	Refunding	Revenue

### Ladies and Gentlemen:

City Commission

City of Pompano Beach, Florida

This letter is being provided in connection with the purchase of the above-referenced 2014 Bond which was delivered to us by the City of Pompano Beach, Florida (the "City") as of the date hereof.

- 1. We are engaged in the business of purchasing obligations similar to the 2014 Bond or the business of entering into loan transactions evidenced by obligations similar to the 2014 Bond.
- 2. We are purchasing the 2014 Bond from the City for our own account as evidence of a privately placed and negotiated loan and not for, with a current view to, or in connection with, any resale or distribution. We have no present plans or intentions to sell or transfer or otherwise dispose of any portion of the 2014 Bond. We understand that the 2014 Bond may be transferred or assigned in whole, but not in part, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the 2014 Bond. We will notify any proposed transferee or assignee from us of the resale restrictions set forth in the 2014 Bond.
- 3. We are a "qualified institutional buyer" as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "1933 Act"), and we have sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and business matters, including the purchase and ownership of taxable and tax-exempt obligations, to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of our purchase of the 2014 Bond.
  - 4. We are able to bear the economic risk of our purchase of the 2014 Bond.
- 5. We acknowledge that the 2014 Bond does not represent a general obligation of the City, the State of Florida or any political subdivision thereof and is not payable from taxes or any moneys provided by or to the City, other than those described in the 2014 Bond, and we further acknowledge that no covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement contained in any documents related to the issuance of the 2014 Bond is or shall be deemed to be a covenant, agreement or obligation of any present or future board member, officer or employee of the City in his or her individual capacity.

- 6. We acknowledge and agree that the 2014 Bond has not been and will not be registered under the 1933 Act or the securities or Blue Sky laws of any state and are not listed on any stock or securities exchange.
- 7. We understand that no offering, statement, prospectus, offering circular, official statement or other disclosure document containing material information with respect to the City and the 2014 Bond is being or has been prepared, and that, with due diligence, we have made our own inquiry and analysis with respect to the City, the 2014 Bond and the security therefor.
- 8. We have received all financial and other information regarding the 2014 Bond that we have requested and which we consider relevant or necessary to make an informed decision to purchase the 2014 Bond. We have made our own inquiry into the creditworthiness of the 2014 Bond and the City, we have received all the information that we have requested from the City or any agents or representatives thereof, and we have been afforded a reasonable opportunity to ask questions about the terms and conditions of the offering of the 2014 Bond and the security therefor, and the City, and have received, to the best of our knowledge, complete and satisfactory answers to all such questions.

Dated this 26<sup>th</sup> day of September, 2014.

Yours very truly,
REGIONS CAPITAL ADVANTAGE, INC.
By:
Title:

#### EXHIBIT E

#### FORM OF DISCLOSURE/TRUTH IN BONDING STATEMENT

City of Pompano Beach, Florida

Re: \$ \_\_\_\_\_ City of Pompano Beach, Florida Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Bonds, Series 2014 (the "2014 Bond")

City Commission

In connection with the proposed issuance of the above-captioned 2014 Bond, Regions Capital Advantage, Inc. (the "Lender") has agreed to purchase the 2014 Bond. All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the ordinance authorizing the issuance of the 2014 Bond (the "Series Ordinance").

The purpose of this letter is to furnish pursuant to the provisions of Sections 218.385(2) and (6), Florida Statutes, as amended, certain information in respect to the arrangement contemplated for the placement and sale of the 2014 Bond as follows:

(a) An itemized list setting forth the nature and estimated amounts of expenses to be incurred by the Lender in connection with the issuance of the 2014 Bond is set forth below:

Lender's Counsel Fee (Bryant Miller Olive, P.A.): \$\_\_\_\_ (paid by City)

- (b) No "finder" as that term is defined in Section 218.386, Florida Statutes, as amended, has entered into an understanding with the Lender for any paid or promised compensation or valuable consideration, directly or indirectly, expressly or implied, to act solely as an intermediary between the City and the Lender or to exercise or attempt to exercise any influence to effect any transaction in the purchase of the 2014 Bond.
  - (c) The underwriting spread to be paid by the City will be:

\$0.00

(d) No other fee, bonus or other compensation is estimated to be paid by the Lender in connection with the issuance of the 2014 Bond to any person not regularly employed or retained by the Lender (including any "finder," as defined in Section 281.386(1)(a), Florida Statutes, as amended), except as specifically enumerated as expenses to be incurred and paid by the Lender as set forth in paragraph (a) above.

(e) Truth-in-Bonding Statement – The Bond for the purpose of providing funds, together the City, to refund the City's outstanding Water Series 2006B (the "Refunded Bonds") and pay contain a series 2014 Bond is expected to be repaid over a period maturity on July 1, 2020 (the "Maturity Date"). A per annum through the Maturity Date, the total Bond will be \$	and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, osts of issuance of the 2014 Bond. The dof approximately years, through a ssuming an initial interest rate of%
The source of repayment or securit the Net Revenues of the System. The authorization the 2014 Bond will result in approximately being available to the City to finance other papproximately year period from the date of Maturity Date. According to the City, the Net Repayment of debt service on the Refunded Bonds.	of Net Revenues of the System not rojects of the City each year for the of issuance of the 2014 Bond to the
(f) The name and address of the Lende	er is set forth below:
Regions Capital Advanta 1900 5 <sup>th</sup> Avenue North, Su Birmingham, Alabama 3	ite 2400
We understand that the City does not require ar pursuant to Section 218.385(6), Florida Statutes, as amend	•
Dated as of this 26th day of September, 2014.	
	Yours very truly,
	REGIONS CAPITAL ADVANTAGE, INC.
	By:
	Title:

Financial Guaranty in 1993 terminates on July 1, 2013. The Reserve Account Policy in the amount of \$3,610,945 issued by Financial Guaranty in 2000 terminates on July 1, 2020, the scheduled final maturity date of the Series 2006 Bonds. This latter Reserve Account Policy will be sufficient to satisfy the Debt Service Reserve Requirement as it will exist from and after July 1, 2013 for the Series 2006 Bonds.

Generally, Financial Guaranty requires among other things, (i) that, so long as it has not failed to comply with its payment obligations under the Reserve Account Policies, it be granted the power to exercise any remedies available at law or under the authorizing document other than (A) acceleration of the Bonds or (B) remedies which would adversely affect holders in the event that the City fails to reimburse Financial Guaranty for any draws on the Reserve Account Policies, and (ii) that any amendment or supplement to or other modification of the principal legal documents be subject to Financial Guaranty's consent.

The Reserve Account Policies are not covered by the Property/Casualty Insurance Security Fund specified in Article 76 of the New York Insurance Law or by the Florida Insurance Guaranty Association (Florida Insurance Code, Sec. 631.50 et seq).

#### RATE COVENANT

The City has adopted a rate covenant and has covenanted in the Bond Ordinance to collect such fees, rentals and other charges for the use of the System as will always provide Gross Revenues in each Fiscal Year sufficient to pay one hundred twenty per centum (120%) of the Debt Service Requirement on the Series 2006 Bonds in such Fiscal Year, plus one hundred per centum (100%) of all reserve or other payments, including the Cost of Operation and Maintenance of the System and the payment of any Policy Costs.

#### ADDITIONAL PARITY OBLIGATIONS

No Additional Parity Obligations payable from the Net Revenues of the System on a parity with the Series 2006 Bonds shall be issued after the issuance of the Series 2006 Bonds except for the construction and/or acquisition of additions, extensions and improvements to the System, or for refunding purposes, and except upon the conditions and in the manner as follows:

A certificate of the Finance Director, shall be filed with the City, stating that the Net Revenues for the preceding Fiscal Year or twelve (12) consecutive months of the eighteen (18) months immediately preceding the date of sale of the Additional Parity Bonds are equal to at least 1.20 times the highest Debt Service Requirement in any succeeding Fiscal Year on (i) all bonds outstanding under the Bond Ordinance and all Additional Parity Obligations, if any, then outstanding; and (ii) the Additional Parity Obligations with respect to which such certificate is made and that such Net Revenues are equal to at least 100% of the Policy costs then due and owing under the Reserve Policy for the Series 2006 Bonds. The Net Revenues for such preceding Fiscal Year or twelve (12) month period may be adjusted by the Qualified Independent Consultant under certain conditions, for which reference is made to the Bond Ordinance set forth in full as Appendix B herein. The foregoing does not apply to Additional Parity Obligations issued for refunding purposes, provided that the Maximum Debt Service Requirement for all

Bonds issued under the Bond Ordinance that will be outstanding after issuance of such Additional Parity Obligations (excluding any bonds being defeased by proceeds of such Additional Parity Obligations) is not greater than the maximum Debt Service Requirement for all bonds issued under the Bond Ordinance that were outstanding prior to issuance of the Additional Parity Obligations for refunding purposes.

The City shall not be in default in performing any of the covenants and obligations assumed under the Bond Ordinance, and all payments required by the Bond Ordinance to have been made into the accounts and funds, as provided thereunder, shall have been made to the full extent required.

### ADDITIONAL COVENANTS

The City additionally covenants with the holders of the Series 2006 Bonds regarding, among other things, no mortgage or sale of the System, insurance, no free service, enforcement of collections, no competing facilities, and defeasance of the Series 2006 Bonds. For a more complete description of the covenants of the City, reference is made to the Bond Ordinance, attached hereto as Appendix B. Pursuant to the Bond Ordinance and a written agreement to be entered into by the City and the Bond Insurer, various provisions apply to the Series 2006 Bonds, while they are insured by the Bond Insurer, requiring certain information, reports and notices to be provided by the City to the Bond Insurer and imposing certain agreements, covenants and obligations upon the City for the benefit of the Bond Insurer. Among other matters, these provisions require the Bond Insurer to consent to certain actions that may have otherwise been permitted by the Bond Ordinance, consent in lieu of Bondholders to amendments and supplements to the Bond Ordinance and entitle the Bond Insurer, upon an event of default described in the Bond Ordinance, to control and direct the enforcement of rights and remedies granted to Bondholders pursuant to the Bond Ordinance.

[This Space Intentionally Left Blank]

# APPENDIX B

# BOND ORDINANCE NO. 87-35, AS SUPPLEMENTED AND AMENDED



CROINANCE NO. 87-35

AN CROINANCE O'DE CITY OF TOWPAND BEACH,
FLORIDA, COMBINING THE CITY'S WATER SYSTEM AND
SEWER SYSTEM INTO GNE COMBINED SYSTEM FOR
FINANCING PURPOSES, DATHORIZING THE REPURDING
OF FRESENTLY OUTSTANDING MATER SYSTEM REPURDING
STRUCTION AND ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONS,
STRUCTION AND ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONS,
STRUCTION AND ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONS,
STRESSING AND SEMEN SYSTEM, PROVIDING FOR THE
EXTENSIONS AND IMPROVEDENTS TO THE COMBINED
MATER AND SEMEN SYSTEM, PROVIDING FOR THE
EXTENSIONS OF THE CITY OF THE COMBINED
THE STRESSING STRESSING SYSTEM, PROVIDING FOR THE
EXTENSION SYSTEM, PROVIDING FOR THE
PROVIDENT OF SALE SHORT, STRESS 1917, OR SE
APPLIED TO SHORT PROVIDING AND MATING CONTROL
COVERNITS AND AGREEMENTS IN CONNECTION
TORROWITH FROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHERBAS, pursuant to law, ten (10) days' notice has been given by publication in a paper of general circulation in the City, notifying the public of this proposed ordinance and of a public hearing in the Commission Meeting Room of the City of Pompano Beach, Florida; and

WHEREAS, a public bearing before the City Commission was held pursuant to the published notice described above at which hearing the parties in interest and all other citizens so desiring had an opportunity to be and were in fact heard; now, therefore

BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY OF POMPANO BEACE, PLORIDA: EECTION 1. AUTHORITY FOR THIS ORDINANCE. This ordinance is enacted pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 166, Part II, Plorida Statutes, and other applicable provisions of law.

SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS. Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms defined in this section shall have the meanings specified in this section. Words importing singular number shall include the plural number in each case and vice versa, and words importing persons shall include firms and corporations.

- A. "Act' shall mean Chapter 165, Part II, Florida Statutes, and other applicable provisions of law.
- B. "Additional Parity Obligations" shall mean additional obligations issued in compliance with the terms, conditions and limitations contained herein and which shall have an equal lies on the Nat Revenues, as herein defined, and rank equally in all

savings accounts, (c) deposit accounts, or (d) depository receipts of a bank, savings and loan associations and nutual

- (4) certificates of deposit issued by commercial banks, sayings and loans associations and mutual sayings banks, either in excess of PDIC or PSLIC insurance or without PDIC or PSLIC insurance, properly secured at all times, by collateral security described in (1) and (2) above:
- (5) commercial paper rated in one of the two highest rating categories by at least two nationally recognized rating agencies or commercial paper backed by a letter of credit or line of credit rated in one of the two higest rating categories;
- (6) Written repurchase agreements with any bank, savings institution or trust company which is insured by the Pederal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation, or with any broker-dealer with retail customers which falls under Securities Investors Protection Corporation protection, provided that such repurchase agreements are fully secured by (1) above or obligations of any agency of instrumentality of the United States of America, and provided further that (i) such collateral is held by the Issuer or any agent acting solely for the Issuer during the term of such repurchase agreement, (ii) such collateral is not subject to liens or claims of third parties, (iii) such collateral has a market value (determined at least once every 14 days) at least equal to the amount invested in the repurchase agreement, (iv) the Issuer has a perfected first security interest in the collateral, (v) the agreement shall be for a term not longer than 270 days and (vi) the failure to maintain such collateral at the level required in (iii) above will require the Issuer to liquidate the collateral;
- (7) pre-refunded municipal obligations consisting of any bonds or other obligations of any state of the United States of America or of any agency, instrumentality or local governmen-

respects with the Bonds initially issued under this Ordinance.

- C. "Amortization Installment" with respect to any Current Interest Paying Term Bonds shall mean an amount so designated which is established for the Current Interest Paying Term Bonds, provided that (i) each such installment shall be deemed to be due on such interest or principal maturity date of each applicable year as is fixed by subsequent resolution of the Issuer, and (ii) the aggregate of such installments shall equal the aggregate principal amount of Current Interest Paying Term Bonds authenticated and delivered on original issuance; and with respect to any Term Bonds issued as Capital Appreciation Bonds, shall mean the Compounded Amounts so designated by subsequent resolution of the Issuer, provided that each such installment shall be dessed to be due on such date of each applicable year as is fixed by subsequent resolution of the Issuer.
- D. "Authorised Investments" shall mean any of the following if and to the extent the same are at the time legal for investment of municipal funds:
- (1) direct obligations of (including obligations issued or held in book entry form on the books of the Department of the Treasury of the United States of America), or obligations the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally quaranteed by the United States of America:
- (2) bonds, debentures or notes or other evidence of indebtedness payable in cash issued by any one or a combination of any of the following federal agencies whose obligations represent full faith and credit of the United States of America: Export Import Bank of the United States, Pederal Financing Bank, Farmer's Home Administration, Federal Housing Administration, Maritime Administration, Public Housing Authority, Government National Mortgage Association:
- (3) the following investments fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation: (a) certificates of deposit, (b)

, tal unit of any such state (i) which are not callable at the option of the obligor prior to maturity or as to which irravocable notice has been given by the obligor to call such bonds or obligations on the date specified in the notice, (ii) which are fully secored as to principal and interest and redemption premium, if any, by a fund consisting only of cash or Government Obligations which fund may be applied only to the payment of such principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on such bonds or other obligations on the maturity date or dates thereof or the specified redemption date or dates pursuant to such irrevocable instructions, as appropriate, (ili) which fund is sufficient, as verified by an independent certified public accountant, to pay principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on the bonds or other obligations described in this subsection DI7) on the maturity date or dates thereof or on the redemption date or dates specified in the irrevocable instructions referred to in subclause (i) of this subsection D(7), as appropriate and (iv) which are rated in the highest rating catecory of either Standard & Poor's Corporation or Moody's Investors Service, or any successors thereto;

- (8) money market funds rated AAA by Standard & Poor's;
- (9) investment agreements approved by the Manicipal Bond Insurer; and
- (10) Units of participation in the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund established pursuant to Part IV, Chapter 218, Plorida Statutes, or any similar common trust fund which is established pursuant to law as a legal depository of public noneys and for which the Florida State Board of Administration acts as custodian.
- E. "Bond Registrar" shall mean such bank or trust company, located within or without the State of Florida, who shall maintain the registration books of the Issuer and who shall cause the registration, registration of transfer, and reissuance of the Bonds within a commercially reasonable time according to the then

corrent industry standards and who also may be the paying agent for the Bonds and interest thereon.

- F. "Bonds" shall mean the Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 1987, herein authorized to be issued.
- G. "Capital Appreciation Bonds" shall mean Bonds the interest on which (1) shall be compounded periodically; (2) shall reach their principal amount at a date certain either on or prior to naturity and which shall be payable at raturity or upon earlier redemption of the principal amounts thereof; and (3) shall be deterrined by reference to the Compounded Kasounts until reaching their principal amounts.
- E. "Capital Appreciation/Income Bonds" shall mean Bonds which are Capital Appreciation Bonds to a date certain prior to Faturity and which thereafter become Current Interest Paying Bonds to maturity.
- I. "Compounded Amounts" with respect to any Capital Appreciation Bonds shall mean the amounts so designated in a subsequent resolution of the Issuer, representing principal and interest accrued on such Capital Appreciation Bonds either to returity or to a date certain prior to maturity.
- J. "Cost of Operation and Maintenance" of the System shall mean the current expenses, paid or accrued, of operation, maintenance and repair of the System as calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, but shall not include expenses not annually recurring, such as any reserve for renewals and replacements, extraordinary repairs or conditions, any allowance for depreciation, or any debt service requirement.
- K. "Current Interest Paying Bonds" shall mean Bonds the interest on which shall be payable on a semiannual basis.
- L. "Debt Service Requirement" for any Piscal Year, as applied to the Bonds shall mean the sum of:
- (1) The amount required to pay the interest becoming due on the Current Interest Paying Bonds during much Piscal Year, except to the extent that such interest shall have

to mature in such year.

- M. "Debt Service Reserve Requirement" shall mean, as of any particular date of calculation, either (i) the greatest Debt Service Requirement for the then current or any future Piscal Year, or (ii) such lesser amount equal to the maximum amount permitted as a reasonably required reserve by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations of the Internal Revenue Service promulgated thereunder.
- N. "Engineer" shall mean the City Engineer or such qualified and recognized independent consulting engineer, having favorable repute or skill and experience with respect to the acts and duties to be provided to the Issuer, as employed or retained by the Issuer to perform the acts and carry out the duties berein provided.
- 0. "Escrow Deposit Agreement" shall mean that certain Escrow Deposit Agreement by and between the Issuer and a bank or trust company to be selected and named by the Issuer prior to the delivery of the Bonds, which agreement shall be in substantially such form as shall be determined by subsequent resolution of the Issuer.
  - P. "Federal Securities" shall mean, collectively,
  - (1) cash;
- (2) direct obligations of (including obligations issued or held in book entry form on the books of the Department of the Treasury of the United States of America), or obligations the principal of sod interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America ("Government Obligations"), or
- (3) pre-refunded municipal obligations consisting of any bonds or other obligations of any state of the United States of America or of any agency, instrumentality or local governmental unit of any such estate (i) which are not callable at the option of the obligor prior to maturity or as to which irrevocable notice has been given by the obligor to call such bonds or obligations on the date specified in the notice, (ii) which are

been provided by payments into the Sinking Fund out of Bond pro

coeds for a specifief period of tire. The interest due in any enouing Fiscal Year on Current Interest Paying Bonds which have a variable rate of interest shall be assured to be one hundred ten percent (110%) of the greater of (i) the daily average interest rate on such variable rate Bonds during the twelve months ending with the month preceding the date of calculation, or such shorter period that such Bonds shall have been outstanding, or (ii) the rate of interest on such variable rate Bonds on the date of calculation.

- (2) The aggregate amount required to pay the principal becoming due on Current Interest Paying Bonds for such Piscal Year. For purposes of this definition: (i) the stated maturity date of any Current Interest Paying Term Bonds shall be disregarded and the Amortization Installments applicable to such Current Interest Paying Term Bonds in such year shall be deemed to mature in such year; and (ii) the principal amount of any Current Interest Paying Yers Bonds having (a) a single principal maturity and no Amortization Installments therefor and (b) the final Amortisation Installment for any Current Interest Paying Term Bonds if such final Amortisation Installment exceeds an amount equal to 200% of the raximum principal amount of such series of Current Interest Paying Bonds due in any Piscal Year, (hereinafter called "Designated Maturity Bonds"), shall be calculated as if the amount of such single maturity or final Amortization Installment, as the case may be, had been issued over a term of 25 years and was payable in approximately equal annual payments of principal and interest.
- (3) The aggregate amount required to pay the Compounded Amounts due on any Capital Appreciation Bonds raturing in such Fiscal Year. For purposes of this definition: (a) the stated maturity date of any Capital Appreciation Term Bond shall be disregarded and the Amortization Installments applicable to such Capital Appreciation Term Bonds in such year shall be desmed

. fully secured as to principal and interest and redemption premium, if any, by a fund consisting only of cash or Government Obligations which fund may be applied only to the payment of such principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on such bonds or other obligations on the maturity date or dates thereof or the specified redemption date or dates pursuant to such irrevocable instructions, as appropriate, (iii) which fund is sufficient, as verified by an independent certified public accountant, to pay principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on the bonds or other obligations described in this subsection P(3) on the maturity date or dates thereof or on the redemption date or dates specified in the irrevocable instructions referred to in subclause (i) of this subsection N(3), as appropriate and (iv) which are rated in the highest rating category of either Standard & Poor's Corporation or Moody's Investors Service, or any successors thereto.

- Q. "Fiscal Year" shall mean the period commencing on October 1 of each year and ending on the succeeding September 30 or such other annual period as may be prescribed by law from time to time for the Issuer.
- R. "Gross Revenues" or "Ravenues" shall mean all income or careings, including installation and connection charges (but not impact Pees) and including income from investments deposited in the Revenue Fund, derived by the Issuer from the operation of the System.
- S. "Holder of Bonds" or "Bondholders" or any similar term shall mean any person who shall be the Registered Owner of any such Bond or Bonds, or his transferee.
- T. "Impact Feen" shall mean the fees and charges, other than installation and connection charges, levied upon and collected from new users of the System.
- U. "Issuer" or "City" shall mean the City of Pompano Beach, Florida.
  - V. "Municipal Bond Insurer" shall mean a firm or cor-

B-2

poration which issues a policy of insurance guaranteeing payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds.

- H. "Net Revenues" of the System shall mean the Revenues or Gross Revenues, as defined in Subsection Q above, after deduction of the Cost of Operation and Maintenance, as defined in Subsection J above.
- X. "Qualified Independent Consultant" shall mean one or more qualified and recognized independent consultants, having favorable repute, skill and experience, with respect to the acts and duties required of a Qualified Independent Consultant to be provided to the Issuer, as shall from tipe to time be retained by the Issuer to perform the acts and carry out the duties herein provided for such consultants.
- Y. "Record Cate" shall mean the 15th day of the month immediately preceding any interest payment date for the Bonds.
- \*Refunded Bonds\* shall mean the Issuer's outstanding Water System Revenue Bonds, Series 1982, dated April 1, 1983.
- M. "Registered Owner" shall mean the owner of any Bond or Bonds as shown on the registration books of the Issuer maintained by the Bond Registrar.
- BB. "Serial Bonds" shall mean Bonds which shall be stated to mature in semiannual or annual installments.
- or. "System" shall mean the water system and the sewer system now owned, operated and maintained by the Issuer, which are being combined by this Ordinance into a single combined and consolidated water and sewer system, together with any and all improvements, extensions and additions to said combined System hereafter constructed or acquired, together with all lands or interests therein, including, but not limited to, plants, brildings, tachinery, franchises, pipes, mains, fixtures, equipment, pumping stations, and all property, real or personal, tangible or intangible, now or hereafter owned or used in connection therewith.
  - DD. "Term Bonds" shall mean Bonds which shall be stated

issuance of the Bonds berein authorized. The refunding program herein described will be advantageous to the Issuer, by (1) restructuring the debt service for the System to anticipate future capital requirements, and (2) changing certain covenants contained in the proceedings which authorized the Refunded Bonds.

G. It is necessary and desirable and in the interest of the health and welfare of the city of Ponpano Beach and its inhabitants that there be constructed additions extensions and improvements to said coebined System (hereinafter called the 'Project'), together with other purposes secessary, appurtenant or incidental thereto.

The Project described above shall be constructed and undertaken in accordance with plane and specifications therefor approved by the City Council.

- R. The cost of the construction of the refunding and of the Project referred to shall be deemed to include, without being limited to, the acquisition of any lands or interest therein, any fixtures or equipment or properties deemed recessary or convenient therefor, engineering, financial and legal expenses, bond discount, if any, municipal bond insurance, if any, provisions for reserves, expenses for plana, specifications and surveys, expenses of estimates of costs and of revenues, administrative expenses for establishing the escrow for the Refunded Bonds, interest accrued on the Bonds for a reasonable period from the date of issuance thereof, and such other expenses as may be necessary or inclidental to the financing authorized by this resolution, and the construction and acquisition of the Project authorized by this Ordinance and the placing of same in operation.
- I. The estimated funds needed for the refunding as above described shall be derived from the sale of the Bonds herein authorized and other funds of the Issuer available therefor.

An abount which, together with the income on the investment thereof, will be sufficient to effect the refunding will be to mature on one date and which shall be subject to mandatory redeaption by operation of the Bond Amortisation Pund or otherwise designated as such by resolution of the Issuer adopted prior to the delivery thereof.

. . .

SECTION 3. FINDINGS. It is hereby ascertained, determined and declared that:

- A. The Issuer now owns, operates and maintains a separate water system for the supply and distribution of water to its inhabitants and others, and a separate sewer system for the collection, treatment and disposal of sewage and wastematter.
- B. It is deemed necessary and desirable and in the best financial interest of the City of Pospano Beach and its inhabitants that said water system and said sever system be combined and consolidated into a single Mater and Sever System for financial and other purposes; and said water system and sever system are hereby combined and consolidated into a single Mater and Sever System.
- C. The Issuer derives and will continue to derive revenue from rates, fees, rentals and other charges made and collected for the services of the System. Such revenues are not now pledged or encumbered in any Kanner except to the payment of the Refunded Bonds, the pledges of which, together with all other pledges to said Refunded Bonds, will be defeased upon the issuance of the Bonds hereit authorized.
- D. The Issuer has previously issued the Refunded Bonds, of which the estimated sun of not exceeding \$16,925,000 principal amount is presently outstanding and unpaid.
- E. The Issuer has previously advance defeased all of its outstanding water revenue bonds and sewer revenue bonds, except for the Refunded Bonds, which had a lien on and pledge of the revenues of the water system and the sever system, respectively.
- P. The Issuer deers it necessary and in its best interest to provide for the refunding of the Refunded Bonds through the

-10-

deposited in an irrevocable escrow account established for the holders of the Refunded Bonds, and invested in Federal Securities. The principal amounts of such Federal Securities together with the interest earnings thereon will be sufficient to make timely payments of all presently outstanding principal, interest and referption pressurs, if any, in respect to the Refunded Bonds and all costs associated with the acquisition and subsequent management of such Federal Securities.

- J. The principal of and interest on the Bonds and all required sitking fund, reserve and other payments shall be payable solely from the Net Revanues derived from the operation of the System as herein provided. The issuer shall never be required to levy advalores taxes on any property within its corporate territory to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds or to make any of the required sinking fund, reserve or other payments, and such Bonds shall not constitute a lien upon any property owned by or situated within the corporate territory of the Issuer.
- K. The estimated Net Revenues to be derived from the operation of the System will be sufficient to pay all principal of and interest on the Bonds to be issued bereinder, as the same become due, and to make all required sinking fund, reserve or other payments required by this Ordinance.

SECTION 4. GRDINANCE TO CONSTITUTE CONTRACT. In consideration of the acceptance of the Bonds authorized to be issued hereunder by those who shall hold the same from time to time, this Ordinance shall be deemed to be and shall constitute a contract between the Issuer and such Bolders and, so long as any of the Bonds are insured by it or held by it as subregee of such holders following payment on a municipal bond insurance policy, the Nunicipal Bond Insurer, if any. The covenants and agreements herein set forth to be performed by the Issuer shall be for the equal benefit, protection and security of the legal Bolders of any and all of such Bonds, all of which shall be of equal rank and without preference, priority or distinction of any of the Bonds

-11-

over any other thereof, except as expressly provided therein and herein.

SECTION 5. AUTHORITATION OF REPUNDING OF REPUNDED BONDS AND OF CONSTRUCTION AND ACQUESTION OF PROCECT. There is bereby authorized the refunding of the Refunded Bonds, in the manner berein provided. There is also hereby authorized the construction and acquisition of the Project.

SECTION 6. AUTHORIZATION OF BONDS. Subject and pursuant to the provisions of this Ordinance, obligations of the Issuer to be known as 'Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 1987' are bereby authorized to be issued in the aggregate principal amount of not exceeding Thirty Five Million Dollars (535,000,000).

SECTION 7. DESCRIPTION OF BONDS. The Bonds may be issued in one or more installments; each installment shall be dated as of a date to be fixed by arbsequent resolution of the Issuer, but not later than the date of issuance. The Bonds of each installment shall bear an identifying siffix letter (if more than one installment is to be issued), shall be issued in such denominations, shall be numbered, shall bear interest at not exceeding the maxisum rate authorized by applicable law, payable at such times, and shall mature on such dates and in such years and in such amounts, all as are fixed by subsequent resolution of the Issuer adopted at or prior to the sale of the Bonds. A special description relating to any of the Bonds may be set forth in parenthesis immediately below the title of the Bonds, in the discretion of the Issuer.

The Bonds shall be issued in fully registered form without coupons; shall be issued as Current Interest Paying Bonds (including Variable Interest Rate Bonds) or as Capital Appreciation Bonds or Capital Appreciation/Income Bonds and as Serial Bonds or Term Bonds or a combination thereof; shall be payable with respect to both principal and interest at such bank or banks to be determined by the Issuer prior to the delivery of the Bonds; shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of America;

-13-

or may not have been so authorized.

If the Bonds are validated, a certification as to Circult Court validation, in the form hereinafter provided, shall be executed with the facsimile signature of any present or future Mayor.

SECTION 9. NEGOTIABILITY. The Bonds shall be and have all the qualities and incidents of negotiable instruments under the laws of the State of Florida, and each successive Bolder, in accepting any of the Bonds, shall be conclusively deemed to have agreed that such Bonds shall be and have all of the qualities and incidents of negotiable instruments under the laws of the State of

SECTION 10. REGISTRATION. The Bonds shall be issued only as fully registered bonds without coupons. The City shall, prior to the proposed date of delivery of the Bonds, by resolution designate the Bond Registrar and, if applicable, paying agent. The Bond Registrar shall be responsible for asistaining the books for the registration of and for the transfer of the Bonds, in compliance with an Agreement to be executed between the City and such bank as Bond Registrar as parties on or prior to the delivery date of the Bonds. Such Agreement shall set forth in detail the duties, rights, and responsibilities of the parties to the Agreement.

Epon surrender to the Bond Registrar for transfer or exchange of any Bond, duly endorsed for transfer or accompanied by an assignment or written authorization for exchange, whichever is applicable, duly executed by the Registered Owner or his attorney duly authorized in writing, the Bond Registrar shall deliver in the name of the Registered Owner or the transferee or transferees, as the case may be, a new fully registered Bond or Bonds of authorized denominations of the same maturity and interest rate for the aggregate principal amount which the Registered Owner is entitled to receive; provided, however, that Current Interest Paying Bonds may only be exchanged for new Current Interest Paying Bonds and Capital Appreciation Bonds or Capital Appreciation/

and shall bear interest from such date, but not earlier than the

date of the Bonds, as is fixed by resolution of the Issuer adopted at or prior to the sale of the Bonds, payable by mail to the Registered Owners at their addresses as they appear on the tegistration books. If Term Bonds are issued, Amortization Installments therefor shall be fixed in the subsequent resolution referred to above. If Capital Appreciation Bonds or Capital Appreciation/Income Bonds are issued, Compounded Amounts and other details therefor shall also be fixed in the subsequent resolution referred to above.

SECTION 8. EXECUTION OF BONDS. The Bonds shall be executed in the name of the City by the Mayor and countersigned by the City Manager and the corporate seal of the City or a facsimile thereof shall be affixed thereto or reproduced thereon. The signatures of the Mayor and the City Manager may be either manual or facsimile signatures imprinted or reproduced on the Bonds. The Bond Registrar's Certificate of Authentication shall appear on the Bonds, and no Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any security or benefit under this Ordinance unless such certificate shall have been duly executed on such Bond. The authorized signature for the Bond Registrar shall be either manual or in facsimile; provided, however, that at least one of the signatures, including that of the authorized signature for the Bond Registrar, appearing on the Bonds shall at all times be a manual signature. In case any one or more of the officers who shall have signed or sealed any of the Bonds shall cease to be such officer of the City before the Sonds so signed and sealed shall have been actually sold and delivered, such Bonds may nevertheless be sold and delivered as herein provided and may be issued as if the person who signed or sealed such Bonds had not ceased to hold such office. Any Bonds may be signed and sealed on behalf of the City by such person as at the actual time of the execution of such Bonds shall hold the proper office, although at the date of such Bonds such person may not have held such office

-14-

Income Bonds may only be exchanged for new Capital Appreciation
 Bonds or Capital Appreciation/Income Bonds, as the case may be-

All Bonds presented for transfer, exchange, redomption or payment (if so required by the City or the Bond Registrar) shall be accompanied by a written instrument or instruments of transfer or authorization for exchange, in form and with guaranty of signature satisfactory to the City or the Bond Registrar, duly executed by the Pegistered Owner or by Mis duly authorized attortogy.

The City and the Bond Registrar may require payment from the Registered Owner or transferee only of a sum sufficient to cover any tax, fee or other governmental charge that may be imposed in connection with any exchange or transfer of Bonds. Such charges and expenses shall be paid before any such new Bond shall be delivered.

Interest shall be paid on such dates as are set forth in a subsequent resolution to the Registered Owners whose names appear on the books of the Bond Registrar as of 5:00 p.m. (local time, at the office of the Bond Registrar) on the Record Date.

New Bonds delivered upon any transfer or exchange shall be valid obligations of the City, evidencing the same debt as the Bonds surrendered, shall be secured by this Ordinance, and shall be entitled to all of the security and benefits hereof to the same extent as the Bonds surrendered.

The City and the Bond Registrar may treat the Registered Owner of any Bond as the absolute owner thereof for all porposes, whether or not such Bond shall be overdue, and shall not be bound by any notice to the contrary. The person in whose name any Bond is registered may be deemed the owner thereof by the City and the Bond Registrar, and any notice to the contrary shall not be binding upon the City or the Bond Registrar.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 10, the City reserves the right, on or prior to the delivery of the Bonds, to amend or modify the foregoing provisions relating to registration of the Bonds in order to comply with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations of the United States Government and the State of Florida relating thereto.

SECTION 11. DISPOSITION OF OBLIGATIONS PAID OR REPLACED.
Whenever any Bond shall be delivered to the Bond Registrar for
cancellation, upon payment of the principal amount thereof or for
replacement or transfer or exchange, such Bond shell, after
cancellation, either be retained by the Bond Registrar for a
period of time specified in writing by the City or at the option
of the City, shall be destroyed by the Bond Registrar and counterparts of a certificate of destruction evidencing such destruction
shall be furnished to the City.

SECTION 12. BONDS MUTILATED, DESTROYED, STOLEN OR LOST. In case any Bond shall become mutilated, or be destroyed, stolen or lost, the City, acting through the Bond Registrar, may in its discretion issue and deliver a new Bond of like tenor as the Bonds so mutilated, destroyed, stolen, or lost, in exchange and substitution for such mutilated Bond, upon surrender and cancellation of such mutilated Bond or in lieu of and substitution for the Bond destroyed, stolen or lost, and upon the Registered Owner furmishing proof of his ownership and the loss thereof (if lost, stolen or destroyed) and satisfactory indeanity and complying with such other reasonable regulations and conditions as the City may prescribe and paying such expense as the City and the Bond Registrar may incur. All Bonds so surrendered shall be cancelled by the Bond Registrar. If any much Bonds shall have Datured or be about to mature, instead of issuing a substitute Bond, the City may pay the same, upon being indemnified as aforesaid, and if such Bond be lost, stolen or destroyed, without surrender thereof.

Any such duplicate Bonds issued pursuant to this Section shall constitute original, additional, contractual obligations on the part of the City, whether or not the lost, stolen or destroyed Bonds be at any time found by anyone and such duplicate Bonds shall be entitled to equal and proportionate benefits and rights as to lien, source and security for payment, pursuant to this

-17-

CUSIP:

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA STATE OF FLORIDA CITY OF FOMPANO BEACH

RATE OF INTEREST

MATURITY DATE

DATE OF CRIGINAL ISSUE

REGISTERED OWNER:

DETECTOR ANOTHER

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the City of Pompaco Beach, Plorida (hereinafter called "City"), for value received hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner designated above. or registered assigns, solely from the special funds bereinafter mentioned, on the Maturity Date specified above the principal sum shown above, upon the presentation and surrender hereof at the corporate trust office of as Paying Agent and Bond Registrar, and to pay solely from such special funds interest thereon from the date of this Bord or from the most recent interest payment date to which interest has been paid, whichever is applicable, until payment of such sum, at the rate per annum set forth above, payable on \_\_\_\_ and semiannually thereafter on \_\_\_ 1 and in each year, by check or draft mailed to the registered owner at his address as it appears, at 5:00 P.M. on the fifteenth day of the month preceding the applicable interest payment date, on the registration books of the City kept by the Bond Registrar. The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on this Bond are payable in lawful money of the United States of America.

This Bond is one of an authorized issue of bonds in the aggregate principal amount of not exceeding \$35,000,000 of like tenor and effect, except as to (installment), date, number, interest rate and date of raturity, issued to finance the cost of refunding the City's outstanding Water System Revenue Bonds, Series 1982, and of constructing additions, extensions and impro-

Ordinance, from the Net Revenues, to the same extent as all other

SECTION 13. PROVISIONS FOR REDEMPTION. The Bonde or exp portions thereof shall be subject to redemption prior to their respective stated dates of naturity, at the option of the City, at such tipes and in such manner as shall be deterained by subsequent resolution adopted prior to the male thereof.

Notice of such redesption shall, at least thirty (30) days prior to the redesption date (1) be filed with the paying agent, and (ii) be sailed, postage prepaid, to all Registered Owners of Bonds to be redesaed at their addresses as they appear of record on the books of the Bond Registrer as of forty-five (45) days prior to the date fixed for redesption. Interest shall cease to accrue on any Bond duly called for prior redesption on the redesption date, if paysent thereof has been duly provided. The privilege of transfer or exchange of any of the Bonds so called for redesption is suspended for a period commencing 15 days preceding the mailing of the notice of redesption and ending on the date fixed for redesption.

SECTION 14. FORM OF BONDS. The text of the Bonds, together with the Certificate of Validation and the Bond Registrar's Certificate of Authentication, shell be substantially of the following tenor, with such omissions, insertions and veriations as may be necessary and/or desirable and authorized or permitted by this Ordinance or any subsequent resolution adopted prior to the issuance thereof, or as may be necessary if the Bonds, or portions thereof are issued as Capital Appreciation Bonds, Capital Appreciation/income Bonds or bear a variable rate of interest, or as may be necessary to comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations of the United States Government and the State of Florida in effect upon the issuance thereof:

-18-

This Bond and the interest thereon are payable solely from and secured by a first lien upon and pledge of the net revenues derived by the City from the operation of the System, in the nameer provided in the Ordinance. This Bond does not constitute as indebtedness of the City within the reaning of any constitutional or statutory provision or limitation.

It is expressly agreed by the holder of this Bond that such holder shall never have the right to require or compel the levy of ad valorem taxes for the payment of the principal of and interest on this Bond or for the making of any sinking fund or other payment provided for in the Ordinance. This Bond and the indebtedness evidenced thereby shall not constitute a lieu upon any other property of or in the City, but shall constitute a lieu only upon the net revenues of the System, is the manner provided in maid Ordinance.

(To be inserted where appropriate on face of bond:
"REFERENCE IS REFERY MADE TO THE FURTHER PROVISIONS OF THIS BOND
SET PORTH ON THE REVERSE SIDE HERBOF, AND SCCE FURTHER PROVISIONS
SEALL FOR ALL PURPOSES HAVE THE SAME EFFECT AS IF SET PORTH OR
THIS SIDE.")

This Bond May be transferred only upon the books of the City kept by the Bond Registrar under the Ordinance upon surrender thereof at the principal office of the Bond Registrar with an assignment duly executed by the Registered Owner or his duly authorized attorney, but only in the manner, subject to the limitations and upon payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax, fee

-19-

or governmental charge, if any, that may be imposed in connection with such transfer, as provided in the Ordinance, and upon surrender and cancellation of this Bood. Upon any such transfer, there shall be executed in the name of the transferce, and the Bond Registrar shall deliver, a new registered bond or bonds in the same aggregate principal amount and series, maturity and interest rate of the authorized denominations as the surrendered bond.

In like manner, subject to such conditions and upon the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax, fee or governmental charge, if any, that may be imposed in connection with such exchange, as the Registered Owner of this Bood may surrender the same (together with a written authorization for exchange satisfactory to the Bood Registrar duly executed by the Registered Owner or his duly authorized attorney) in exchange for an equal aggregate principal amount of fully registered bonds in authorized denominations of the same series, maturity and interest rate as this Bond.

It is bereby certified and recited that all acts, conditions and things required to exist, to happen and to be performed precedent to and in the issuance of this Bond exist, have happened and have been performed in regular and due form and time as required by the Statutes and Constitution of the State of Florida applicable thereto; and that the issuance of this Bond and of the issue of bonds of which this Bond is one, does not violate any constitutional or statutory limitation.

This Bond is and has all the qualities and incidents of a negotiable instrument under the laws of the State of Florida.

(Insert redemption provisions).

Notice of such redemption shall be given in the manner required by the Ordinance.

This Bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any security or benefit under the Ordinance until the certificate of authentication berson shall

-21-

#### ASSIGNMENT

FOR VALUE RECEIVED,	the undersigned sells, assigns and
transfers to	
PLEASE INSERT NAME, ADDRESS NUMBER OF ASSIGNEE	AND SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER IDENTIFYIN
the within Bond and does her	eby irrevocably constitute and appoint
as attorn	ey to transfer the Bond on the books
kept for registration thereo	of, with full power of substitution in
the premises.	
Dated:	_ 8
Signature quaranteed:	
**************************************	+
(Bank, Trust Company or Fire	<del>ज</del>
	NOTICE: The signature to this
(Authorized Officer)	assignment must correspond with the name of the Registered Owner
	as it appears upon the face of the within bond in every parti- cular, without alteration or enlargement or any change
	Whatever.

have been executed by the Bond Registrar.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF,	the City of Pompano Beach, Plorida,
has issued this Bond and has	caused the same to be executed by the
manual or facsimile signature	e of its Mayor, and its corporate seal
or a facsimile thereof to be	affixed, impressed, imprinted,
lithographed or reproduced b	ereon and attested by the manual or
facsizile signature of its C	ity Manager, all as of the first day
of, 198	
	CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, PLORIDA
(SEAL)	Nayor
APTEST:	
City Manager	_
city manager	
	ION CERTIFICATE
	a series of Bonds Which were vali-
	ent of the Circuit Court for Broward
County, Florida, rendered on	the day of, 198
9 9	
	Науог
BOND REGISTRAR'S CE	RTIPICATE OF AUTEENTICATION
This Bond is one of	the bonds of the issue described in
the within-mentioned Ordinan	ce.
	As Bond Registrar
	Constitution of the constitution
	By Authorised Signature
Date of Authentication	<del></del>
Pace of Machinic Teaction	
**	15

SECTION 15. APPLICATION OF BOND PROCEEDS. The proceeds, including accrued interest and premium, if any, received from the male of any or all of the Bonds shall be applied by the Issuer simultaneously with their delivery to the purchaser thereof, as follows:

-22-

- A. The accrued interest plus, at the option of the Issuer, an amount which, together with such accrued interest, will equal the amount of interest on the Bonds for a reasonable period of time from the date of issuance of the Bonds, shall be deposited in the Sinking Fund herein created and shall be used only for the purpose of paying interest becoming due on the Bonds.
- B. A sum which, together with other legally available funds of the Issuer deposited therein on the date of delivery of the Bonds, will equal the Debt Service Reserve Requirement on the Bonds shall be deposited into the Reserve Account hereinafter created and established.
- C. To the extent not paid or relaborsed therefor by the original purchaser of the Bonds, the Issuer shall pay all costs and expenses in connection with the preparation, issuance and sale of the Bonds.
- D. A sum specified in the Escrow Deposit Agreement which together with the other funds described in the Escrow Deposit Agreement to be deposited in escrow, and together with the investment income thereon, will be sufficient to pay the principal of, interest and redemption premiums, if any, on the Escrowd Boods as the same shall become due or may be redemmed, shall be deposited into the Escrow Account established by the Escrow Deposit Agreement in the respective amounts sufficient for such purposes. Further, an amount sufficient to pay the costs and expenses incurred in connection with the issuance and sale of the Bonds may be deposited in a separate Expense Account and disbursed under the Escrow Deposit Agreement, if not paid under C above.

Simultaneously with the delivery of the Bonds necessary to accomplish the refunding program specified in this Ordinance,

the Issuer shall enter into the Escrow Deposit Agreement in such form as shall be fixed by subsequent resolution of the Issuer adopted prior to the issuance of the Bonds, with a bank or trust company approved by the Issuer, which shall provide for the deposit of sume into the Escrow Account established therein, and for the investment of such moneys in appropriate Federal Securities so as to produce sufficient funds to take all of the payments described in the first paragraph of this subsection 150 of this Ordinance. At the time of execution of the Escrow Deposit Agreement, the Issuer shall furnish to the Escrow Bolder named therein appropriate documentation to demonstrate that the sums being deposited and the investments to be made will be sufficient for such purposes.

E. The balance of such funds shall be deposited into the "City of Pompano Beach 1987 Water and Sewer Construction Pund" (hereinafter called "Construction Pand") (which is bereby created and established, and used only for payment of the costs of the Project. Any funds on deposit in the Construction Fund which, in the opinion of the City, acting upon the recommendation of the Director of Finance of the City, are not immediately necessary for expenditure may be invested in Authorized Investments, as herein defined, maturing at such times as the moneys in the Construction Fund will be needed for their intended purposes. All such securities shall be held by the depository bank, and all income derived therefrom shall be deposited into the Construction Fund; provided, however, that the City may from time to time at its sole option deposit such income or any portion thereof to the Sinking Pund. All expenditures or disbursements from the Construction Fund shall be made only after such expenditures or disbursements shall have been approved in writing by the Directorof Finance or his designee. The date of the completion of the Project shall be determined by the City Engineer who shall certify such fact in writing to the governing body of the City.

Such funds shall be kept separate and apart from all

-25-

in the "City of Pompano Beach, Mater and Sewer System Revenue Fund" (hereinafter called "Revenue Fund"), hereby created and established. Such Revenue Fund shall constitute a trust fund for the purposes herein provided, and shall be kept separate and distinct from all other funds of the Issuer and used only for the purposes and in the manner herein provided.

- B. DISPOSITION OF REVENUES. All Revenues at any time remaining on deposit in the Revenue Fund shall be disposed of on or before the 25th day of each month, commencing is the month immediately following the delivery of the Bonds only in the following manner and in the following order of priority:
- (1) Revenues shall first be used for deposit into a fund to be known as the "Operation and Maintenance Pund" which is hereby established, of such sums as are necessary to pay the Costs of Operation and Maintenance of the System for the then current month.
- (2) Revenues shall next be applied and allocated to a separate fund which is hereby created and designated City of Pompano Beach Water and Sewer System Sinking Pund\* (hereinafter called the "Sinking Pund"), in such sums as will be sufficient to pay one-sixth (1/6) of all interest becoming due on the Current Interest Paying Bonds on the next semiannual interest payment date therefor (if Bonds with a variable rate of interest are outstanding the Issuer shall deposit in lies of the one-sixth (1/6) interest deposit described above, the interest actually accruing on such Bonds for such month, assuming the interest rate thereon on the first day of such month will continue through the end of such month, plus any deficiencies in interest deposits for the preceding month) one-mixth (1/6) or one-twelfth (1/12), as the case may be, of all principal maturing on the Current Interest Paying Serial Bonds authorized hereig on the next maturity date, and onemixth (1/6) or one-twelfth (1/12), as the case may be, of the Compounded Amount next becoming due on any Serial Capital Appre ciation Bonds whether by reason of maturity or earlier redemption

other funds of the City and the moneys on deposit therein shall be withdrawn, used and applied by the City solely for the purposes set forth herein.

SECTION 16. SPECIAL COLIGATIONS OF ISSUEM. Neither the Bonds nor interest thereon shall be or constitute a general indebtedness of the Issuer within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory provision or limitation, but shall be payable solely from and secured by a first lieu upon and a pledge of the Net Revenues of the System as herein provided. No holder or holders of any Bonds issued hereunder shall ever have the right to require or compel the exercise of the ad valorem taxing power of the Issuer or taxation in any form of any property therein for payment thereof, or be smittled to payment of such principal and interest from any other funds of the Issuer except from the Net Rovenues in the Exercise Provided herein.

Until payment has been provided for as herein permitted, the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds shall be secured forthwith equally and ratably by an irrevocable first lien on the Ret Revenues, as defined herein, derived from the operation of the System, prior and superior to all other liens or encumbrances on such Het Revenues, and the Issuer does hereby irrevocably pledge such Net Revenues from the System to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds, the reserves therefor, and for all other required payments.

SECTION 17. COVENANTS OF THE ISSUER. For as long as any of the principal of and interest on any of the Bonds shall be outstanding and unpaid, or until payment has been provided for as herein permitted, or until there shall have been set sport in the Sinking Fund and the Reserve Account therein a sum sufficient to pay when due the entire principal of the Bonds ramaining unpaid, together with interest accrued or to accrue thereon, the Issuer covenants with the holders of any and all Bonds as follows:

A. REVENUE PUND. The Gross Revenues derived from the operation of the System shall, upon receipt thereof, be deposited

-26-

thereof, to be subsequently determined by resolution of the Issuer prior to the delivery of the particular issue of Bonds, and an amount sufficient to pay the fees and charges of the Bond Registrar and paying agents. In the event the first interest payment date or first principal maturity date shall occur either more or less than six (6) months or twelve (12) months, as the case may be, after the delivery of any of the Boods, then the payments required above shall be adjusted accordingly to provide for the payment of such principal and interest. On a parity therewith, Revenues shall simultaneously be applied and allocated to the "City of Pompano Beach Mater and Sever System Revenue Bonds, Bond Amortisation Pund" (hereinafter called the 'Bond Amortisation Fund"), hereby created and established, to the extent required, in such sums as will be equal to one-sixth (1/6) of the amount of the Amortivation Installment required to be made on the next semiannual payment date or one-twelfth (1/12) of the Amortization Installment required to be made on the next annual payment date for Term Bonds. Such allocations shall be credited to a separate special account for each series of Term Bonds outstanding, and if there shall be more than one stated maturity for Yers Bonds then into a separate special account in the Bond Amortization Fund for each such separate maturity of Term Bonds. The Amortization Installments may be due either annually or semiannually, but in any event, the required payments as set forth above shall be made monthly commencing in the first month which is six (6) months or twelve (12) months, as the case may be, prior to the date on which the Amortization Installment is required to be made pursuant to this subsection (2). Pailure to make any such application and allocation into the Bond Amortisation Fund on the due date thereof shall constitute an event of default under this

Credit shall be allowed against the total interest, Amortisation Installments and principal due on the next interest and principal payment dates, respectively, for any other funds on hand and available for such purposes in the Sinking Fund and Bond Amortization Fund.

Upon the sale of Term Bonds, if any, the Issuer shall, by resolution, establish the amounts and maturities of such Amortisation Installments and if there shall be more than one maturity of Term Bonds the Amortization Installments for the Term Bonds of each maturity.

(3) Moneys remaining in the Revenue Fund shall next be applied by the Issuer to maintain is a Reserve Account in the Sinking Fund, which Reserve Account is hereby created and established, a sum equal to the Debt Service Reserve Requirement on the Bonds. Such sum shall initially be deposited therein from the proceeds of sale of the Bonds. Thereafter in the event the moneys, or any portion thereof, on deposit in said Reserve Account shall be used to make up any deficiency in the Sinking Fund or the Bond Amortization Pund, such moneys shall be replaced and such Reserve Account made whole within eleven (11) months after such use to make up any such deficiency, from the first moneys available in the Revenue Fund after all required current payments for Cost of Operation and Maintenance and all current applications and allocations to the Sinking Fund and Bond Amortization Fund, including all deficiencies for prior payments have been made in full, either by depositing such replacement moneys into said Reserve Account in one lump sum or by the deposit monthly into said Reserve Account of an amount equal to 1/11th of the difference between the amount remaining on deposit in said Reserve Account and the Debt Service Reserve Requirement on the Bonds. No further application or allocation of funds shall be required to be made into said Reserve Account when there has been deposited therein and as long as there shall remain on deposit therein a sum equal to the Debt Service Reserve Requirement on the Bonds. The value of the Authorized Investments on deposit in the Reserve Account shall be determined annually on the last day of the Piacal Year by an Independent Qualified Consultant, using the lower of

-29-

become due on the Bonds then outstanding by operation of the Bond Amortization Fund.

(5) Revenues shall next be applied and allocated to a "City of Pompano Beach Mater and Sever System Renewal, Replacement and Improvement Pund' (bereinefter called the 'Renewal, Replacement and Improvement Fund"), hereby created and established. The amount of such monthly application and allocation in any Piscal Year shall be one-twelfth (1/12) of a sum to be determined by resolution of the Issuer adopted prior to such Fiscal Year, which amount shall be, for such year, not less than five per centum (5%) of the Gross Revenues for the preceding Piscal Year. Bowever, no such monthly application and allocation shall be required whenever the unappropriated balance in such Fund shall equal at least one per centum (14) of the gross book value of the fixed assets of the System, as determined in the audit required by Subsection 17G hereof. The moneys in the Ranaval, Replacement and Improvement Fund shall be used only for the purpose of paying the cost of extensions, solargements or additions to, or the replacement of capital assets of the System or for unusual or extraordinary repairs thereto, or non recurring expenses, and only with the prior approval of the City Commission of the Issuer, except that the moneys in said Fund shall first be used t supplement the Reserve Account whenever necessary to prevent a default in the payment of principal, Amortization Installments and interest on the Bonds and to restore any deficiency in such Reserve Account. Bowever, when moneys applied to and allocated to the Renewal, Replacement and Improvement Fund exceed the required amount such excess may be withdrawn and applied and allo cated to the Revenue Fund.

(6) Thereafter the belance of any revenues remaining after the above required payments (including deficiencies for prior payments) have been made may be used by the Issuer for any lawful purpose.

(7) The Revenue Fund, the Sinking Fund, the Bond

amortized cost or market method of valuation. Upon such

valuation, any deficiency in such Reserve Account shall be made up in the manner provided above.

Moneys in the Reserve Account shall be used only for the purpose of the payment of maturing Amortization Idstallments or principal of or interest on the Bonds when the other moneys allocated to the Sinking Pund and Bond Amortization Pund are insufficient therefor, and for no other purpose. Bowever, if and whenever the moneys applied and allocated to the Reserve Account (except investment income to be deposited into the Revenue Pund as bereinafter provided) exceed the Debt Service Reserve Requirement on all then outstanding Bonds, such excess may be withdrawn and applied and allocated into the Renewal and Replacement Fund, or if the maximum amount required to be applied and allocated is then so applied and allocated in the Renewal and Replacement Fund, then into the Revenue Fund.

(4) Opon the issuance of any Additional Parity
Obligations under the terms, limitations and conditions as berein
provided, the applications and allocations into the Sinking Fund
(including the Reserve Account therein), and if Term Bonds are
issued, into the Bond Amortization Pund, shell be increased in
such amounts as are necessary to make the payments required above
for the principal of, interest on and reserves for such Additional
Parity Obligations, and, if Term Bonds are issued, the Amortization Installments with respect thereto, all on the same basis as
hersinabove provided with respect to the Bonds initially issued
under this Ordinance.

The Issuer shall not be required to make any further applications or allocations to the Sinking Fund, the Bond Amortisation Fund or the Reserve Account when the aggregate sums applied and allocated thereto are and remain at least equal to the sum of all of the annual Debt Service Requirements then due and becoming due in all ensuing years for the Bonds then outstanding, plus the amount of redemption pramiums, if any, then due and thereafter to

-30-

Amortization Fund, the Baserve Account and the Reneval, Replacement and Improvement Fund, and any other special funds herein established and created shall constitute trust funds for the purposes provided herein for such funds. All such funds shall be continuously secured in the same manner as municipal deposits are authorized to be secured by the laws of the State of Florida.

Moneys on deposit in the Revenue Fund, the Sinking Fund and the Bond Amortisation Fund may be invested and reinvested only in Authorised Investments, as herein defined, maturing not later than the date on which the moneys therein will be needed. Moneys applied and allocated to the Renewal, Replacement and Improvement Fund may be invested and reinvented in Authorised Investments maturing not later than five (5) years from the date of investment. The moneys in the Reserve Account, to the extent that the yield on the investment thereof is not restricted pursuant to regulations of the Internal Revenue Service relating to 'arbitrage bonds", may be invested and reinvested in Authorized Investments, provided such investments mature not later than the final maturity date of the Bonds. Any and all income received by the Issuer from such investments shall be deposited into the Ravenue Fund on the next business day following the receipt thereof. The cash required to be accounted for in each of the foregoing funds and accounts established herein may be deposited in a single bank account, provided that adequate accounting records are maintained to reflect and control the restricted allocation of the cash on deposit therein for the various purposes of such funds or accounts as herein provided. The designation and establishment of the various funds and accounts in and by this Ordinance shall not be construed to require the establishment of any completely independeat, self-balancing funds or accounts, as such term is commonly defined and used in governmental accounting, but rather is intended solely to constitute an earmarking of certain revenues and assets of the System for certain purposes to establish certain priorities for application of such revenues and assets as herein

- C. OPERATION OF BOND AMORTIZATION FUND. Moneys held for the credit of the Bond Amortization Fund shall be applied to the retirement of Term Bonds as follows:
- (1) Subject to the provisions of paragraph (4) below, the Issuer shall endeavor to purchase Term Bonds then outstanding, at the most advantageous price obtainable with reasomable diligence, such price not to exceed the principal of such
  Term Bonds and the redemption premium which would be applicable if
  the moneys applied to such purchase were otherwise applied to the
  redemption of Term Bonds under paragraphs (3) or (4) below. The
  Insuer shall pay the interest accrued on such Term Bonds to the
  date of delivery thereof from the Sinking Pund and the purchase
  price from the Bond Amortization Fund, but no such perchase shall
  be made by the Issuer within the period of forty-five (45) days
  immediately preceding any interest payment date on which such Term
  Bonds are subject to call for redemption except from moneys in
  excess of the amounts set aside or deposited for the redemption of
  Term Bonds.
- (2) Subject to the provisions of paragraph (4) below, the Issuer shall call for redesption or each interest payment
  date or which Term Bonds are subject to redesption from moneys in
  the Bond Amortization Fund such amount of Term Bonds then subject
  to redesption as will exhaust the moneys then held in the Bond
  Amortization Fund as nearly as may be practicable. Frior to celling Term Bonds for redesption the Issuer shall withdraw from the
  Sinking Fund and from the Bond Amortization Fund and set aside in
  separate accounts or deposit with the Faying Agents the respective
  amounts required for paying the interest and principal on the Term
  Bonds so called for redesption.
- (3) Noneys in the Bond Aportization Pund shall be applied by the Issuer in each Fiscal Year to the retirement of Term Bonds then outstanding in the following order:
  - (i) The Term Bonds of each series to the extent of

-33-

to " with any such purchase or redemption.

D. OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE. The Issuer vill maintain or cause to be baintained the System and all parts thereof in good condition and will operate or cause to be operated the same in an efficient and economical manner, making or causing to be made such expenditures for equipment and for renewals, repairs and replace monts as may be proper for the economical operation and maintenance thereof.

The Issuer shall annually prepare and edopt on or prior to the beginning of each Fiscal Year, a detailed budget of the estimated income and expenditures for operation and maintenance of the System during such Fiscal Year. The Issuer shall make available a copy of such annual budget to any Holder or Holders of Bonds upon request.

E. RATE ORDIBANCE. The Issuer has adopted or will adopt a rate ordinance and thereby will fix, establish and maintain such rates and will collect such fees, rentals and other charges for the use of the product, services and facilities of the System and revise the same from time to time, whenever necessary, as will always provide Gross Revenues in each Fiscal Year sufficient to pay one hundred twenty per centum (1234) of the Debt Service Requirement on the Bonds and any additional obligations issued on a parity with the Bonds, in such Fiscal Year, plus one hundred per centum (1004) of all teserve or other payments, including the cost of operation and raintenance of the System, herein required to be made in such Fiscal Year. Such rates, fees, restals or other charges shall not be reduced so as to be insufficient to provide Gross Revenues abequate for much perposes.

The Issuer further covenants and agrees that the Issuer will annually within sixty (60) days after adoption of the budget described in Subsection D hereof, revise such fees, rates, rentals and other charges for the use of the product, services and facilities of the System to the extent necessary to comply with the rate covenant contained in the preceding paragraph.

the Amortization Installment, if any, for such Fiscal Year for the

Accept to the

Term Bonds of each such series then outstanding and, if the amount available in such Piscal Year shall not be sufficient therefor, then in proportion to the Amortization Installment, if any, for such Piscal Year for the Term Bonds of each such series then outstanding, provided, however, that if the Term Bonds of any series shall not then be subject to redemption from moneys in the Bond Amortization Pund and if the Issuer shall at any time be unable to exhaust the roneys applicable to the Term Bonds of such series under the provisions of this clause (i) in the purchase of such Term Bonds under the provisions of paragraph (i) above, such moneys or the balance of such moneys, as the case may be, shall be retained in the Bond Amortization Pund and, as soon as it is feasible, applied to the retirement of Term Bonds of such series;

- (ii) any balance then remaining, other than moneys retained under clause (i) of this paragraph, shall be applied to the retirement of the Bonds as the Issuer in its sole discretion shall determine, but only in the case of the redamption of bonds of any series, in such amounts and on such terms as may be provided in the resolution authorizing the issuance of the Bonds of such series.
- (4) The Issuer shall deposit into the Bond Amortiration Pund, Amortisation Installments for the amortisation of the
  principal of the Current Interest Paying Term Bonds, and for the
  payment of the Compounded Amounts for the Capital Appreciation
  Term Bonds, together with any deficiencies for prior required
  deposits into the Bond Amortisation Pund, such Amortisation
  Installments to be in such amounts (or calculable amounts) and to
  be due on such date or dates and in such years as shall be detertimed by resolution of the governing body of the Issuer at or
  prior to the sale of the Bonds.

After all other required payments have been made, the Issuer shall pay from the Revenue Fund all expenses in connection

-34-

The Issuer will not reduce its schedule of rates, fees, rentals and other charges unless (i) the Issuer is not in default of any covenant or provision of this Ordinance, (ii) all required current payments under this Ordinance have been rade in full, and (iii) the Independent Qualified Consultant shall certify that the proposed reduced schedule will provide sufficient Revenues in each Piscal Year to comply with all covenants and required payments under this Ordinance.

- P. ACCOUNTING RECORDS. The Issuer shall maintain separately identifiable accounting records for the operation of the System by the use of an enterprise fund as such term is occurred used in governmental accounting and any Bondbolder shall have the right at ell reasonable times to inspect all records, accounts and data of the Issuer relating thereto.
- G. ANNUAL ACDIT. The Issuer shell, immediately after the close of each Piscal Year, cause the books, records and accounts relating to the System to be properly audited by a recognized independent fire of certified public accountants, which audit may be a pert of the City's comprehensive annual financial report, and shall require the auditors to complete their reports within one hundred eighty (180) days after the close of the Piscal Year. Such audit shall contain, but not be limited to, the statements required by generally accepted accounting principles applicable to governmental units, and a certificate by the auditors disclosing any default on the part of the Issuer of any covenant harein. A copy of such annual audit shall be made available to any Bondholder upon request.
- E. NO NORTRAGE OR SALE OF THE SYSTEM. The Issuer irrevocably covenants, blods and obligates itself not to sell, lease, ancumber or in any manner dispose of the System as a whole until all of the Bonds shall have been paid in full as to both principal and interest; provided, however, that the Issuer may dispose of the System as a whole prior to the payment of all of the Bonds upon the condition that, at or prior to the closing of the sale.

the Issuer shall deposit into irrevocable escrew sufficient funds, or Poderal Securities the principal of and interest on which will be sufficient to pay when due all of the then outstanding Bends and the unpaid interest thereon, to naturity or to a redemption date then irrevocably determined by the Issuer pursuant to the terms fixed for redemption of the Bends, and if redeemed, all redemption previous which will be due on the redemption date.

The Issuer may sell or dispose of, for fair market value, any properties or parts of the System which the Qualified Independent Consultant will certify in writing are not necessary for the continued operation of the System and that the sale or disposal of which will not adversely affect the Fevenues to be derived from the System to such an extent that the Issuer will fail to comply with the coverants of the Ordinance, and particularly the coverants contained in Subsection 177 hereof.

The proceeds derived from any sale or disposal of any properties or parts of the System as provided for in the above paragraph shall, in the discretion of the Issuer, be (1) deposited in the Reneval, Replacement and Improvement Fund and used exclusively for the purpose of paying the cost of extensions, enlargements or additions to, or the replacement of capital assets of the System and for unusual or extraordinary repairs thereto, or for the construction or acquisition of additions, extensions and improvements to the System, or (2) for the purchase or retirement of the Bonds; provided, however, that if the Qualified Independent Consultant shall certify that proceeds are necessary for the purposes stated in (1) above, such proceeds shall remain in the Renewal, Replacement and Improvement Fund until such certified requirements are satisfied and the proceeds shall not be used for any other purpose allowed by this Ordinance.

• I. INSURANCE. For so long as any of the Bonds are outstanding, the Issuer will make adequate provision to Zaintain adequate fire and windstorm insurance on all buildings and structures of the works and properties of the System which are subject

-37-

- L. ENFORCEMENT OF COLLECTIONS. The Issuer will diligently enforce and collect the rates, fees and other charges for
  the services of the System herein pledged; will take all reasonable
  steps, actions and proceedings for the enforcement and collection
  of such rates, charges and fees as shall become delinquent; and
  will maintain accurate records with respect thereof. All such
  fees, rates, charges and revenues herein pledged shall, as collected,
  be held in trust to be applied as herein provided and not other-
- M. EVENTS OF DEPAULT. It shall be an event of default under this Ordinance if:
- the Issuer shall fail to pay the principal, Amortization Installments and interest on the Bonds when due, whether at maturity, by call for redemption, or otherwise.
- (2) The Issuer shall fail to deposit or pay within ten (10) days after the due date thereof any other required deposit or payment under this Ordinance;
- (3) The Issuer shall fail to comply with any other covenant made in this Ordinance, Which failure shall continue for more than thirty (30) days; or
- (4) a decree or order for relief under the Pederal
  Bankruptcy Code shall have been entered with respect to the
  Issuer; or any order or decree by a court having jurisdiction
  shall have been entered: (i) adjudging the Issuer bankrupt or
  insolvent under any similar applicable state or Pederal law and
  any such order for relief, decree or order shall have continued
  undischarged and unstayed for a period of ninety (90) days; or
  (ii) providing for the appointment of a receiver or trustee or
  assignee in bankruptcy or insolvency of the Issuer shall have
  been entered and such decree or order shall have remained in
  force undischarged and unstayed for a period of ninety (90) days.
- N. REMEDIES. Any holder of Bonds issued under the provisions hereof or any trustee acting for the holders of such Bonds may by suit, action, mandanus or other proceedings in any court of

to loss through fire or windstors, public liability insurance and other insurance of such types and in such amounts as are normally carried in the operation of similar public water and sever utilities within the State of Florida, for all of which insurance the Issuer Fay be either a wholly or partial self insurer. Any such insurance shall be placed with nationally recognized and reputable insurers or under authorized self-insurance programs or any combination of both and shall be carried for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds. All moneys received for losses under any of such insurance, except public liability, and for diminutive items which are not integral for the operation of the System and which are not revenue producing, are hereby pledged by the Issuer as security for the Bonds, until and unless such proceeds are used to remedy the loss or damage for which such proceeds are received, either by repairing the property damaged or replacing the property destroyed with due diligence after the receipt of such proceeds.

- J. NO PREE SERVICE. The Issuer will not render or cause to be rendered any free services of any nature by its System. The Issuer, including its departments, opencies and instrumentalities, shall avail itself of the services provided by the System, or any part thereof, and the same rates, fees or charges applicable to other customers receiving like services under similar circumstances shall be charged to the Issuer and any such department, agency or instrumentality. Such charges shall be paid as they accrue, and the Issuer shall transfer from its relevant funds sufficient sums to pay such charges. The revenues so received shall be decided to be Revenues derived from the operation of the System, and shall be deposited and accounted for in the same manner as other tevenues derived from such operation of the System.
- X. MANDATORY CUT OFF. The Issuer shall establish a written policy consistent with sound business judgment for the disconnection from the System of any customer who falls to pay for services rendered by the System, and shall enforce such policy diligently and fairly.

-36-

competent jurisdiction, protect and enforce any and all rights, including the right to the appointment of a receiver, existing under the laws of the State of Florida, or granted and contained herein, and may enforce and compel the performance of all duties herein required or by any applicable etatutes to be performed by the Issuer or by any officer thereof, including, but not limited to, the duty of the Issuer to remedy any event of default herein prescribed.

Nothing herein, however, shall be construed to grant to any holder of such Bonds any lies on any property of or within the corporate boundaries of the Issuer.

- O. REPORT REGARDING SYSTEM. The Engineer shall provide the Issuer with competent counsel affecting the economical and efficient operation of the System and in connection with the making of capital improvements and renewals and replacements to the System. The Issuer shall annually cause to be prepared by the Engineer a report or survey of the System, with respect to the Management of the properties thereof, the sufficiency of the rates and charges for services, the proper maintenance of the properties of the System, and the recessity for capital improvements and recommendations therefor. Such a report or survey shall also show any failure of the Issuer to perform or comply with the covenants berein contained.
- If any such report or survey of the Engineer shall set forth that the provisions hereof or any reasonable recommendations of such Engineer have not been couplied with, the Issuer shall immediately take such reasonable steps as are necessary to comply with such requirements and recommendations. Copies of each report or survey shall be placed on file with the City Clerk of the Issuer and shall be open to the inspection of any holder of Bonds or other interested parties.
- P. NO COMPETING FACILITIES. To the full extent permitted by law, the Issuer will not grant, or cause, consent to, or allow the granting of, any franchise or permit to any person.

firm, corporation or body, or agency or instrumentality whatsoever, for the furnishing of water and sever services which will materially compete with those of the System.

- Q. ISSUANCE OF OTHER OBLIGATIONS. Except under the conditions and in the manner provided herein, the Issuer will not issue any other obligations payable from the Net Revenues of the System, nor voluntarily create or cause to be created any debt, lien, pledge, assignment, encumbrance or other charge having priority to or being on a parity with the lien of the Bonds and the interest thereon, upon said Net Revenues. All other obligations issued by the Issuer, other than the Bonds herein authorized and Additional Parity Obligations provided for in Subsection R below, payable from such Net Revenues shall be, and shall contain an express statement that such obligations are, junior and subordinate in all respects to the Bonds and any such Additional Parity Obligations, as to lien on and source and security for payment from the Net Revenues.
- R. ISSUANCE OF ADDITIONAL PARITY GRIGATIONS. No Additional Parity Obligations payable on a parity from the Net Revenues of the System with the Bonds issued porsuant to this Ordinance shall be issued after the issuance of the Bonds herein authorized, except for the construction and/or acquisition of additions, extensions and improvements to the System, or for refunding purposes, and except upon the conditions and in the Ranner berein provided:
- (1) There shall have been obtained and filed with the Issuer not later than the date of delivery of such Additional Farity Obligations, a certificate of an independent Certified Fublic Accountant of suitable experience and responsibility: (a) stating that the books and records of the Issuer relating to the collection and receipt of the Revenues derived from the operation of the Nater and Sever System have been audited by his; (b) setting forth the amount of Net Revenues, as defined herein, received by the Issuer for either the preceding Piscal Year or for

-41-

deemed to be the interest rate quoted in The Bond Buyer 25 Revenue Bond Index for the last week of the month preceding the date of sale of such Additional Parity Obligations, as published in The Bond Buyer or if that index is no longer published, an interest rate equal to 80% of the yield for outstanding Treasury bonds having an equivalent maturity as the Additional Parity Obligations proposed to be issued, or if there are no such Treasury bonds having equivalent maturities, 80% of the lowest prevailing prime rate of any of the five largest commercial banks in the United States ranked by assets. If none of the foregoing are available. such interest rate shall be that selected by a Qualified Independent Consultant. If Additional Parity Obligations are payable at the option of the holder, the "put" date or dates shall be ignored and the stated maturity dates thereof shall be used for purposes of calculating the average Debt Service Requirement for such variable rate Additional Parity Obligations.

- (4) Each ordinance or resolution authorizing the issuance of Additional Parity Obligations will recite that all of the covanants herein contained will be applicable to such Additional Parity Obligations.
- (5) The Issuer shall not be in default in performing any of the covenants and obligations assured hereunder, and all payments herein required to have been made into the accounts and funds, as provided hereunder, shall have been rade to the full extent required.
- (6) The Issuer covenants that it will not issue Designated Naturity Bonds (as defined in Subsection ZL(2)(ii) hereof) as Additional Parity Obligations as long as Bonds insured by a Municipal Bond Insurer remain outstanding unless (i) the Issuer obtains the consent of such Municipal Bond Insurer to such issuance, which consent shall not be unreasonably withhold or (ii) the Issuer covenants at the time of issuance of such Designated Maturity Bonds either to establish a credit facility which insures payment of the principal of such Bonds on the date of maturity

any twelve (12) consecutive months of the eighteen (18) months immediately preceding the date of sale of such Additional Parity Obligations with respect to which much certificate is made, at the option of the Issuer, and (c) stating that the Net Revenues for such preceding Fiscal Year or twelve (12) month period are equal to at least 1.36 times the highest Debt Service Requirement in any succeeding Fiscal Year on (i) a)] Bonds and all Additional Parity Obligations, if any, then outstanding and (ii) the Additional Parity Obligations with respect to which such certificate is made.

\*\*\*

- (2) If desirable, the Net Revenues for such preceding Fiscal Year or twelve (12) month period may be adjusted by the Qualified Independent Consultant as follows: (a) to reflect for such preceding Piscal Year or twelve (12) month period changes rade in the rates, fees, rentals or other charges for the operation of the System placed in effect prior to the date of the certificate provided for in paragraph (1), above; (b) to reflect any change in such Net Revenues caused by any new projects, including the acquisition of any existing water and/or sewer systems, of the System having been placed into use and operation subsequent to the date of commencement of such preceding Piscal Year or twelve (12) month period, as the case may be, and prior to the date of such certificate provided for in paragraph (1) above; (c) to include the estimated Net to be derived during the third full Piscal Year commencing after the date upon which the proposed Additional Parity Chlications are delivered pursuant to the certificate referred to in subparagraph (1) above, on account of (I) the project to be constructed or acquired from the proceeds of such proposed Additional Parity Obligations, and (II) projects under construction on the date of issuance of the proposed Additional Parity Oblications.
- (3) For purposes of determining the highest Debt Service Requirement for the issuance of Additional Farity Obligations which will bear a variable rate of interest, the interest on such proposed Additional Parity Obligations shall be

-42-

thereof or to refund such Bonds, in either case at a date not later than five years preceding the stated maturity thereof.

- S. CONNECTIONS MITS SYSTEM. The Issuer will, to the full extent permitted by law, require all lands, buildings and structures within the service area which can use the facilities and services of the System, to connect with and use the facilities and services of the System, and to cease all other means and methods for the supply of vater and the collection, purification, treatment and disposal of sevage and waste matter.
- T. TAX EXEMPTION. The Issuer at all times while the Bonds and the interest thereon are outstanding will comply with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and any valid and applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, to the extent necessary to preserve the examption from federal income taxation of the interest on the Bonds, and will adopt any procedures necessary for such couplinace.
- U. PAYMENT FROM NOT REVENUES. The issuer will duly and punctually pay or cause to be paid from the Net Pavenues of the System, the principal of, and interest and premium, if any, on the Bonds.

SECTION 18. NODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT. No adverse naterial modification or mendment of this Ordinance or of any ordinance or resolution amendment of this Ordinance or of any ordinance or resolution amendment in writing of the holders of fifty-one percent (51%) or more in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding; provided, however, that in the event the Issuer obtains a policy of municipal bond insurance covering the Bonds, then only the consent of the Municipal Bond Insurer shall be required; provided, ferther, that no modification or amendment shall permit a change in the raturity of the Bonds or a reduction in the rate of interest thereon or in the amount of principal obligation thereof or affecting the promise of the Issuer to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds as the same shall become due from the Net Revenues of the System or reduce the per-

centage of the Holders of the Bonds required to consent to any adverse material modification or arendment hereof without the consent of the Holders of all Bonds and the Monicipal Bond Insurer; and provided further, however, that the Issuer may at any time arend this Ordinance to provide for the Issuence or exchange of Bonds in coupon form, if and to the extent that doing so will not affort the tax exempt status of the interest on the Bonds.

SECTION 19. SALE OF BONDS. The Bonds shall be issued and sold at public or private sale at one time or from time to time and at such price or prices consistent with the provisions of the Act and the requirements of this Ordinance as the Issuer shall hereafter determine by resolution; provided that the first sale of such Bonds shall provide proceeds at least sufficient to carry out the refunding program hereinbefore set forth.

SECTION 20. VALIDATION ADTRORIZED. If the Mayor, the City Manager and the City Attorney shall determine in their discretion to validate the Bonds, the City Attorney is authorized and directed to prepare and file proceedings to validate the Bonds in the manner provided by law.

SECTION 21. SEMBRABILITY OF INVALID PROVISIONS. If any one or more of the covenants, agreements or provisions berein contained shall be held contrary to any express provision of law or contrary to the policy of express law, though not expressly prohibited, or against public policy, or shall for any reason whatsoever be held invalid, then such covenants, agreements or provisions shall be null and void and shall be deemed separable from the remaining covenants, agreements or provisions and shall in no way affect the validity of any of the other provisions hereof or of the Bonds issued bereunder.

SECTION 22. PUBLICATION OF NOTICE OF REFUNDING. Nithin thirty (30) days after the delivery of the Bonds, the Issuer shall cause to be published one time in a financial journal of general circulation in the City and State of New York, a notice of the advance refunding of the Nefunded Bonds.

-45-

agreements and other obligations of the Issuer to the Ragistered Cwners of such Bonds shall continue to exist and the Municipal Bond Insurer shall be subrogated to the rights of such Registered Owners.

Purther, in the event that at any time after such defeasance has occurred, as above provided, a deficiency of cash or accurities is found to exist in the secrow account, the Issuer covenants that it will, within seven (?) business days after being notified of such deficiency by the escrow holder of the escrow account, make up such deficiency from any funds or securities legally available to it in order that maid encrow account shall be fully sufficient for the purpose of defeasing the Boods.

SECTION 25. REFRAL OF INCONSISTENT CRDINARCES AND RESC-LUTIONS. All ordinances or resolutions or parts thereof in conflict herewith are bereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.

SECTION 26. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shell take effect upon its coactment in the menner provided by law.

ATTEST

Vernadette Hund

PASSED FIRST REAGING this 7th day of AFRIL , 1987.

PASSED SECOND READING this Zist day of AFRIL , 1987.

SECTION 23. USE OF FUNDS SET ASIDE FOR REFUNDED BONDS.

The roneys and investments in the funds and accounts established in the proceedings authorizing the issuance of the Refunded Bonds shall be transferred to one or more of the corresponding funds and accounts established in this Ordinance or, at the option of the Issuer, shall be deposited in escrow for payment of the Refunded Bonds pursuant to the Escrow Deposit Agreement described in Section 15 hereof. The distribution of such moneys and investments among the various eccounts, funds and Escrow Deposit Agreements shall be made as determined by the Director of Finance of the City prior to the delivery of any of the Bonds.

SECTION 24. DEFEASANCE. If, at any time, the Issuer shall have paid, or shall have made provision for payment of, the principal, interest and redesption premiums, if any, with respect to the Bonds, then, and in that event, the pledge of and lien on the Revenues in favor of the holders of the Bonds shall be no longer in effect. For purposes of the preceding sentence, deposit of Pederal Securities in irrevocable trust with a banking institution or trust company, for the sole benefit of the Bondholders, in respect to which such Pederal Securities, the principal and interest received will be sufficient to make timely payment of the principal, interest, and redesption premiums, if any, on the outstanding Bonds, shall be considered "provision for payment". Nothing herein shall be deemed to require the Issuer to call any of the outstanding Bonds for redemption prior to maturity pursuant to any applicable optional redemption provisions, or to impair the discretion of the Issuer in determining whether to exercise any such option for early redemption.

In the event that, prior to such defeasance, the principal and/or interest due on any of the Bonds shall have been paid by the Municipal Bond Insurer pursuant to its municipal bond insurance policy, the Bonds so paid shall remain outstanding, shall not be defeased and not be considered paid by the lasuer, and the lien and pledge of the Pledged Funds and all covenants,

-46-

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA

WATER AND SEWER REVENUE BONDS

ORDINANCE NO. 92-74

Adopted September 29 , 1992

CEDINANCE NO. 92- 92-74

AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING AND AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 87-35 EMACTED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF PORPANO BEACH, FLORIDA ON APRIL 27, 1987 EMITTED "AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF PORPANO BEACH, FLORIDA, COMBINING THE CITY'S MATER SYSTEM AND SUMES SYSTEM INDO ONE COMBINED SYSTEM FOR FINANCING PURPOSES; AUTHORIZING THE REFUNDING OF PRESENTLY COUSTANDING MATER SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 1982, OF THE CITY AND THE REFUNDING OF PRESENTLY COUNTINGNEED MATER SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 1982, OF THE CITY AND THE CONSTRUCTION AND ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONS, EXTENSIONS AND IMPROVEMENTS TO THE COMBINED MATER AND SCHEME SYSTEM; PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOT EXCEEDING SYSTEM; PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOT EXCEEDING SYSTEM; PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOT EXCEEDING SYSTEM; PROVIDING FOR THE PROVIDING TO SAID BONDS; MAXING CERTAIN COVERANTS AND AGREEMENTS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH; PROVIDING AN INSURANCE POLICY TO THE CREDIT OF THE RESERVE ACCOUNT AND SET FORTH CERTAIN MATERS RELATING THEREFOL TO REVISE THE DEFINITION OF COST OF OPERATION AND AND SET FORTH CERTAIN MATERS RELATING THEREFOL TO REVISE THE DEFINITION OF COST OF OPERATION AND ADDITIONAL BONDS; TO AMEND THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE RATIL COVENNENT SET FORTH IN SAID ORDINANCE; TO FERHIT THE COVENNENT SET FORTH IN SAID ORDINANCE; TO THE MATERS REPORTED OF THE RATIL COVENNENT SET FORTH IN SAID ORDINANCE; TO THE ORDINANCE; TO CREATE A RATE STABILLIATION FUND; TO THE ORDINANCE; TO CREATE A RATE STABILLIATION FUND; TO BE TAKEN INTO ACCOUNT IN DETERMINING COMPLIANCE MITH THE RATE STABILLIATION FUND; TO BE TAKEN INTO ACCOUNT IN SAID ORDINANCE; AND TO PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA:

SECTION 1. AUTHORITY FOR THIS ORDINANCE. The City of Poupano Beach, Florida (the "Issuer") is authorized to adopt this ordinance under the authority granted by the provisions of Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, as amended, and other applicable provisions of law.

SECTION 2. FINDINGS. It is hereby found and determined that:

- A. On April 27, 1987, the City Commission of the Issuer enacted Ordinance No. 87-35, the title of which is quoted in the title of this ordinance (the "Bond Ordinance") authorizing, among other natters, the issuance of the Issuer's Water and Sever Ravenue Bonds, Series 1987.
- B. The Issuer now desires to supplement and arend the Bond Ordinance in the manner described herein, pursuant to Section 18 of the Bond Ordinance, which permits such amondments with the consent of the "Municipal Bond Insurer" as such term is defined in the Bond Ordinance. Municipal Bond Inverse Assurance Corporation is the Municipal Bond Insurer for purposes of the Bond Ordinance and has heretofore delivered to the Issuer its written consent to the amendments to the Bond Ordinance set forth herein.

City Commission of the City of Pompano Beach, Florida

RE: Proposed Amendments to Bond Ordinance 87-35 enacted by the City of Pompano Beach, Florida on April 27, 1987 (the "Bond Ordinance")

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Municipal Bond Investors Assurance Corporation, a New York stock insurance company ("MBIA") is the insurer of the \$27,820,000 City of Pompano Beach, Florida Mater and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 1987 issued under and secured by the above referenced Bond Ordinance. MBIA hereby consents, as required by Section 18 of the Bond Ordinance, to the proposed adoption by the City Commission of the City of Pompano Beach, Florida of certain amendments to the Bond Ordinance, which manufacturers are set forth in Exhibit A annexed hereto and made a part hereof.

Very truly yours,

MUNICIPAL BOND INVESTORS ASSURANCE CORPORATION

By: Philip & Singer Title: Man Pounder Date: 01110

F/8890JG/1

- C. All capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Bond Ordinance, unless otherwise provided or unless the context otherwise clearly requires. To the extent necessary to effectuate the terms and conditions hereof, the Bond Ordinance is hereby incorporated herein by this reference. All matters underlined herein shall indicate additions to the Bond Ordinance and all matters crossed-out herein shall indicate deletions from the Bond Ordinance.
- SECTION 3. SUPPLEMENT AND AMENDMENTS TO BOND ORDINARCE. The Bond Ordinance is hereby supplemented and amended as follows:
- A. The definition of "Cost of Operation and Maintenance" set forth in Section 2.J of the Bond Ordinance is hereby amended and supplamented as
  - "J. 'Cost of Operation and Maintenance' of the System shall mean the current expenses, paid or accrued, of operation, maintenance and repair of the System as calculated in accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles, but shall not include expenses not annually recurring, such as any reserve for renewals and replacement, extraordinary repairs or conditions, any allowance for depreciation or amountaintion, any allowance for depreciation or amountaintion any debt service requirement or any general administrative charges payable to the General Fund."
- B. The definition of 'Gross Revenues' or 'Revenues' set forth in Section 2.R of the Bond Ordinance is hereby amended and supplemented as
  - "R. 'Gross Revenues' or 'Revenues' shall mean all income or earnings, including installation and connection charges (but not input Faes) and including income from investments deposited in the Revenue Fund, derived by the Issuer from the operation of the System; provided, however, that any Revenues available to be used by the Issuer for any lawful purpose under Section 17.8.(6) hereof which were deposited in the Rates Stabilisation Fund and used by the Issuer to pay the Cost of Operation and Maintanasse of the System shall be desced to be Revenues, when so used for the purpose of determining compliance by the Issuer with the rate compliance by the Issuer with the rate and with the requirements of Section 17.8.(1) hereof relating to the issuance of Additional Parity Obligations.

C. Section 2 of the Bond Ordinance is hereby amended and supplemented to add three new definitions immediately after the definition of "Registered Owner" as follows:

'BB. 'Reserve Account Policy' shall seen an insurance policy, surery bond, irrevocable letter of credit or other credit agreement or similar facility maintained by the Jesser in lieu of or in partial substitution for cash or securities on deposit in the Reserve Account created hereunder.'

CC. 'Reserve Policy Costs' shall mean costs of repayment of draws on all outstanding Reserve Account Policies and related researching expenses incurred by all Reserve Account Sureties, together with interest thereon at a rate set by the Related ordinance or resolution or an agreemat between the lesuer and the related Reserve Account Surety.

PD. 'Reserve Account Surely' shall rean the firm or corporation that issues a Reserve Account Policy for a series of bonds issued hercunder.

The definitions presently lattered "BB" through "DE" in the Bond Ordinance are hereby deemed relettered to accommodate the inclusion of the new definitions above.

D. Section 13 of the Bond Ordinance is hereby amended and supplemented to add the following at the end thereof:

The Issuer shall be entitled to exercise any right of optional redemption established by subsequent resolution with respect to subsequent resolution with respect to Additional Perity Obligations Issued bersunder (the "Optional Redesption Bonds" only to the extent it has not sold the rights to call the Optional Redesption Bonds for mandatory tender for purchase the "Option Bights". As provided below, which Option Rights are or were exercisable on the Proposed redesption date for the Optional Redesption Bonds proposed to be redesped. If Option Rights have been sold for a portion of the Optional Redesption Bonds reprosed to the redesption to Bonds proposed to the redesped. If Option Rights have been sold for a portion of the Optional Redesption Bonds of a particular raturity which are or were exercisable on the redesption date, the lessuer shall be entitled

F/86001G/9

evidenced by certificates the 'call Right certificates') executed by the Mayor or Vice-Mayor of the Issuer and attented by the East of the Issuer and authenticated by the End Right Certificates shall dentify the maturity and principal amount of Optional Redesption Ronds to which it applies and the line period (the 'Option Period') during which the Option Right evidenced by the Call Right Certificate is exercisable. No single Call Right Certificate shall be issued for more than one cautificate shall be issued for more than one caturity of the Optional Redesption Bonds. The Call Right Certificates shall represent the right to require a tender for purchase of an amount of Optional Redesption Bonds of St. 000 or any integral multiple thereof or any larger minuse denomination specified in the Issuer resolvion authorising the sale of the Call Right Certificates.

(b) The form of the Call Right Certificates shell be as provided by resolution of the Issuer adorted before the gale of the Ortion Rights. The resolution of the Issuer adorted before the gale of the Ortion Rights. The resolution of the Issuer shall contain provisions for the resistant of the Issuer shell contain provisions for the resistant, transfer and exchange of Call Right Certificates under such circumstances, at such times and upon payment of said fees as provided therein and shall provide for the appointment of a fiscal agent (thich shall be appointment of a fiscal agent (thich shall be appointment of a fiscal agent (thich within or titue company either within or trust company either within or trust company either within or the State) for the Ortion Rights (the Fiscal Agent'). If so provided for the book-shiry system for the Option Rights which in substance conforms to the provisions of this subsection dealing with Call Right Certificates.

fc) In order to exercise the Option Right represented by a Call Right Certificate, the Cell Right Certificate, the price and written instructions which designate the purchase date and, if less than all of the Optional Redeemtion Bonds to which the Call Right Certificate portains are to be purchased, the principal amount to be purchased, but he delivered to the Figure Agent not less than 45 nor nore than 90 days

to call for redeption on that redesption date a principal amount of Optional Redesption Ronds of that maturity soul to the principal amount for which Option Rights have not been sold.

The Optional Redemption Bonds shall be subject to gardatory tender for purchase at the same times and prices and upon the same notice requirements as applicable to the optional redemption of the Optional Redemption Bonds, if so provided in the final Official Statement with respect to the Optional Redemption Bonds and the Purchang Contract approved and executed by the Mayor or Vice-Mayor of the fissue pursuant to the authority and quidelines provided herein. Any Optional Redemption Bonds are unchased shall remain Cutstanding within the meaning of this Ordinance and shall not be deemed and unless delivered to the Bond Resister with express instructions to cancel the detervidenced thereby.

The Issuer hereby reserves the right to sell its Cation Rights to one or sore third parties as provided herein and by subsequent resciution of the Issuer specifying the Optional Redesption Bonds with respect to which such rights may be exercised and the terms and conditions applicable to the exercise of such rights, including redesption prices and dates. Any such sale will transfer to the purchaser sli or a portion of the Issuer's rights to respire the sandatory and identified principal arount of the Optional Redesption Bonds for an identified service of time prior to the survivy of these Optional Redesption Bonds for an identified service of time prior to the survivy of these Optional Redesption Bonds of an identified call for prior redesption on amount of Optional Redesption Bonds eval to the amount of Optional Redesption Bonds of which Option Rights have been sold with the same saturity as the saturity of the Optional Redesption Bonds of the Redesption Bonds with the same saturity as the saturity of the Optional Redesption Bonds of the Redesption Bonds with these services of the Period which those Option Rights have been sold for the period which those Option Rights have been sold for the period which those Option Rights have hear sold for the period which those Option Rights have hear sold for the period which those

In the event the leaver seils all or any portion of its Option Rights, the following terms and conditions shall apply:

F/8500/6/9

perfore the purchase date. The purchase date must be between 45 and 90 days after the delivery of the Call Right Certificate, purchase price and written instructions to the fiscal Apant and must be a date that is included in the Option Feriod specified in the Call Right Certificate. The purchase date may not be a date between the Record Take and corresponding interest nervent date with respect to the Optional Redesction Foods. If suvenily agreeable to the comer of the Option Rights and the Fiscal Apant, the Fiscal Apant may invest the purchase price delivered to it by such comer in Federal Securities which sature on or before the purchase date. Any interest or other sain on such Federal Securities, net of any fee of the Fiscal Apant, shall be the property of and be remitted to the owner of the Call Right Right Festificate.

(d) Upon receipt of a Call Right Certificate, the purchase price and instructions provided in paragraph (c) above, the Bond Registrar shall proceed to select, by lot, an Optional Redemption Rond or Optional Redemption Bond at the tendered for purchase, which Optional Redemption Bond are subject to mandatory leader for purchase during the Optional Redemption Bonds are subject to mandatory leader for purchase during the Option Period sectified in the Call Right Certificate (or instructions if only a mount equal to that sectified in the Call Right Certificate (or instructions if only a portion of the Optional Redemption Bonds to which the Call Right Certificate rectains are period before the Optional Redemption Bonds to which the Call Right Certificate rectains are being purchased). Such selection shall be cade between 30 and 55 days prior to the purchase date. A portion of any Optional Redemption Bond in a denomination that exceeds \$5.000 may be called for sandatory tender for purchase purposent to this section, and if so called, the Bond Registrar shall suthenticate and deliver a new Optional Redemption Bond for the unpurchased portion of that Optional Redemption Bond to the registered owner thereof.

fel Any Optional Redemption Bond called for mandatory tender for purchase west be delivered to the Bond Registrar on the purchase date and upon such delivery, the

B-14

purchase price will be paid by the Fiscal purchase price will be paid by the Fiscal Agent to the registered course thereof. if the purchase date is an interest payment date for the Optional Redesption Bonds, the interest due on the Optional Redesption Bonds shall be paid as provided in the resolution setting forth the Optional Redemption Bonds setting forth the Optional Redesption Bands with respect to which Optional Rights may be sold.) Any Optional Redesption Bond so called for mandatory tender which is not so called for mandatory tender which is not so presented on the porchase date shall be treated as purchased by the owner of the Option Right being exercised for all purposes hereof. Upon subsequent respire of such Optional Redesption Bond or satisfactory indensity from the registered owner thereof, the purchase price of such Optional Bond hall be purchase price of such Optional Bond hall be puid to the registered owner of such the purchase price of such Optional Road shall be paid to the registered owner of such deceded purchased bond. In no swent shall the registered owner of any Optional Redeeption Rend which is called for mandatory tender for purchase be entitled to interest accrying after the purchase date. The Bond Registrar shall cancel any Optional Redeeption Roads tendered for mandatory murchase and issue a new Optional Redeeption Bond in the same principal amount and with the mane interest rate. Raturity date, form and tenor (except that much Optional Redeeption Road shall state that it is a Optional Redeeption Bond shigh is not spitiogt to mandatory tender for which is not subject to mandatory tender for which is not subject to mandatory tender for purchase or optional redemption for the ties period during which the Option Right swidenced by the Call Right Certificate being acchanged for such Optional Redemption Bond Mas exercisable) to the owner of the Call Right Certificate MAR exercisable) to the coner of the Call Right Certificate porpount to which the Optional Redemption Sond was called for mandatory tender for purchase. The Sond Registrar shall note on the registration records that each Optional Redemption Sond is not subject to mandatory tender for purchase or optional redemption for the designated period of time. If a book-entry evetes is then employed for the Optional Redemption lands, the Bond Registrar shall require that Since the southern and require that the new Options Redeption Bond so issued by the person designated by the securities depository which is holding certificates purewant to the book-entry every.

ign Retween 180 and 30 days prior to the execution by the Issuer of a contract for sale of any Option Rights bereunder, the Pale of any Option Rights bereunder, the lesser shall cause the Bond Registrat to dive notice of the proposed male by cartified or registered control to the registered owners of the Optional Redesption Bonds. Such notice shall state that it is a notice of proposed sale of Option Right with respect to the Optional Redesption Bonds and shall include the mass and address of a person or entiry from which additional information concerning the proposed sale ray be obtained. In addition, such notice may list, but is not required to light the mature that the option Rights are proposed to be sold and the CUSIP numbers of those maturities. Any error in such maturities or Esturities. Any error in such saturities or CUSIF numbers or say other error in such notice shall not affect the ability of the Issuer to proceed with the sale of the Option Rights. Actual receipt of ratied notice by the resistered cover of any Optional Redeeption Bond shall not be a condition necessary to the sale of the Option Rights with respect to the sale of the Option Rights or any other Optional Redeeption Bond a Cartificate by the Bond Recienter that such notice has been given as herein provided notice has been given as herein provi-shall be conclusive as against all parties.

(h) Notwithstanding envising contained herein any provisions herein dealing with the option Rights or the Call Right Certificates may be assended by the Issuer prior to the sale of the Option Rights as provided in Section 18 hereof, provided that no such assendent say be made which adversely affects or changes the security for or payment of the Optional Redemption Bonds, or manner of making such payment, or which permits Optional Redemption Bonds to be called for mindatory tender for purchase prior to the dates specified or at prices less than those specified in the Purchase Contract and the Optional Redemption Bonds to be called for mindatory tender for purchase Contract and the final official Statesent with respect to the Optional Redemption Bonds, permits less than 10 days mailed notice to the registered owner of any Optional Redemption Bonds alled for candatory tender for purchase or remits the issuer to sell Option Rights without satisfied the notice of the sale of Option Rights previous by subsection (g) above. Notwithstanding anything contained

(f) If the owner of Option Rights is ifi if the owner of Ortion Rights is also the owner of an outinent Redemption Bond of the materity to which the Ortions Rights owner's Coll Right Certificate Pertains. Which Options Redemption Bond is subject to mandatory tender for purchase during the Ortion Period specified in the Call Right Certificate, that Ortion Redemption Bond to the Bond Requistrat the Call Right Certificate and the Optional Redemption Bond and request that the Bond reduced to the Coll Right Certificate and the Optional Redemption Bond and request that the Bonders council the certificate and the Optional Research Bonna and request that the Registrar cancel the Sall Right Cortificate and designate the Ortineal Redemption Bond to be an Orticeal Redemption Bond which is not exhibit to mandatory tender for purchase or optional redemption during the Option Period specified to the Call Sight Cortificate. Door recent recomption during the Option Period seedling in the Cail Right Certificate. Dron receipt of such Cail Right Certificate, the Optional Redemption Bond and request, the Bond Resistrar shall so designate the Optional Redemption Bond on its records and on the Optional Redemption Bond itself the standing or other appropriate means of identification or by jesuing a replacement Optional Redemption Bond and that Optional Redemption Bond or any Optional Redemption Bond or by jewing a replayment Orlional Redention Bond or any Orlional Redention Bond and that Orlional Redention Bond or any Orlional Redention Bond decreater lessed in a transfer or exchange for that Orlional Redention Bond shall not be subject to candatory tender for purchase or orlional redention during the designated period. The Bond Registrar is not required to honor such a request if it is made within the 15-day period preceding the selection of Orlional Redeeption Bonds of the same saturity as the Orlional Redention Bond Persented for prior redention or randatory tender for purchase nor to honor such request with respect to a Orlional Redeeption or pandatory tender for purchase nor to honor such request with respect to a Orlional Redeeption Fished by the subjected for prior redesption or pandatory tender for purchase. The Bond Registrar ray charge the Orlion Fished owners a fee to compensate it for its expenses in connection with the exchange contemplated by this subjection and shall charge the Orlion Rights owner a fee to corporate it for the contemplated by this subjection and shall charge the Orlion Rights owner and the Bond Registrar shall cooperation hosesyith. At the request of the context the several and the Bond Registrar shall cooperation bond. in obtaining a new CUSIP number, if needed or desirable, for such Optional Redemption Bond.

F/86001G/9

The foregoing notwithstanding, the Issuer shall not sell Option Rights as provided above unless there has been received and filled Mith the Issuer an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel to the effect that the sale of such Option Rights and the application of the proceeds from such sale in the manner provided in the resolution of the Issuer providing for such sale is within the corporate power of the Issuer. It is within the corporate power of the Issuer. It is a leash, walld and binding oblication of the Issuer under applicable law, and will not severally affect the exclusion from groups income for federal income for purpose of interest on the Optional Redemption Bonds. foregoing notwithstanding.

8

E. Section 17 of the Bond Ordinance is hereby amended and supplemented to add a new subsection AA following subsection A thereof to read as follows:

\*AA. PATE STABLIFATION FUND. There is hereby freeted the "City of Poccano Banch Mater and Sawer System Rate Stablifation Fund" Inferentiate called the "Rate Stablifation Fund". The Issuer say, from time to time, to time, for the purpose of preventing or Enhicition future increases in rates and charges, deporit aums remaining in the Revenue Fund pursuant to Section 17.8(6) hereof in the Rate Stablifation Fund. Au ponies deposited in the Rate Stablifation Fund. Au ponies deposited in the Rate Stablifation Fund applied, or for to application of sums in the Occasion and Maintenance Fund to the Rewmant of the cost of Operation and Maintenance of the System.

Section 17.8.(1) of the Bond Ordinance is hereby

F. Section 17.8.(1) of the Bond Ordinance is he supplemented as follows:

(1) Revenues shall be used for deposit into a non-pledeed fund to be known as the 'Rebate Fund' which is hereby established, at the times and in the anounts required to be transferred in order to comply with the arbitrase rebate covenants of the Issuer made at the time of issuence of each series of bonds issued hereunder. Therester, revenues shall first be used for deposit into a fund to be known as the 'Operation and Maintenance Fund' which is hereby established, of such such as a renecessary to pay the Costs of Operation and Maintenance of the System for the then current sonth."

G. Section 17.8 of the Bond Ordinance is hereby amended and supplemented to add the following new paragraph at the end of subsection (3) thereof:

"Notwithsteading the foregoing, the Issuer Ray satisfy in whole or in part the regularisant of this subsection by purchasing a Reserve Account Policy equal to all or part in the Beat of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement on the bonds issued hereunder, such that at all times the combination of spoice on deposit in the Reserve Account and the arount of the Reserve Account Policy is equal to the Debt Service Reserve Requirement. The conditions for withdrawal of spoice under the Reserve Account Policy Costs Ray Account Policy Costs Ray and the priority that the payment of Reserve Account Policy Costs Ray and the priority that the payment of Reserve Account Policy Costs Ray and the priority that the payment of Reserve Account Policy Costs Ray and the priority that the payment of Reserve Account Policy Costs Ray Reserve Account Policy Costs Ray rark shead of all requirements of this Section 17.8, except subsections (1) and 12) hereof.

H. Section 17.E. of the Bond Ordinance is hereby amended and supplemented as follows:

\*E. Rate Ordinance. The Issuer has adopted or will adopt a rate ordinance and thereby will fix, establish and gaintain such rates and collect such fees, rentals and other charges for the use of the product, services and facilities of the System and will, ffffff fh/f/fd/ from time to time, whenever necessary, remust a Ovelified Independent Consultant to make recommendations as to a revision of such fees, rentals and other charges and file a copy of such request with the Finance Director of the Issuer, and upon receiving such recommendations will make such revisions as may be necessary or proper, as will always provide Gross Ravenuss In each revisions as may be necessary or proper, as will always provide Gross Ravenuss In each resistions as may be necessary or proper, as will always provide Gross Ravenuss In each resiston to the Bonde and any additional obligations issued on a parity with the Bonde, in such Fiscal Year, plus one hundred per centum (100%) of all reserve or other payments, including the cost of operation and

F/850016/9

11

SHEY/YOW/NOONE/NOT/EMPLEM / DEFINE / SHEET / S

SECTION 4. BOND ORDINANCE TO CONTINUE IN RFFECT. Except as herein expressly provided, the Bond Ordinance and all the terms and provisions thereof, are and shall remain in full force and effect.

SECTION 5. ORDINANCE EFFECTIVE. This ordinance shall take effect immediately upon its adoption.

13

Passed this 22nd day of September, 1992 on first reading. Adopted this 29th day of September, 1992 on second reading.

Mary & Charley

F/8500JC/9

March - Brain

maintenance of the System and the Cayment of any Reserve Account Policy Costs, herein required to be made in such Fiscal Year. Such rates, fees, rentals or other charges shall not be reduced so as to be insufficient to provide Gross Revenues adequate for such purposes.

THE I RABBE / RIMER PRIMER MARKET MED SERVES SHEET FOR I RABBE / MEDIT / MODIT OF THE PROPERTY / BLENDY / BRENDER / RABBE / RABBE / JAGE / JAGE / JAGE / BABE / JAGE / JAG

Notwithstending envising to the contrary herein, the failure to peet the sovenant contained in the preceding paragraph will not constitute an event of default hereunder if the City compiler as nearly as practicable with the recommendations of the Cuslified Independent Consultant in respect of rates, fees, rentals and other charges and Net Revenues are sufficient to pay the principal of, redespition preside, if any, and interest on bonds issued hereunder that are payable in such fiscal Year.

The Issuer will not reduce its schedule of rates, fees, rentals and other charges unless (i) the Issuer is not in default of any covenant or provision of this Ordinance, (ii) all required current payments under this Ordinance have been cade in full, and (iii) the Independent Qualified Consultant sail certify that the proposed reduced schedule will provide sufficient Revenues in each Fiscal Year to comply with all covenants and required payments under this Ordinance.\*

 Subsection (1) of Section 17.R. of the Bond Ordinance is hereby supplemented and amended as follows:

1

F/8600.46/9

(THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)

ORDINANCE NO. 2000- 65

#### CITY OF POMPANO BEACH Broward County, Florida

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 87-35 ENACTED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY ON APRIL 27, 1987, AS SAME HAS BEEN AMENDED AND SUPPLEMENTED TO THE DATE-HEREOF, TO MODIFY THE DEFINITION OF AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS SET FORTH THEREIN; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, pursuant to law, ten (10) days' notice has been given by publication in a paper of general circulation in the City, notifying the public of this proposed ordinance and of a public hearing in the City Commission Chambers of the City of Pompano Baach; and

WHEREAS, a public hearing before the City Commission was held pursuant to the published notice described above, at which hearing the parties in interest and all other citizens so desiring had an opportunity to be and were, in fact, heard; now, therefore,

BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA:

SECTION 1: AUTHORITY FOR THIS ORDINANCE. The City of Pompane Beach, Florida, (the "City") is authorized to adopt this ordinance (the "Ordinance") under the authority granted by the provisions of Chapter 166, Florida Starutes, as amended, and other applicable provisions of law.

SECTION 2: FINDINGS. It is hereby found and determined that:

A. Pursuant to Ordinance No. 87-35 enacted by the City Commission of the City ("City Commission") on April 27, 1987 (the "Original Bond Ordinance"), as amended and supplemented to the date hereof (collectively, the "Bond Ordinance"), the City has previously issued and sold its Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 1993, its Water and Sewer

.

<u>SECTION 4</u>; BOND ORDINANCE TO CONTINUE IN EFFECT. Except as herein expressly provided, the Bond Ordinance and all the terms and provisions thereof, are and shall remain in full force and effect.

SECTION 5: EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall become effective upon passage.

PASSED FIRST READING this 13th day of June 2000.

PASSED SECOND READING this 27th day of June 2000

+-W141

ATTEST:

MARY L CHAMBERS, CITY CLERK

/yrm 5/25/00 tors/2006-340 Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 1993 and its Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2000 (collectively, the "Outstanding Bonds").

- B. The City now desires to amend the Original Bond Ordinance in the manner described herein pursuant to Section 18 of the Original Bond Ordinance, which permits such amendments with the consent of the providers of municipal bond insurance with respect to the Outstanding Bonds, MBIA Insurance Company and Financial Guaranty Insurance Company (collectively, the "Insurers"). The Insurers have previously delivered to the City their written consent to the amendment to the Original Bond Ordinance set forth herein.
- C. All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Bond Ordinance. To the extent necessary to effectuate the terms and conditions hereof, the Bond Ordinance is hereby incorporated herein by this reference. All matters underlined herein shall indicate additions to the Original Bond Ordinance and all matters crossed-out herein shall indicate deletions from the Original Bond Ordinance.

SECTION 3: AMENDMENT TO ORIGINAL BOND ORDINANCE. Subsection

(6) of the definition of "Authorized Investments" in Section 2.D. of the Original Indenture is hereby amended as follows:

"(6) written repurchase agreements with any bank, savings institution or the federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation or the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation, or with any troker-dealer with retail customers which falls under Securities Investors Protection protection, provided that such repurchase agreements are fully secured by (1) above or obligations of any agency or instrumentality of the United States of America, and provided further that (i) such collateral is held by the Issuer or any agent acting solely for the Issuer during the term of such repurchase agreement, (ii) such collateral is not subject to liens or claims of third parties, (iii) such collateral has a market value (determined at least-once every 14 days) at least equal to the amount invested in the repurchese agreement, (iv) the Issuer has a perfected first security interest in the collateral, (v) the agreement shall be for a term not longer than 370-days thee years, and (vi) the failure to maintain such collateral at the level required in (iii) above will require the Issuer to liquidate the collateral;

2

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

#### CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA

WATER AND SEWER REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2005

AMENDED AND RESTATED ORDINANCE NO. 2005-57.

FTL 753018 8

#### AMENDED AND RESTATED ORDINANCE NO.2005-57

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA AMENDING AND RESTATING INITS ENTIRETY ORDINANCE NO. 2002-04 ENACTED ON OCTOBER 9, 2001 ENTITLED:

"AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOT EXCEEDING \$4,500,000 CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA WATER AND SEWER REPUNDING REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2001 AS ADDITIONAL PARITY OBLIGATIONS UNDER ORDINANCE NO. 87-35 ENACTED ON AFRIL 27, 1987, AS AMENDED AND SUPPLEMENTED, FOR THE PRINCIPAL PURPOSE OF REPUNDING ALL OR A PORTION OF THE CITY'S OUTSTANDING WATER AND SEWER REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2000; FIXING CERTAIN TERMS AND DETAILS OF SUCH BONDS; AUTHORIZING APPLICATION OF THE PROCEEDS OF SUCH BONDS; DIRECTING THE APPLICATION OF THE PROCEEDS OF SUCH BONDS; ANTHORIZING THE DISTRIBUTION OF A PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FINAL OFFICIAL STATEMENT; APPOINTING THE PAYING AGENT AND BOND REGISTRAR FOR SUCH BONDS AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE CITY AND THE PAYING AGENT AND BOND REGISTRAR FOR SUCH BONDS AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE CITY AND THE PAYING AGENT AND BOND REGISTRAR FOR SUCH BONDS AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A GREEMENTS BETWEEN THE CITY AND THE PAYING AGENT AND BOND REGISTRAR; AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A GREEMENTS WITH THE PROVIDERS OF SUCH INSURANCE; AUTHORIZING THE FORM OF AND THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE; AUTHORIZING THE FORM OF AND THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE; AUTHORIZING AND BELIVERY OF A GREEMENTS WITH THE PROVIDERS OF SUCH INSURANCE; AUTHORIZING AND BELIVERY OF A CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE; AUTHORIZING AND RESCROW ACENT AND AUTHORIZING APPOINTMENT OF A VERIFICATION AGENT; AUTHORIZING AND RESCROW ACENT AND AUTHORIZING APPOINTMENT OF A VERIFICATION AGENT; AUTHORIZING AND RESCROW ACENT AND AUTHORIZING APPOINTMENT OF A VERIFICATION AGENT; AUTHORIZING AND RESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENTS; APPOINTMENT OF A VERIFICATION AGENT; AUTHORIZING AND RESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENTS; APPOINTMENT OF A VERIFICATION AGENT; AUTHORIZING AND RESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENTS;

; PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOT EXCEEDING \$47,000,000 CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA WATER AND SEWER

FTL 753018 8

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
SECTION 1.	AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT2
SECTION 2.	AUTHORITY FOR THIS ORDINANCE2
SECTION 3.	FINDINGS
SECTION 4.	AUTHORIZATION AND APPROVAL OF THE 2005 BONDS AND REFUNDING OF REFUNDED BONDS
SECTION 5.	REDEMPTION PROVISIONS
SECTION 6.	EXECUTION OF THE 2005 BONDS
SECTION 7.	PUBLIC SALE OF THE 2005 BONDS
SECTION 8.	APPLICATION OF THE BOND PROCEEDS
SECTION 9.	PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT; OFFICIAL STATEMENT
SECTION 10.	APPOINTMENT OF PAYING AGENT AND BOND REGISTRAR8
SECTION 11.	INSURANCE MATTERS
SECTION 12.	CONTINUING DISCLOSURE8
SECTION 13.	EXECUTION OF ESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENTS8
SECTION 14.	TAX COVENANT9
SECTION 15.	GENERAL AUTHORITY9
SECTION 16.	SEVERABILITY AND INVALID PROVISIONS
SECTION 17.	BOND ORDINANCE TO CONTINUE IN FORCE
SECTION 18.	EFFECTIVE DATE
	EXHIBITS
ЕХНІВІТ А	PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT
EXHIBIT B	CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE

FTL:753018.8

EXHIBIT D 2000 ESCROW AGREEMENT

(i)

REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2005 AS ADDITIONAL PARITY OBLIGATIONS UNDER ORDINANCE NO. 87-35 ENACTED ON APRIL 27, 1987, AS AMENDED AND SUPPLEMENTED, FOR THE PRINCIPAL PURPOSE OF REFUNDING ALL OR A PORTION OF THE CITY'S OUTSTANDING WATER AND SEWER REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 1993 AND/OR WATER AND SEWER REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 1994 AND/OR WATER AND BETAILS OF SUCH BONDS; APPROVING THE FORM OF A OPPICIAL DETAILED NOTICE OF BOND SALE AND AUTHORIZING A PUBLIC SALE OF SUCH BONDS; DIRECTING THE APPLICATION OF THE PROCEEDS OF SUCH BONDS; DIRECTING THE APPLICATION OF THE PROCEEDS OF SUCH BONDS; APPROVING THE FORM OF AND AUTHORIZING THE DISTRIBUTION OF A PRELIMINARY OPPICIAL STATEMENT; APPOINTING THE PAVING AGENT AND BOND REGISTRAR FOR SUCH BONDS AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A GREEMENTS BETWEEN THE CITY AND THE PAYING AGENT AND BOND REGISTRAR FOR SUCH BONDS AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE CITY AND THE PAYING AGENT AND BOND REGISTRAR FOR SUCH BONDS AND AUTHORIZING THE FORM OF AND THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE; AUTHORIZING THE FORM OF AND THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE; AUTHORIZING THE FORM OF AND THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE; AUTHORIZING THE FORM OF AND THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF BORD OF AND THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE; AUTHORIZING THE FORM OF AND THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF SECROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENTS; APPOINTING AN ESCROW AGENT AND AUTHORIZING AND PATIFFYING OTHER REQUIRED ACTIONS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, FLORIDA:

SECTION I. AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT. On October 9, 2001 the City of Pompano Beach, Florida (the "City") enacted Ordinance No. 2002-04 (the "Original Ordinance"). The City now desires to amend and restate the Original Ordinance in its entirety hereby.

SECTION 2. AUTHORITY FOR THIS ORDINANCE. The City is authorized to enact this amended and restated ordinance (the "Ordinance") under the authority granted by the provisions of Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, as amended, the City Charter of the City, and other applicable provisions of law. In consideration of the acceptance of the 2005 Bonds (herein defined) by those who shall own the same from time to time, this Ordinance shall be deemed to be and shall constitute a contract between the City and such Bondholders.

FTL:7530:8.8

2

#### SECTION 3. FINDINGS. It is hereby found and determined that:

- A. Pursuant to Ordinance No. 87-35 enacted by the City Commission of the City (the "City Commission") on April 27, 1987, as amended and supplemented to the date hereof (the "Bond Ordinance"), the City has previously issued and sold, and there are currently Outstanding, its Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 1993 (the "1993 Bonds") and Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2000 (the "2000 Bonds").
- B. The Bond Ordinance authorizes the issuance of Additional Parity Obligations thereunder for refunding purposes, payable from the Net Revenues on a parity with Bonds that are Outstanding under the Bond Ordinance.
- C. The City's Co-Financial Advisors have indicated that based on current market conditions, there is an opportunity for the City to realize significant present value interest cost savings by accomplishing the current refunding of all or a portion of the 1993 Bonds and/or the advance refunding of all or a portion of the 2000 Bonds.
- D. The City hereby determines that it is necessary, desirable and in the best interests of the City to authorize the current refunding and defeasance of all or a portion of the 1993 Bonds and/or the advance refunding and defeasance of all or a portion of the 2000 Bonds, as table be designated by the City pursuant to Sections 4(b) and 7 hereof (collectively, the "Refunded Bonds"), subject to the requirements set forth in Section 7 hereof. In furtherance thereof and pursuant to the Bond Ordinance, the City deems it to be in its best interest to issue its Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 in one or more Series in the aggregate principal amount of not exceeding \$47,000,000 (the "2005 Bonds") and to apply the proceeds thereof to refund and defease the Refunded Bonds and for such other purposes set forth herein.
- E. All of the provisions, coverants, pledges and conditions in the Bond Ordinance shall be applicable to the 2005 Bonds herein authorized and such 2005 Bonds shall constitute "Additional Parity Obligations" issued for refunding purposes within the meaning of the Bond Ordinance.
- F. The principal of and interest on the 2005 Bonds berein authorized and all sinking fund, reserve and other payments provided for in the Bond Ordinance shall be payable solely from the Net Revenues and, to the extent provided in the Bond Ordinance, from the monies on deposit from time to time in the funds and accounts created under the Bond Ordinance, and it will not be necessary nor has there been authorized the levy of taxes on any property in the City to pay for same, and the 2005 Bonds shall not constitute a lien upon any of the properties of the City creept the Net Revenues and the funds and accounts created under the Bond Ordinance, nor shall the 2005 Bonds be secured by the credit or taxing power of the City or the general funds of the City not expressly pledged under the Bond Ordinance.

FTL.763018.8

3

- (c) The 2005 Bonds shall be initially issued as a single registered bond for each maturity. The 2005 Bonds will be dated as of the date specified in the final Official Statement (hereinafter defined), shall be issued in decominations of \$5,000 or integral multiples thereof, and will bear interest payable semi-annually on July 1 and January 1 of each year, commencing on the date specified in the final Official Statement. The 2005 Bonds shall manure not later than twenty (20) years from their date of issuance and, subject to Section 7 bereof, shall bear interest at a rate per annum not exceeding the maximum rate permitted by law. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Bond Ordinance, payments of interest on the 2005 Bonds may be made by the Paying Agent for the 2005 Bonds by wire transfer to any Registered Owners of at least \$500,000 in aggregate principal amount of 2005 Bonds.
- (d) A book-entry-only system of registration is hereby authorized for the 2005 Bonds. So long as the City shall maintain a book-entry-only system with respect to the 2005 Bonds, the following provisions shall apply:

The 2005 Bonds shall initially be issued in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee for The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), which will act as securities depository for the 2005 Bonds are dood Bonds are the fluid book-entry-only form, Cede & Co. shall be considered the registered owner for all purposes bereof and of the Bond Ordinance. On original issue, the 2005 Bonds shall be deposited with DTC, which shall be responsible for maintaining a book-entry-only system for recording the ownership interests of its perticipants ("DTC Participants"), and other institutions who clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with DTC Participants ("Indirect Participants"). The DTC Participants and Indirect Participants will be responsible for maintaining records with respect to the beneficial ownership interests of individual purchasers of the 2005 Bonds ("Beneficial Owners").

Principal and interest prior to and at maturity shall be payable directly to Cede & Co. in care of DTC. Disbursal of such amounts to DTC Participants shall be the responsibility of DTC. Payments to Indirect Participants shall be the responsibility of DTC Participants and payments by DTC Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of DTC Participants and Indirect Participants and not of DTC, the Registrar or the City.

The 2005 Bonds shall initially be issued in the form of one fully registered Bond for each maturity. Individuals may purchase beneficial interests in the amount of \$5,000 or integral multiples thereof in book-entry-only form, without certificated 2005 Bonds, through the DTC Participants and Indirect Participants.

DURING THE PERIOD FOR WHICH CEDE & CO. IS REGISTERED OWNER OF THE 2005 BONDS, ANY NOTICE TO BE PROVIDED TO ANY REGISTERED OWNER WILL BE PROVIDED TO CEDE & CO. DITC SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTICE TO DIC PARTICIPANTS AND DIC PARTICIPANTS SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTICE TO INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS, AND DIC PARTICIPANTS AND INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTICE TO BENEFICIAL OWNERS.

G. All capitalized terms used berein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Bond Ordinance, unless otherwise provided or unless the context otherwise clearly requires. To the extent necessary to effectuate the terms and conditions hereof, the Bond Ordinance is hereby incorporated herein by this reference.

# SECTION 4. AUTHORIZATION AND APPROVAL OF THE 2005 BONDS AND REFUNDING OF REFUNDED BONDS.

- (a) Subject to the provisions of Section 7 hereof, the City hereby authorizes and approves the issuance of Bonds in one or more Series in the initial aggregate principal amount of not exceeding \$47,000,000 to be known as the "City of Pomparo Beach, Florida Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005" for the purpose of providing funds, together with other legally available funds of the City, to refund and defease the Refunded Bonds (on a currentrefunding basis with respect to 1993 Bonds, if any, comprising the Refunded Bonds and on an advance refunding basis with respect to the 2000 Bonds, if any, comprising the Refunded Bonds, pay the premiums for a municipal bend insurance policy, if determined to be necessary in accordance berewith, a Reserve Account Policy, and pay costs of issuance of the 2005 Bonds. The 2005 Bonds shall be issued pursuant to the Bond Ordinance as Additional Parity Obligations issued for refunding purposes within the meaning of the Bond Ordinance and shall be secured equally and retably under the Bond Ordinance with the (i) Outstanding 1993 Bonds and Outstanding 2000 Bonds that are not refunded by proceeds of the 2005 Bonds, and remain Outstanding after issuance of the 2005 Bonds and Ordinance. All provisions, coverants, pledges and conditions of the Bond Ordinance shall be applicable to the 2005 Bonds.
- (b) The refunding and defeasance of the Refunded Bonds from proceeds of the 2005 Bonds and other legally available funds of the City, including runs presently on deposit in the funds and accounts established under the Bond Ordinance, is breeby authorized (on a current refunding basis with respect to 1993 Bonds, if any, comprising the Refunded Bonds and on an advance refunding basis with respect to the 2000 Bonds, if any, comprising the Refunded Bonds). The specific 1993 Bonds and/or 2000 Bonds to be refunded and which will constitute the Refunded Bonds shall be set forth in the Award Certificate referred to in Section 7 hereof. If the Award Certificate referred to in Section 7 hereof. If the Award Certificate referred to in Section 7 hereof. If the Award 2006 Bonds, the 2005 Bonds may be issued in two series as shall be set forth in the final Official Statement, with the proceeds of one series being applied to accomplish the current refunding of all or a portion of the 1993 Bonds to be refunded and the proceeds of the other series being applied to accomplish the advance refunding of all or a portion of the 2000 Bonds to be refunded. Currently with or prior to the delivery of the 2005 Bonds, a portion of the sums on deposit in the funds and accounts established under the Bond Ordinance shall be transferred and deposited to the credit of the Escrow Fund established under the Bend Ordinance shall be transferred and deposited to the credit of the Escrow Fund established under the Bond Ordinance shall be transferred and deposited to the credit of the City's Bond Counsel and Co-Financial Advisors, and the specific amounts to be so transferred and deposited shall be as set forth in a certificate executed by the Finance Director and delivered at the time of fissuance of the 2005 Bonds.

FTL:753018-8

4

The City has entered into a customary letter of representations with DTC providing for such a book-entry-only system (the "DTC Agreement"). Such agreement may be terminated at any time by DTC or the City (subject to DTC's policies and procedures). In the event of such termination, the City shall select another securities depository or discontinue such book-entry-only system. If the City does not replace DTC, the Registrar will register and deliver to the Beneficial Owners replacement 2005 Bonds in the form of fully registered 2005 Bonds in denominations of \$5,000 or integral multiples thereof, in accordance with instructions from Cede & Co.

- SECTION 5. REDEMPTION PROVISIONS. The redemption provisions of the 2005 Bonds shall be as set forth in the form of the Preliminary Official Statement attached hereto as Exhibit A (the "Preliminary Official Statement"). Notice of redemption shall be provided as set forth in the Bond Ordinance, in the case of an optional redemption, the notice of redemption may state that (1) it is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys, in an amount equal to the amount necessary to effect the redemption, with the Bond Registrar or a fiduciary institution acting as secrow agent no later than the redemption, with the Bond Registrar or a fiduciary institution acting as secrow agent no later than the redemption date (in either case, a "Conditional Redemption"), and such notice and optional redemption shall be of no effect if such moneys are not so deposited or if the notice is rescinded as described herein. Any such notice of Conditional Redemption shall be captioned "Conditional Redemption" Any Conditional Redemption may be rescinded at any time prior to the redemption date if the City delivers a written direction to the Bond Registrar directing the Bond Registrar to rescind the redemption notice. The Bond Registrar shall give prompt notice of such rescission to the affected boodholders. Any 2005 Bonds subject to Conditional Redemption where redemption has been rescinded shall remain Outstanding, and pother the rescission to the failure by the City to make such fluids wailable shall constitute an Event of Default under the Bond Ordinance.
- SECTION 6. EXECUTION OF THE 2005 BONDS. The Mayor of the City (the "Vice-Mayor") or Vice-Mayor of the City (the "Vice-Mayor") and the City Manager of the City (the "City Chernol") are hereby authorized to execute, and the City Clerk of the City (the "City (the "City Clerk") is hereby authorized to attest, by manual or facsimile signature, each of the 2005 Bonds and to deliver the 2005 Bonds to the Bond Registrar for authentication and delivery. The 2005 Bonds shall be substantially in the form set forth in the Bond Ordinance as the bond form for the Outstanding Bonds. Execution of the 2005 Bonds by the Mayor and City Manager shall constitute conclusive evidence of the approval thereof.
- SECTION 7. PUBLIC SALE OF THE 2005 BONDS. It is bereby found, ascertained, determined and declared by the City that a public sale of the 2005 Bonds is in the best interest of the City and is bereby authorized, approved and ratified. The preparation and publication of the official detailed notice of bond sale, certificate with respect to issue price and related documents in the forms set forth in the Preliminary Official Statement attached bereto as Exhibit A (the "Preliminary Official Statement") are hereby authorized and approved. The Mayor or Vice-Mayor and the City Manager are hereby authorized and approved. The Mayor or Vice-Mayor and the City Manager are hereby authorized to execute the official detailed notice of bond sale is the Mayor or Vice-Mayor or Vice-Mayor or Vice-Mayor of the City and the City Manager, in consultation with the

FTL:753018.8

6

City's Co-Financial Advisors, are hereby authorized to award the 2005 Bonds to the bidder naming the lowest true interest cost to the City over the life of the 2005 Bonds (the 'Purchaser'), provided that the (a) initial aggregate per amount of the 2005 Bonds (does not exceed \$47,000,000, (b) City shall realize one or more of the following: (i) a present value savings as a result of the refunding of all or a portion of the 1993 Bonds of not less than three percent (3%) of the principal amount of the 1993 Bonds and and/or (ii) a present value savings as a result of the refunding of all or a portion of the 1993 Bonds of not less than three percent (3%) of the principal amount of the 2000 Bonds to be refunded and/or (iii) a present value savings as a result of the refunding of all or a portion of the 1993 Bonds and all or a portion of the 2000 Bonds, to a combined basis, of not less than three percent (3%) of the principal amount of the 1993 Bonds and 2000 Bonds to be refunded; and (c) 2005 Bonds do not mature more than twenty (20) years from their date of issuance. The award and the designation of the 1993 Bonds and/or 2000 Bonds that occupied basis shall be evidenced by the execution of a certificate by the Mayor or Vice-Mayor and the City Manager (the "Award Certificate"). The Mayor or Vice-Mayor and the City Manager (the "Award Certificate"). The Mayor or Vice-Mayor and the City Manager (the "Award Certificate") to recessary to consummate the sale of the 2003 Bonds beto such the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the official detailed notice of bond sale.

SECTION 8. APPLICATION OF THE 2005 BOND PROCEEDS. The proceeds derived from the sale of the 2005 Bonds shall be applied simultaneously with the delivery thereof for the purposes stated in, and in a manner consistent with, the hereinafter mentioned Official Statement. The specific amounts to be deposited in the funds and accounts created under the Bond Ordinance and to the applicable Escrow Fund created under the benefinafter defined Escrow Agreements shall be as set forth in a certificate executed by the City Manager and delivered at the time of issuance of the 2005 Bonds.

SECTION 9. PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT; OFFICIAL STATEMENT; The Preliminary Official Statement relating to the 2005 Bonds in substantially the form submitted at this meeting and attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby authorized and approved with respect to the information therein contained, with such insertions, modifications and deletions as are approved by the City Manager, in consultation with the City's Co-Financial Advisors and Bond Counsel. The distribution and use of the Preliminary Official Statement in connection with the public offering for sale of the 2005 Bonds is hereby authorized and approved. The execution by the City Manager of a certificate deeming the Preliminary Official Statement final within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 is hereby authorized and approved. The City Manager are hereby authorized to bave prepared, and the Mayor or Vice-Mayor and the City Manager are hereby authorized to execute, and the City Clerk is bereby authorized as steet, a final Official Statement dated the date of the award of the 2005 Bonds containing such information as excessary to confirm the details of the 2005 Bonds and such other insertions, modifications, and changes as may be approved by the Mayor or Vice-Mayor and City Manager (the "Official Statement"). The delivery, upon such execution, of the Official Statement, to the Purchaser for use by it in connection with the sale and distribution of the 2005 Bonds is hereby authorized and approved. The execution and delivery of the Official Statement by the Mayor or Vice-Mayor and the City Manager shall constitute conclusive evidence of the approval thereof.

FTL:753018 8

7

the redemption date, on the earliest practicable date following issuance of the 2005 Bonds. In the event it is determined in accordance berewith to accomplish the advance refunding of all or a portion of the 2000 Bonds, the Mayor or Vice-Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized and directed to execute, and the City Clerk is hereby authorized to attest, the 2000 Escrow Deposit Agreement (the "2000 Escrow Agreement"), in substantially the form submitted it this meeting and attached hereto as Exhibit D, with such insertions, modifications and changes as may be approved by the Mayor or Vice-Mayor and City Manager. The City acknowledges that the 2000 Escrow Agreement will provide for any of any of the 2000 Bonds to be refunded that mature on July 1, 2008 and thereafter to be irrevocably called for redemption on July 1, 2007 at a redemption price of 101%, expressed as a percentage of the principal amount of the such 2000 Bonds to be redeemed on that date, together with interest accrited through the redemption date. The execution and delivery of the 1993 Escrow Agreement and/or 2000 Escrow Agreement by the Mayor or Vice-Mayor and City Manager shall constitute conclusive evidence of the approval thereof. Wachovia Bank, National Association, Miami, Florida is hereby appointed as Escrow Agent (the "Escrow Agent") under the 1993 Escrow Agreement and the 2000 Escrow Agreement. The City Manager, in consultation with the City's Co-Financial Advisors, is hereby authorized to appoint a qualified firm to act as verification agent with respect to any 1993 Bonds and 2000 Bonds comprising the Refunded Bonds.

SECTION 14. TAX COVENANT. The City covenants with the holders of the 2005 Bonds that it shall comply with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") necessary to maintain the exclusion of interrets on the 2005 Bonds from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation, including the payment of any amount required to be related to the U.S. Treasury pursuant to the Code, and, in particular, that it shall not make or direct the making of any investment or other use of proceeds of such 2005 Bonds (or amounts deemed to be proceeds under the Code) in any manner which would cause the interest on such 2005 Bonds to be or become subject to federal income taxation, nor shall it fail to do any act which is necessary to prevent such interest from becoming subject to federal income taxation. The City further covenants that neither the City one any other person under its control or direction will make any investment or other use of the proceeds of the 2005 Bonds (or amounts deemed to be proceeds under the Code) in Section 141 of the Code (or any successor provision thereto), or "arbitrage bonds" as that term is defined in Section 148 of the Code (or any successor provision thereto) and that it will comply with such sections of the Code throughout the term of the 2005 Bonds.

SECTION 15. GENERAL AUTHORITY. The Mayor, Vice-Mayor, City Manager, City Clerk and any other proper officials of the City are hereby authorized to do all acts and things required of them by this Ordinance, the Bond Ordinance, the Preliminary Official Statement, the Official Statement, the 2005 Bonds, the DTC Agreement or that may otherwise be desirable or consistent with accomplishing the full, punctual and complete performance of all the terms, covenants and agreements contained in any of the foregoing, including the execution of any documents or instruments relating to the purchase of Federal Securities (including a reinvestment or forward purchase agreement) and each member, employee, attorney and officer of the City is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver any and all papers and instruments and to cause to be done any and all acts and things necessary or proper for carrying out the transactions contemplated thereby. The application by the City for Federal Securities may be filed on behalf of the City by

SECTION 10. APPOINTMENT OF PAYING AGENT AND BOND REGISTRAR. Wachovia Bank National Association, Miami, Florida is hereby appointed as Paying Agent and Bond Registrar for the 2005 Bonds. The Mayor or Vice-Mayor and the City Manager are hereby authorized to execute, and the City Clerk is hereby authorized to attest, without further act of the City, agreements with such Paying Agent and Bond Registrar as necessary to reflect the obligation of such Paying Agent and Bond Registrar to accept and perform the respective duties imposed upon each, and to effectuate the transactions contemplated, by this Ordinance and the Bond Ordinance.

SECTION 11. INSURANCE MATTERS. The City Manager, in consultation with the City's Co-Financial Advisors, is hereby authorized to obtain a municipal bond insurance policy with respect to the 2005 Bonds. If necessary to cause the amount on deposit to the credit of the Reserve Account to be equal to the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for the 2005 Bonds and any Bonds that are Outstanding under the Bond Ordinance upon issuance of the 2005 Bonds, the City Manager, in consultation with the City's Co-Financial Advisors, is hereby authorized to a Reserve Account Policy for such purpose. Upon consultation with the City's Co-Financial Advisors and Bond Counsel, the Mayor or Vice-Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized to execute, and the City's Clerk is hereby authorized to attest, without further act of the City, agreements with the providers of the municipal bond insurance policy and Reserve Account Policy, if any, as necessary to reflect the requirements of such providers with respect to the 2005 Bonds.

SECTION 12. CONTINUING DISCLOSURE. The Continuing Disclosure Certificate, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit B (the "Continuing Disclosure Certificate"), is bereby authorized and approved, with such insertions, modifications and deletions as are approved by the City Manager, in consultation with the City's Co-Financial Advisors and Bond Counsel. The Mayor or Vice-Mayor and the City Manager are hereby authorized to execute, and the City Clerk is hereby authorized to attest, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate by the Mayor or Vice-Mayor and the City Manager constitutes conclusive evidence of the approval thereof. The City hereby coverants and agrees that it will comply with and carry out all of the provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Certificate. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance or the Bond Ordinance, failure of the City to comply with the Continuing Disclosure Certificate shall not be considered an event of default; however, any Holder of the 2005 Bonds or Beneficial Owner may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking specific performance by court order, to cause the City to comply with its obligations under this Section. For purposes of this Section, "Beneficial Owner" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Continuing Disclosure Certificate.

SECTION 13. EXECUTION OF ESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENTS. In the event its determined in accordance herewith to accomplish the current refunding of all or a portion of the 1993 Bonds, the Mayor or Vice-Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized and directed to execute, and the City Clerk is hereby authorized to attest, the 1993 Escrow Deposit Agreement (the "1993 Escrow Agreement"), in substantially the form submitted at this meeting and attached hereto as Exhibit C, with such insertions, modifications and changes as may be approved by the City Manager, in consultation with the City's Co-Financial Advisors and Bond Coursel. The City acknowledges that the 1993 Escrow Agreement, without premium, together with interest accrued through as previded in the 1993 Escrow Agreement, without premium, together with interest accrued through

8

FTL.753018.8

either Bond Counsel, the Co-Financial Advisors, the Escrow Agent or the Purchaser. All actions of the Mayor, Vice-Mayor, City Manager, City Clerk and any other proper officials of the City heretofore taken to implement this Ordinance, the Bond Ordinance, the Preliminary Official Statement, the Official Statement, the 2005 Bonds, the DTC Agreement or in accomplishing the full, punctual and complete performance of all the terms, covenants and agreements contained in any of the foregoing are hereby ratified and confirmed.

SECTION 16. SEVERABILITY AND INVALID PROVISIONS. If any one or more of the covenants, agreements or provisions herein contained shall be held contrary to any express provision of law or contrary to the policy of express law, but not expressly prohibited or against public policy, or shall for any reason whatsoever be held invalid, then such covenants, agreements or provisions shall be null and void and shall be deemed separable from the remaining covenants, agreements or provisions and shall in no way effect the validity of the other provisions hereof or of the 2005 Bonds.

SECTION 17. BOND ORDINANCE TO CONTINUE IN FORCE. Except as herein expressly provided as to the 2005 Bonds, the Bond Ordinance and all the terms and provisions thereof, are and shall remain in full force and effect. The Original Ordinance is hereby deemed amended and restated in its entirety hereby.

SECTION 18. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall be effective as its second reading.

PASSED AND ENACTED on first reading this 24 day of May 2005.

PASSED AND ENACTED on second reading this 14 day of June 2005.

By: Am Chayso

(Sea

May & W

City Clerk

FTL-783018.8

10

STATE OF FLORIDA 155 COUNTY OF BROWARD )

We, the undersigned members of the City Commission of the City of Pompano Beach, Florida, recognizing that the purchasers and subsequent owners of the Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 of the City of Pompano Beach, Florida, referred to in the foregoing Ordinance, will have accepted such 2005 Bonds in reliance upon this certificate, do hereby certify, individually and collectively, that no two or more of us, meeting together in any meeting which was not open to the public or of which the public did not have notice, reached any prior conclusion as to whether the action taken by said Ordinance or any part thereof should or should not be taken by said City Commission or should be recommended as an action to be taken or not to be taken by said City Commission. Commission:

> WITNESS our Official Signatures: cha

was acknowledged before me this \_\_\_day of \_\_\_\_ for City of Pompano Beach, Florida. The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this \_\_\_\_ 2005, by

[SEAL]

Personally Known or Produced Identification
Type of Identification Produced

FTL:7530184

11

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this 9th day of March 2006 by LAMAR FISHER, as Commissioner of the City of Pompano Beach, Florida, a manicipal corporation, on behalf of the municipal corporation, who is generally known to me.

MOTARY'S SEAL:

NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF FLORIDA

(Name of Acknowledger Typed, Printed or Stamped)

Commission Number

STATE OF FLORIDA COUNTY OF BROWARD

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this 9th day of March 2006 by KAY MCGINN, as Commissioner of the City of Pompsuo Beach, Florida, a municipal corporation, on behalf of the municipal corporation, who is personally known to me.

NOTARY'S SEAL:

NOTARY FUBLIC, STATE OF FLORIDA

(Name of Acknowledger Typed, Printed or

Commission Number

STATE OF FLORIDA COUNTY OF BROWARD

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this 9th day of March 2006 by E. PAT LARKINS as Commissioner of the City of Pompano Beach, Florida, a municipal corporation, who is personally known to me.

NOTARY'S SEAL:

NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF FLORIDA

(Name of Acknowledger Typed, Printed or Stamped)

Commission Number

STATE OF FLORIDA COUNTY OF BROWARD

	The fo	regoing instr	ument wa	s acknow	riedged b	cfore me the	1 2 de	of M	arch	, 200
		RAYSON,								nicipa
cos	poration, or	n behalf of th	e minicip	al corpor	ation, wh	o is pepani	lly know	n to me.	1	0.000

NOTARY'S SEAL:

(Name of Acknowledger Typed, Printed or

Commission Number

STATE OF FLORIDA COUNTY OF BROWARD

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this  $9^{0}$  day of March 2006 by SUSAN FOSTER, as Vice Mayor of the City of Pompano Beach, Florida, a manicipal corporation, on behalf of the manicipal corporation, who is persynally known to me.

NOTARY'S SEAL:

NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF PLORIDA

(Name of Acknowledger Typed, Printed or

Commission Number

STATE OF FLORIDA COUNTY OF BROWARD

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this 2<sup>th</sup> day of March 2006 by GEORGE BRUMMER as Commissioner of the City of Pompson Beach, Florida, a municipal corporation, on behalf of the municipal corporation, who is personally known to tree.

NOTARY'S SEAL:

NOTARY FUBLIC, STATE OF FLORIDA

(Name of Acknowledger Typed, Printed or Stamped)

Commission Number

STATE OF FLORIDA COUNTY OF BROWARD

FTL:753018.8

11-A

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

### BOND DEBT SERVICE

## City of Pompano Beach Water & Sewer Revenue Series 2014 Refunding of Series 2006B Final Numbers

Loan Provider: Regions Capital Advantage

Annua Debt Service	Debt Service	Interest	Coupon	Principal	Period Ending
	76,940,50	76,940,50			01/01/2015
3,137,722,50	3,060,782.00	145,782,00	1.680%	2,915,000	07/01/2015
- •	121,296.00	121,296.00			01/01/2016
3,032,592.00	2,911,296.00	121,296.00	1.680%	2,790,000	07/01/2016
-,,,	97,860.00	97,860,00			01/01/2017
3,030,720.00	2,932,860.00	97,860.00	1.680%	2,835,000	07/01/2017
,	74,046.00	74,046.00		, ,	01/01/2018
3,038,092,00	2,964,046.00	74,046.00	1.680%	2,890,000	07/01/2018
	49,770,00	49,770.00		• •	01/01/2019
3,034,540,00	2,984,770.00	49,770.00	1.680%	2,935,000	07/01/2019
	25,116.00	25,116,00		, ,	01/01/2020
3,040,232.00	3,015,116.00	25,116.00	1.680%	2,990,000	07/01/2020
18,313,898.50	18,313,898.50	958,898.50		17,355,000	